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DIRECTORS REPORT 2020
2020 has been an eventful year for the Company in which we have focused our attention to complete the Syvash wind farm, develop the Zophia wind projects
in Ukraine, grow our pipeline of projects opportunities in new markets and secure financing for the Group. The Syvash wind farm had 38 out of 63 wind turbines
erected at year end 2020 and 62 out of 63 turbines erected to date. The remaining wind turbine is a replacement for an insurance claim. The construction of
the Syvash wind farm has been delayed, mainly due to issues with the main contractor, and in March 2021 NBT and Total Eren decided to terminate the EPC
contract and finalize construction under a split contract model.
In the fourth quarter of 2020, NBT signed an agreement to acquire 50% of the shares in Windvision Serbia, a subsidiary of Windvision BV, with close to 800
MW of wind and solar projects under development in Serbia. NBT will develop the Serbian projects together with our partners and will acquire 100% of the
projects at financial close of each project. The partnership has secured NBT with an excellent position in this very exciting market. During the same quarter
NBT signed a framework agreement with RES Invest SA, a Greek renewable energy developer, to co-develop a 250 MW portfolio of projects in Greece. NBT
will acquire between 85% to 100% of each project at financial close. We believe that the combination of these two partnerships will give NBT an excellent
platform for growth in Southeast Europe and we will use this platform to grow into other markets in the region.

COMPANY PROFILE
NBT develops, owns and operates wind farms in high
growth markets. The Company has offices in Oslo
(Norway), Kiev (Ukraine), Beijing (China) and
Stockholm (Sweden). Corporate management and
administration are in Oslo.
In Ukraine, NBT owns 46.5% of the 245.7 MW Syvash
wind farm and 99.99% of the 787.5 MW Zophia wind
farm project.
NBT owns 49% of the 100 MW Linxi wind farm in
Inner Mongolia in China. The wind farm is operated
in a joint venture with Datang Renewables, one of
China’s leading utilities. NBT owns 33% of the 49.5
MW Baicheng wind farm in Jilin province.
FINANCING
NBT operates in a capital intensive industry, and
access to capital is essential for the Company’s
ability to grow.
NBT AS has issued two bonds, one senior secured
and one convertible bond. By year end 2020 the
nominal value of the senior secured and the
convertible bond was NOK 340.1 million and NOK
282.3 million respectively. The convertible bond can
be converted into shares in NBT AS at NOK 30 per
share. If converted at maturity, it will convert into
approximately 10.2 million shares, or 22% of the
total number of shares after conversion. Both bonds
carry an annual PIK interest of 8.5% and mature on
21 November 2021.
East Renewable AB, a 100% owned subsidiary of NBT
AS, has issued a green bond with par value of EUR
75 million to finance the Syvash wind farm. The
bond is listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange and carries
in interest of 13.5%. The maturity of the bond has
been extended from 21 May 2021 to 21 November
2021. The extension was approved by the
bondholders on 18 May 2021.
East Renewable Ukraine AB, a subsidiary of East
Renewable AB, has issued EUR 79 million in
preference shares to Total Eren as part of the
financing of the Syvash wind farm. The preferred
shares can be converted into ordinary shares in East
Renewable Ukraine AB in October 2022.

East Renewable Zophia Super Holdco AB, a
subsidiary of East Renewable Zophia AB (Sweden),
has issued a bond of EUR 20.975 million to finance
the development of Zophia wind farm. The bond
matures on 21 November 2021.
In July 2020 Aker submitted an offer to the NBT
shareholders to acquire up to 100% of the shares in
NBT and provided a NOK 122.3 million loan to the
Company. The loan carries 4,5% interest and can be
converted to shares in NBT at NOK 70 per share.
After two extensions of the deadline for closing, the
offer was terminated in February 2021. Upon
termination of the offer the maturity of the loan was
extended to 31 May 2021. In June 2021 maturity of
the loan was extended to 31 August 2021. The loan
is convertible at the lower of the subscription share
price less 17,5% or NOK 70 per share.
NBT had a total of NOK 16.3 million in short term
shareholders loans per 31.12.2020. The loans
mature at financial close of the Zophia projects.
UKRAINE
Syvash wind farm was under construction in 2020.
Syvash wind farm is financed by a group of
international development finance institutions
including European Bank for Reconstruction and
Development (EBRD). PowerChina was the EPC
contractor and Nordex has delivered 63 units of 3.9
MW wind turbines. Commissioning of the wind farm
has been delayed mainly due to issues with the main
contractor. In March 2021, NBT and Total Eren
decided to terminate the EPC contract and complete
the project together with Nordex and a selected
group of subcontractors. As part of the termination,
the project Company Syvashenergoprom LLC called
the EUR 57 million performance bond issued by the
EPC contractor. These funds, together with the
remaining debt, will be used to complete
construction and to commission the wind farm in
full. The wind farm has been generating power since
February 2021 and the last turbine will be connected
and producing power in June. Power China has
contested the termination but has so far not
initiated any formal proceedings. After negotiations
in good faith, the remaining claims will be subject to
arbitration in London under UK law.
In 2019 NBT AS acquired three project companies
holding the rights to develop three wind projects in

Zaporizhia region in Ukraine. The combined capacity
of the wind farms is 787.5 MW, split into three
project companies, Zophia I (40,5 MW), Zophia II
(297 MW) and Zophia III (450 MW). In 2019 the
project companies signed PPAs with the Guaranteed
Buyer and are therefore qualified for the existing
feed-in tariff for wind turbines that reach regulatory
commissioning (mechanical completion) within
three years of the date of the PPA.
The project companies have signed engineering,
procurement and construction (EPC) contracts with
China Electric Power Equipment and Technology Co.
Ltd. (CET), a subsidiary of State Grid Corporation of
China, the largest grid Company in the world.
Goldwind,
the
leading
Chinese
turbine
manufacturer, will deliver 75 units of their 4.5 MW
wind turbines with 155 meter rotor diameter for
Zophia I and Zophia II.
NBT has engaged JP Morgan as lead arranger for the
financing of the Zophia projects. The financing will
consist of a senior secured bond, to be listed at ISM
in London and equity from NBT. Financial close is
expected by the end July 2021.
In the first half of 2020, NBT and other renewable
industry investors in Ukraine engaged in mediation
proceedings with the Ukrainian Government related
to certain changes to the feed-in tariffs and the
regulatory framework for renewable energy in
Ukraine. The mediations were done under the
umbrella of the Energy Community Secretariat. In
June 2020, two renewable energy associations in
Ukraine signed a memorandum of understanding
(MOU) with the Ukrainian Government with certain
agreed changes to the regulatory framework for
renewables. The MOU introduced a 15% reduction
of tariffs for existing solar projects and 7.5% for
existing wind projects. For new wind projects, from
2020 the tariff was reduced by 2.5%. For the Syvash
wind farm, 10 turbines are subject to the 7.5%
reduction while the remaining 53 will be reduced by
2.5%. The MOU also introduces accelerated
responsibility for balancing cost. Both of these
measures have an impact on the value of the Syvash
wind farm and the Zophia project in the form of
reduced revenue and increased cost. The effect is,
however, not material.
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CHINA
According to China’s Energy Production and
Consumption Revolution Strategy 2016-2030, by
2030, 50% of total electric power generation in
China will be from non-fossil energy sources,
including nuclear and renewable energy. The
number was 30% at the end of 2019.
China’s National Energy Administration (NEA)
reported that 71.7GW of wind power capacity was
newly installed in China in 2020, increasing the
installed capacity to 282GW. Wind power capacity
accounts for 12.8% of total installed power capacity.
Ever since China adopted the feed-in tariff
mechanism for wind power projects in 2006, its
wind power market has been growing significantly
and it has been the world’s largest market both in
terms of total installed capacity and yearly growth.
A new regulation issued by NDRC (National
Development and Reform Commission of China) in
2019 announced that starting from 1 January 2021,
all newly approved onshore wind projects shall
reach grid parity (zero-subsidy) which is between
US$40-65/MWh depending on the region in China.
OTHER MARKETS
In the fourth quarter of 2020, NBT signed an
agreement to acquire 50% of the shares in
Windvision Serbia BV, a subsidiary of Windvision BV
that has a portfolio of approximately 800 MW of
wind and solar projects in Serbia. The partners will
co-develop the projects up to financial close at
which point NBT will buy our partner’s share at a
pre-determined price and own 100% of the projects
during construction and operations. . As part of the
transaction, NBT acquired 50% of a shareholder loan
from Windvision with a face value of EUR 6.1 million.
The loan will be repaid to NBT and Windvision upon
financial close by each project pro rata to its
historical development cost. According to the
shareholders agreement, the parties will each fund
50% of approved development cost. The last
payment according to the share purchase
agreement was paid late June 2021 and the closing
confirmation addendum to the share purchase
agreement will be signed early July 2021.
NBT considers Serbia to be a very exciting growth
market for renewables as Serbia de-carbonizes its
economy in line with its international commitments.
In the fourth quarter of 2020, NBT signed a
framework agreement with RES Invest SA, a Greek
developer, to co-develop wind projects in Greece.
The partners will co-develop the projects up to
financial close, at which point NBT will have the right
to acquire a minimum of 85% of the share capital of
each project at a pre-determined price. The first 250
MW of projects under the framework agreement
was signed in the fourth quarter and closed in the
first quarter 2021. According to the shareholders
agreement, the parties will fund approved
development cost 60% by NBT and 40% by RES.
Under the terms of these agreements NBT is obliged
to fund certain development cost related to 2020,
but as the obligation to fund only materialized at
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closing, these costs have not been accrued in the
accounts for 2020.
OPERATIONS
Linxi
The Linxi wind farm is located east of the city of
Chifeng in Inner Mongolia in China. Technical
availability was 95.8% for the year 2020, up from
91% in 2019. Delivered electricity production
totaled 233 GWh in 2020. Production loss due to
grid constraints (curtailment) was 5.6 GWh which
equals to a curtailment ratio of 3.0%. Total revenues
reached RMB 104.3 million and net profit totaled
RMB 23.5 million. Accumulated unpaid subsidy
reached RMB 147.4 million by end of 2020. Most of
China’s renewable projects are developed by stateowned firms, but the gap between subsidies owed
and paid has hurt valuations of companies traded
publicly in China and Hong Kong. There is an
awareness around this from Chinese authorities and
the expectation is that measures are being taken to
close this gap. This will benefit NBT’s Chinese assets.

addition, sales revenue of NOK 76.2 million was
from invoiced service fee for the development work
of the Syvash wind farm project. In 2020
development work performed is stand alone to the
Zophia project companies, subsidiaries in the Group.

Baicheng
The Baicheng wind farm is located near the city of
Baicheng in Jilin province in China. The technical
availability in 2020 was 95.1% compared to 95.1% in
2019. The wind farm delivered 106.8 GWh on-grid
production, down from 109.7 GWh in 2019. The grid
curtailment of 2020 has been reduced to 2.4% from
3.4% in 2019 and it is predicted that the local grid
availability will keep this level in 2021.

Income from power generation in joint ventures and
associated companies are recognised in accordance
with the equity method and presented in a separate
line in the consolidated income statement. In 2020
the Company recognised loss of NOK 13.2 million
compared to a loss of NOK 65.9 million in 2019. NOK
15.2 million is recognised as profit from Linxi, a loss
of NOK 3.2 million is recognised from the Baicheng
joint venture and a loss of NOK 25.2 million is
recognised from Syvash. The profit or loss from the
Baicheng and Linxi wind farms have not changed
materially from 2019. Loss from Baicheng increased
by NOK 1 million and profit from Linxi increased by
NOK 2 million. The change in loss from Syvash
project is mainly due to deferred tax assets, that has
been assessed as recoverable. Total Eren has a
down-side protection for divided from the project,
as owner of preference shares. The loss recognised
from Syvash Project is adjusted to reflect this.
During the year 2020 the Group concluded that the
functional currency for the Syvash project had
changed from UAH to EUR at financial close for the
project. This event of change was in 2019. The error
was assessed and uncovered in 2020, and as a result
the relevant financial statement lines in 2019 has
been restated.

Total revenues for Baicheng in 2020 was RMB 49.5
million and net loss was RMB 6.5 million. In 2019
total revenues amounted to RMB 50.2 and the
Company had a net loss of RMB 5.15 million.
Accumulated unpaid subsidy reached RMB 56
million by end of 2020.

Total operating expenses increased from NOK 59.5
million in 2019 to NOK 110.8 million in 2020. The
increase relates to higher business development
and project development cost. The growth in costs
was due to increases in employees, consultants and
advisors. Total costs were NOK 92 million.

The Baicheng project Company signed an agreement
with HSBC and Bank of Communications in
September 2019 to restructure the loan to fit
Baicheng’s forecasted cashflow. Currently, Baicheng
is in discussion with HSBC and Bank of
Communications for an automatic extension of
repayment based on Baicheng project Company
receiving the unpaid subsidy payment. The banks do
not charge default interest rate to any of the unpaid
principals. As of end of March 2021, the balance of
the loan is RMB 299 million.

Personnel expenses increased from NOK 17.0
million in 2019 to NOK 31.6 million in 2020.

PRESENTATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements for 2020 have
been prepared in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) as adopted by
EU. The consolidated accounts are presented in
Norwegian Kroner, which is the functional currency
of the parent Company.
Consolidated income Statement
The Group has not reported any operating revenues
for the year 2020. The large increase in income in
2019 to NOK 305.96 million was the transition of the
investment in East Renewable Ukraine AB (ERU)
from a subsidiary to a joint venture. This transition
gave a gain in other income of NOK 230 million. In

Net financial items were negative NOK 304.4 million,
compared to negative NOK 236.5 million in 2019.
Financing cost was NOK 251.5 million in 2020,
compared to NOK 241.2 million in 2019. The main
reason for the high financing cost was expensive
financing for the Group in the Swedish companies.
Net loss for 2020 amounted to NOK 425.5 million.
Exchange rate differences from translation of
foreign operations were negative NOK 68.6 million.
Total comprehensive loss for the year NOK 494.1
million, compared to a loss of NOK 48.1 million in
2019.
Consolidated statement of financial position
Total book value of assets on 31 December 2020 was
NOK 1.478 billion, compared to NOK 1 .510 billion in
2019.
Intangible assets decreased from NOK 480.9 million
in 2019 to NOK 389.8 million in 2020. The change in
value is solely due to foreign exchange differences.
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Investments in associates and joint ventures
increased from NOK 715.8 million to NOK 742.5
million.
Other non-current receivable and prepayments
decreased from NOK 124.9 million to NOK 117.8
million. The amount consists of a standby equity
loan to the Syvash Company structure. The loan is
expected to be repaid following the Commercial
Operations Date (COD).
The Group had NOK 11.5 million in unrestricted cash
at year end, and consolidated book equity was
negative NOK 920.3 million.
As of 31 December 2020, the Group had interest
bearing liabilities with a carrying value of NOK 1.874
billion. The loans are a senior secured bond and an
unsecured convertible bond issued by NBT AS, with
a face value of NOK 340.1 million and NOK 282.3
million respectively. In 2020 NBT AS received a
convertible loan of NOK 122.3 million from Aker. The
two other loans in the Group are the EUR 75 million
green bond issued in May 2019 by NBT’s subsidiary
East Renewable Energy AB, and a bond issued by
NBT’s subsidiary East Renewable Super Holdco AB
with nominal face value at year end of EUR 20.975
million.
The difference between the carrying value of the
loans and the nominal face value of the loans relates
to capitalised borrowing costs, fees and expenses.
The conversion rights associated with the
convertible bond loans are, in accordance with the
IFRS reporting standards, separated from the
convertible bond and measured at estimated
market value with a recognised value of NOK 24.3
million.
In addition, unpaid purchase price of the Zophia
wind farm is recognized as a contingent liability.
Estimated fair value for the total debt is NOK 348.7
million, of which NOK 95.7 million is long term
liabilities. Total debt has increased from NOK 308.7
million in 2019 to NOK 348.7 million in 2020 mainly
due to the expected payment date being closer.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities is related to Zophia
project companies.
Other current liabilities decrease from NOK 56.7
million to NOK 46.7 million.
Due to an error, the estimated cost price for the
Zophia projects was based on a lower capacity than
compared to the actual capacity if the three
projects. The total acquisition consideration is
payment for lease rights (land plots), gridconnection
agreements,
power
purchase
agreement and all rights to develop and construct
wind farms for a total capacity of 492.5 MW and
additional capacity of 250 MW. By the end of 2019,
an additional 300 MW capacity materialized.
Estimated purchase price and allocation calculated
in the financial statement of 2019 did not estimate
any value of this additional asset. Based on an
overall assessment of all facts, it has been concluded
that the value of these additional rights should have
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been part of the estimated purchase price of the
Zophia project and part of the cost allocation
performed in 2019. The financial statement of 2019
has been restated accordingly.
Liquidity and cash flow
In 2020 cash flow from operating activities was
negative NOK 200.2 million compared with negative
NOK 257 million in 2019. The main reasons for
negative cash flow from operating activities are
payments to employees, consultants and advisors,
and interest payments. No cash has been received in
2020 compared to 2019 when NBT received cash of
NOK 72.9 million for work related to development
and raising the financing for the Syvash wind farm
project. No dividend has been distributed from Linxi
in 2020 due to unpaid subsidies.
Liquidity used in investments activities in 2020
relate to payments of NOK 91.6 million used in the
development of the Zophia wind project that has
been capitalized in the consolidated financial
statement for 2020. The Group also paid a loan of
NOK 13.3 million. Total cash flow from investing
activities was negative NOK 105.8 million.
The negative cash flow from the operations and
investing activities was financed by raising new
debts of about NOK 227.8 million (net). During the
year NBT paid interest expense of NOK 122.4 million
of which the majority related to the interest
payment on the bond received in East Renewable
AB. The interest on the remaining interest-bearing
debts have been settled by issuing additional bonds
or capitalised on the loan balance and had
consequently no cash effect for the Group.
Parent Company activities and financial statement
The income statement for the parent Company, NBT
AS, has been prepared in accordance with
Norwegian generally accepted accounting principles
(NGAAP).
NBT has assisted the Zophia project companies with
all major development work related to the
development of the Zophia wind project, including
financing, negotiating EPC contracts, obtaining all
required governmental approvals, and ensuring all
required environmental and social studies were
prepared. This included contracting and engaging
advisers that were required to complete and obtain
all approvals, sign EPC contracts, and finance the
project.
The development support agreement consists of
several elements for remuneration to NBT, and
includes:

•
•

Advisers' costs incurred by NBT to be
reimbursed by the project companies.

Management fee related to work
performed for the companies.
Syvash windfarm has been under construction
during 2020. NBT has closely monitored this process
together with our partner Total Eren.
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Revenues from management services to subsidiaries
were charged a total of NOK 35.4 million for the
year.
Personnel expenses increased from NOK 10.7
million 2019 to NOK 22.9 million in 2020 due to the
addition of 4 new employees. Other operating
expenses totaled NOK 47.9 million, an increase from
NOK 22 million in 2019. The main reason for the
increase is more use of consultants as the activity
level has been higher throughout the year.
Intercompany management service cost has
decreased NOK 5 million in 2020. Management
services related to services provided from personnel
in subsidiaries mainly consisted of the development
of the Zophia wind farm project.
Financial income decreased from NOK 17.6 million
in 2019 to NOK 1.5 million in 2020. From 2020 no
interest has been charged on intercompany loan to
the subsidiaries in Singapore and Cyprus due to their
thinly funded structure, operations and liquidity.
Financial expenses have been stable for the years
2019 and 2020.
Total net currency loss in 2020 was NOK 21.5 million,
compared to last year when net currency effect was
a gain of NOK 9.5 million.
Inter-c loans to the subsidiaries in Cyprus and
Singapore are denominated in USD, and the
depreciation of the NOK against USD during 2020
has contributed to an unrealized currency loss of
NOK 19.2 million, compared to a gain of NOK 0.2
million in 2019.
A valuation of the equity in NBT Renewable Energy
Ltd. was performed. The valuation was based on a
valuation of the Linxi and Baicheng wind farms in
China and considered the discounted cash flow
analysis in the joint ventures. The valuation of the
equity in NBT Renewable Energy Ltd showed a value
that was slightly below the book value of the
receivable that NBT has on the subsidiary. The
receivable is planned to be paid through
disbursements of dividend and repayment of equity
from the Chinese asset owned by NBT Renewable
Energy Ltd. To assess the recoverability, a model has
been made to simulate the future disbursements
from the Chinese joint ventures to NBT Renewable
Energy Ltd. for subsequent repayment of the loan to
NBT AS. The model indicated that subject to the
realization of certain key assumptions pertaining to
currency exchange rates and curtailment in the Linxi
joint venture, the debt to NBT AS will be fully repaid.
Total book equity on 31 December 2020 was
negative NOK 102.4 million compared with positive
NOK 28.6 million at year end 2019.
Conversion rights related the convertible loan
received from Aker have been valued to NOK 3.5
million and was classified as other paid in equity. The
amount will be amortized and expensed over the
remaining loan period.
Interest bearing debt comprises the senior secured
bond and the unsecured convertible bond both with
maturity in November 2021.
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Parent Company cash flow
Cash flow used in operating activities was negative
NOK 38.9 million compared to positive cash flow of
NOK 20 million in 2019. The reason for the change in
net operating activities was mainly due to
development service fee received for work related
to development and raising the financing for the
Syvash wind farm project in 2019. No income was
received in 2020. Cash flow used in investment
activities was NOK 100 million in 2020, an increased
from NOK 35.1 million in 2019. Investment activities
related to the funding of the operations in the
subsidiaries. Cash flow from financing was NOK
138.4 million mainly due to increase in short term
loans of NOK 166.2 million. Net cash flow from
financing in 2019 was NOK 17.1 million.
Approbation of profits in the parent company
The parent Company, NBT AS, had a loss of NOK
142.7 million in 2020 and the Board proposes that
the loss is transferred to uncovered losses in the
balance sheet. The Board does not propose any
dividend distribution.
GOING CONCERN
As of 31 December 2020, NBT’s total interestbearing debt was NOK 1.874 billion. A loan of NOK
122.3 million with maturity 31 May 2021 has
subsequently been extended to 31 August 2021. The
three bonds with a total principal amount of NOK
941.6 million and the EUR 75 million listed bond
issued by East Renewable AB has been extended to
21 November 2021.
The Company has provided parent Company
guarantees for the EUR 75 million bond issued by its
subsidiary East Renewable AB which matures on 21
November 2021 and the EUR 25 million bond issued
by its subsidiary East Renewable Zophia Super
Holdco AB which also matures on 21 November
2021.
The Company’s and the Group’s continued
operations depend on successful refinancing of the
debts and on its ability to fund operations. As such
the going concern assumption on which the financial
statements are prepared, hinges entirely on the
Company’s ability to refinance and/or raise new
equity or debt.
The Group is currently in the process of raising
equity EUR 400 mill to fund Zophia I and Zophia II in
Ukraine, its development activities and for general
corporate purposes. The Company is working with
its largest shareholders and its advisors to complete
the equity raise in July 2021. Should the equity raise
be unsuccessful in whole or in part, there is a risk
that the assets of the Group will be impaired and
that the Group will not be able to meet its ongoing
obligations.
The Company is in the process of refinancing its debt
obligations. The EUR 75 million green bond issued by
East Renewable AB has been extended to 21
November 2021 and is planned to be refinanced
though the issuance of a new corporate bond. The
EUR 25 million bond issued by East Renewable
Zophia Super Holdco AB is planned to be repaid
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through funds paid to the company at financial close
of Zophia I and II as reimbursements of development
cost. The two corporate bonds issued by the
Company and the NOK 122.3 million loan are
planned to be refinanced through issuance of a new
bond or converted to equity when the Group is
raising equity for the Zophia projects. If the Group is
unsuccessful on refinancing the bonds, there is a risk
that the Group cannot services its debt obligations,
and that the Group’s assets and operations will be
impaired, or the Group is unable to continue
operations.
The Board has reviewed the current plans to raise
equity and refinance the Group’s debt obligations
and based on their best judgment, the going
concern principle as outlined in section 3-3 of the
Norwegian Accounting Act can be applied, and the
Board therefore confirms that the consolidated
financial statement and the financial statement of
NBT AS have been based on the going concern
assumption.
Should the expected transaction, or a similar
transaction, for any reason, fail to materialize, the
conditions for the going concern assumption is
materially jeopardized. In such an event, the Board
would immediately need to seek alternative ways to
refinance and/or raise new equity from other
sources. If the Company is not able to refinance,
postpone due dates for its debts and/or raise
enough capital, there is a risk that projects cannot
be realized, that the book value of assets will be
eroded or that the Company will be unable to
continue operation.
RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group is exposed to a wide variety of risk
factors. A summary of the risk factors follows below.
For a more comprehensive overview of the risk
factors, please refer to note 3.
Political risk
The Company and its affiliates and the development
of their pipeline projects are exposed to risks related
to changes in legislation and regulatory framework
in the jurisdictions in which they operate. In July
2020 the Ukrainian Parliament passed a law that
provided for certain changes to the regulatory
framework in Ukraine, one of which was a reduction
in the feed-in tariff for the entire renewable energy
industry and which also applied to the Group’s wind
projects in Ukraine. Under this law, the Government
is obliged to restore the payment discipline of the
off-taker and to repay the debt to renewable energy
producers from 2020. The provisions in the law has
not been fully executed and there is a risk that this
would result in payment delays or shortages of
funds to pay renewable energy producers. The
Groups wind projects in China are experiencing
delays in payments for electricity from the subsidy
component of the fed-in tariff, which has a negative
impact on the Group’s ability to receive dividends.
There is no guarantee that such events and changes
will not happen in other markets where the Group
operates. The Syvash wind farm in Ukraine is located

close to the border with Crimea. Military activity in
the vicinity of the wind farm is not uncommon.
Financial and liquidity risk
The activities of the Group are capital intensive, and
as income from power generation is limited in the
current phase of development, loss of dividend
and/or lack of financing can lead to shortfall of cash
to fund the Group’s operations.
As outlined under the going concern section, our
assessment is that NBT based on current
expectations,
estimates,
projections
and
assumptions, will need to raise additional capital to
continue operations for the next twelve months. As
there is uncertainty related to the timing of when
the dividends from China will be received, NBT may
be required to raise additional financing on a shortterm period to bridge certain periods of cash flow
deficiencies.
NBT will also need to raise additional funds to
develop and invest in the Zophia wind farm project
in Ukraine.
Commodity price risk
The Company’s main source of income is dividend
from subsidiaries with income derived from power
generation. In China, the project companies have
off-take agreements at fixed prices regulated by
Chinese law. In Ukraine the feed-in tariff price is
fixed up to 12 December 2029 through power
purchase agreement with the state-owned offtaker. From 2030 the electricity will be sold at
market prices. There is uncertainty at which market
prices the electricity will be sold and there is no
market for hedging of this risk.
Volume risk
Production of electricity from wind will vary with
technical availability, grid availability and wind
conditions. Since the power price paid per kWh is
fixed through contracts and the volume generated is
weather dependent, income from wind power
projects will fluctuate. Since NBT owns a limited
number of operational wind farms, volatility of
income from affiliates will be significant. The
profitability of the wind farms is also dependent
upon the level of technical availability and
curtailment of grid capacity.
Currency risk
The reporting currency of the Group is NOK.
Subsidiaries are funded through inter-company
loans in USD and EUR. The Group’s operations in
China is denominated and financed in RMB, and the
RMB denominated project financing is a hedge of
the RMB denominated income stream. Fluctuations
in the exchange rate between NOK, RMB and USD
will influence cash flow in NOK from the project
companies and book value of the assets. External
financing is denominated in NOK and EUR.
The Syvash wind farm has income in Ukrainian
hryvnia (UAH). Until the end of 2029, the feed-in
tariff price is indexed to the exchange rate of
UAH/EUR every 3 months, making it independent of
the stability of the Ukrainian currency.
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Interest rate risk
The wind power projects in China are financed
through floating rate senior loans and saleleaseback arrangements denominated in RMB.
Changes in the Chinese base interest rate will
influence cash flow and dividend to NBT. The Syvash
wind farm is financed through a floating rate EUR
facility. Approximately 70% of the loan was swapped
to fixed rate at every drawdown to mitigate interest
rate risk. Bond issued by the parent and subsidiaries
are subject to a fixed interest rate, but changes in
interest rates or credit margins could influence the
cost of refinancing.
Credit risk
All power sales in the Group are based on power
purchase agreements with Chinese and Ukrainian
state-owned companies. The offtaker in Ukraine has
experienced periodic funding shortfalls in 2020. The
resulting debt to the renewable energy producers is
planned to be financed through issuing bonds
guaranteed by the Ukrainian state. Ukraine has a B
credit rating from S&P.
Operational risk
The company operates wind farms in China in cooperation with local partners. In Ukraine the Syvash
wind farm will be operated together with Total Eren.
Operation of power generation facilities is subject to
operational risk and can cause damage to people,
machinery and the environment. There was one
fatality on site in 2020 that was unrelated to the
construction of the Syvash wind farm. There have
been no serious accidents related to construction or
operation of NBT’s wind farms in 2020. The
Company is working with its subcontractors to
maintain a high standard of safety in the planning,
construction, and operation of its wind farms.
The construction and commissioning of the Syvash
wind farm will increase the operational risk both
during the construction period and as the wind farm
starts operating. This risk is being mitigated through
putting in place policies and procedures according to
industry best practice and IFC and EBRD
requirements.
COVID-19 has increased the risk during construction.
There have been cases of COVID-19 on site, but they
have been contained and mitigated. Although there
have been some interruptions, mainly caused by
travel restrictions, the overall consequence of
COVID-19 for Syvash wind farm has been limited. For
the Group, COVID-19 has led to significantly reduced
travel, but has not had a significant impact on our
ability to carry out our business.
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SHAREHOLDERS
On 31 December 2020, the Company had issued
34.2 million shares. All shares have equal rights. The
company had 145 shareholders at year end. The
Company has issued 2.385.000 share options to
employees and management.
ORGANISATION
The parent company had 12 employees and the
Group had 21 employees at 31 December 2020. It
was not registered any leave of absence due to
illness in the year 2020. The Company encourages
diversity, personal skills and entrepreneurship when
recruiting employees.
IMPACT ON THE EXTERNAL ENVIRONMENT
NBT is engaged in construction and operation of
wind farms. Wind power is a renewable energy
source and has a positive effect on the environment
compared to traditional sources of electricity
generation. However, construction work will always
carry a risk of damage to the local environment.
Wind power causes no direct discharge to surface or
ground water. Construction and operation of wind
farms can, under certain circumstances, cause harm
to the flora, fauna, local environment and
landscape. To mitigate this, NBT carries out
extensive analyses assessing the environmental
impact of its projects and implements appropriate
mitigative actions.
EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES
NBT encourages diversity in skills, experience, ethnic
background and gender and promotes equal
opportunities and rights. NBT does not accept
discrimination based on color, language, religion,
ethnic background or other factors that are
irrelevant to the performance of the individual or
the Group.
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
The Company does not engage in any research and
development activities.
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
In January 2021, Aker terminated the offer to
acquire up to 100% of the shares in NBT AS. As part
of the transaction, Aker had provided a convertible
loan of NOK 122.3 million to NBT. The loan carries
4.5% interest, is convertible at the lowest of NOK 70
per share and the per share price in any equity
transaction up to maturity.
On 18 May 2021, the bond holders in the EUR 75
million listed green bond extended its maturity from
21 May 2021 to 21 November 2021.
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In May and June 2021, the Company received a loan
from one of its shareholders of EUR 6.8 million and
EUR 11.2 million. The loans carry an interest rate of
8.5% and mature 31 August 2021. The loans can be
converted into shares at the lower of the next
subscription share price less 17,5% or NOK 70 per
share. At the same time, maturity and conversion
rights of the NOK 122.3 million loan from Aker was
amended to the same terms as for the new loans.
During the first quarter of 2021 Syvashenergoprom
LLC signed an amended power purchase agreement
with the Guaranteed Buyer, the Ukrainian offtaker
for electricity generated by renewable energy. The
amendment is mandatory for all renewable energy
producers in Ukraine. Due to the short deadline for
signing imposed by the Guaranteed Buyer, the
amendment was signed without consent of the
lenders, which under the Common Terms
Agreement (“CTA”) constitutes a breach of
undertakings, which is an event of default if not
cured or waived. Syvashenergoprom LLC has
requested EBRD to waive the breach. Such waiver
has not been obtained as of the reporting date, and
the company is working with EBRD to resolve the
issue. This situation is not project specific as EBRD
has declined to approve the PPA amendment or
provide a waiver across its loan portfolio in Ukraine.
Over multiple interactions with the Company, EBRD
has indicated that it has no intention to take any
steps that will prevent Syvashenergoprom LLC from
drawing debt or reaching Commercial Operations
Date (COD). NBT does not expect this event to have
any material impact on the Syvash wind farm.
The green bond loan, senior secured and the senior
secured convertible loan includes cross default
provisions, and the default in Syvashenergoprom
LLC triggered disclosures to the bondholders of
these loans. The bond holders were notified on 30
May 2021. The Company has not received any notice
from the bond holders and expect no impact on the
repayment of the loans.
OUTLOOK
NBT is well positioned to take advantage of the
strong growth in renewable energy in high growth
markets. Our Syvash wind farm will be in full
operation from mid-2021 and the planned start of
construction for the Zophia I and II wind projects will
provide a solid platform for cash generation. Our
partnerships in Serbia and Greece will provide
diversification and growth in Southeastern Europe
and will position NBT as a key player in this region.

8
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Sales revenue
Other income

Note

2020

25
7

19

76 161
229 796

19

305 957

Total operating income
Personnel expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Other operating expenses

(31 586)
(2 907)
(76 313)

(17 027)
(1 470)
(40 999)

Total operating expenses

(110 806)

(59 496)

Operating result

(110 787)

246 461

7

(13 182)

(65 850)

23
23
23
17, 23

1 521
(251 507)
(40 181)
(14 295)

35
(241 238)
2 975
1 741

Net financial items

(304 462)

(236 487)

Profit/(loss) before tax

(428 431)

(55 876)

Income/(loss) from associates and joint ventures
Financial income
Financial expenses
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss)
Unrealised fair value adjustments

Income tax expense

20, 21
8, 10, 11
20, 21, 22

2019

2 935

(3 680)

(425 496)

(59 556)

Other comprehensive income (that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss):
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations

(68 579)

11 420

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

(68 579)

11 420

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

(494 075)

(48 136)

Net result attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

(425 496)
-

(59 556)
-

Comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

(494 075)
-

(48 399)
263

Earnings per share: (in NOK)
Basic, profit/(loss) for the year
Diluted, profit/(loss) for the year

(12,43)
(12,43)

(1,76)
(1,76)

Basic, comprehensive income for the year
Diluted, comprehensive income for the year

(14,44)
(14,44)

(1,43)
(1,43)

Profit/(loss) for the period

19
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AT 31 DECEMBER
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Note

2020

2019

ASSETS
Deferred tax assets
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use asset
Investments in associates and joint ventures
Other non-current receivables
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted

19
5, 8, 9
5, 10
11
7
12
14

Total non-current asset
Trade and other receivables
Prepayments
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted
Cash and cash equivalents

13
14
14

Current asset
Total assets
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Share capital
Share premium
Other paid in equity

15
15
15

Total paid in equity
Translation differences
Accumulated losses
Total equity
Long-term interest-bearing debt
Contingent liability business combination
Deferred tax liabilities

11, 16
5, 17
19

Total non-current liabilities
Short-term interest-bearing debt
Value of convertible rights
Trade payables
Contingent liability business combination
Other current liabilities

11, 16
16
5, 17
18

2 699
389 797
145 013
7 747
742 468
117 817
952

480 949
41 537
3 173
715 794
124 926
932

1 406 495

1 367 311

52 587
5 989
979
11 519

60 031
14 649
657
67 637

71 074

142 974

1 477 569

1 510 285

3 422
480 556
63 684

3 422
480 556
55 507

547 662

539 485

31 746
(1 505 652)

100 325
(1 080 156)

(926 244)

(440 346)

3 412
95 657
69 878

733 322
147 334
86 488

168 947

967 144

1 870 831
24 300
40 064
253 004
46 667

723 268
27 850
14 186
161 450
56 735

Total current liabilities

2 234 866

983 489

Total liabilities

2 403 813

1 950 633

Total liabilities and equity

1 477 569

1 510 285

10
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Operating activities
Profit/(loss) before tax
Adjustments to reconcile profit/(loss) before tax to net cash flows:
Depreciations
Goodwill and Intangibles amortization
Impairment changes
Fair Value adjustments
Gain/loss sale of assets
Share of earnings in JV and associated companies
Dividend received from JV and associated companies
Unrealized gain / loss on exchange
Interest expenses/income
Share option plan
Other changes

Note

10, 11
8
23
16, 17, 23
7
7
7

21

Working capital adjustments:
Change in interest-free assets , current asssets and interest-free liabilities and current liabilities
Income tax paid
Interest received
Interest paid
Net cash flow used in operating activities

Investing activities
Payments for property, plant and equipment
Payments for intangibles
Payments for acquisitions and equity investments (net of cash acquired)
New long-term receivable interest bearing
Total payments
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of subsidiaries and other equity investments
Total proceeds
Net cash flows used in investing activities

Financing activities
Instalments long-term debt
Instalments short term debt
Instalments leasing debt
New long-term debt
New short-term debt
Net cash flows from financing activities
Net cash-flow
Net foreign exchange difference
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

10
8
12

16
16
11
16
16

2020

2019

(428 431)

(55 876)

2 819
72
25 349
14 295
(19)
13 182
39 333
182 245
8 177
40 907

1 470
(1 741)
(229 811)
65 850
19 492
(2 975)
246 818
17 393

46 026

(176 633)

21
(122 436)
(178 460)

(3 680)
35
(137 388)
(257 046)

(91 592)
(1 223)
(13 322)
(106 137)
18
300
318
(105 819)

(36 116)
(460)
(355 686)
(392 262)
15
15
(392 247)

(3 916)
(5 542)
234 853
225 395

(710 463)
1 419 399
708 936

(58 884)
3 088
68 294
12 498

59 643
7 105
1 546
68 294

12
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Share
capital

Share
premium

Equity at 1 January 2019
Net result for the period
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
Equity effect implementation IFRS 16
Majority owners transfer to minority 1)
Conversion of loans to share capital
Equity at 31 December 2019

3 377
45
3 422

467 039
13 517
480 556

54 057
1 450
55 507

(1 017 790)
(59 556)
(59 556)
(95)
(2 715)
(1 080 156)

89 168
11 157
11 157
100 325

(404 149)
(59 556)
11 157
(48 399)
(95)
(2 715)
15 012
(440 346)

Equity at 1 January 2020
Net result for the period
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
Share option Program
Conversion of loans to share capital
Equity at 31 December 2020

3 422
3 422

480 556
480 556

55 507
8 177
63 684

(1 080 156)
(425 496)
(425 496)
(1 505 652)

100 325
(68 579)
(68 579)
31 746

(440 346)
(425 496)
(68 579)
(494 075)
8 177
(926 244)

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Other paid
in equity

Accumulated
losses

Equity
attributable
Translation to owners of
differences
the parent

Noncontrolling
interests

Total
equity

(2 978)
263
263
2 715
-

(407 127)
(59 556)
11 420
(48 136)
(95)
15 012
(440 346)

-

(440 346)
(425 496)
(68 579)
(494 075)
8 177
(926 244)

1) The minority interests concern Zeni Wind Power, which has an accumulated negative result. In connection with the liquidation of the Company, all debts have been cleared which is done by NBT companies
liquidating their debt to the Company. This means that the negative value of the "minority interest" is covered by the majority in NBT. Consequently, a transfer of the uncovered loss associated with the
minority to the majority is obtained. This is done as a transfer in the equity note.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1 GENERAL INFORMATION
1.1 ABOUT THE GROUP
NBT AS is an unlisted limited company incorporated in Norway. The Company’s
head office is located at Filipstad Brygge 1, NO-0252 Oslo, in Oslo, Norway.
NBT (“NBT” or “Company” or the “Group”) develops and owns wind farms in
emerging markets in co-operation with partners. In 2011, the Group
commissioned its first 50 MW wind power project, Linxi I, in Inner Mongolia. The
commissioning of the 49.5 MW wind farm Baicheng I in Jilin province followed
this. Construction of the 50 MW wind farm Linxi II started in late 2011 and was
fully commissioned in 2012.
In 2018 NBT acquired Syvashenergoprom LLC (“Syvash”) in the Kherson region
in Ukraine. Syvash is owned through Swedish subsidiaries of NBT AS. The Syvash
wind farm was developed during 2018 and in connection with the financing of
the Syvash project in 2019, one of the Swedish subsidiaries made a share issue
to the French wind developer Total Eren SA which gained control over 53.5% of
the shares in the Svyash wind farm. Following this transaction, NBT holds 46.5%
ownership in the Syvash wind farm. The Syvash wind farm is under construction

with a total installed capacity of 245.7 MW and is expected to be finalised during
the second quarter of 2021.
During 2019 NBT acquired the Zophia wind power projects in the Zaporizhia
region in south-east Ukraine. The projects are under development with a
planned total installed capacity of 787.5MW. NBT is working to obtain financing
for the projects in the second quarter of 2021.
NBT has been present in Pakistan since 2008 and has been pursuing
development of several wind power projects in the Sindh province. NBT is now
in the process to close its operation in Pakistan.
NBT’s operations in China are owned through subsidiaries in Cyprus and Hong
Kong. The operations in Pakistan are owned through subsidiaries in Singapore.
The consolidated financial statements for the financial year ending 31 December
2020 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution by the Board of
Directors 25 June 2021.

NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF KEY ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION
The consolidated financial statements for the Group have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted
by the European Union, relevant interpretations and the additional Norwegian
disclosure requirements following the Norwegian Accounting Act applicable as
at 31 December 2020.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of Norwegian
kroner (NOK) and prepared on a historical cost basis, except for valuation of
conversion rights and contingent consideration arising from business
combinations that's measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period,
as explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost is generally based
on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires the
use of certain critical accounting estimates and requires Management to
exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Company's accounting
policies. It also requires the use of assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Although these estimates are based on
Management's best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may
ultimately differ from those estimates.
New standards and interpretations
New and amended IFRS standards that are effective for the current year has not
have material impact on the financial statement of the Group.
There are several standards, amendments to standards, and interpretations
which have been issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)
that are effective in future accounting periods that the Group has decided not
to adopt early. None of these would be expected to have a material impact on
the entity in the future reporting periods and on foreseeable future
transactions.
2.2BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
(a) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group
has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and can affect
those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully

consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.
All intra-Group transactions, balances, income, and expenses are eliminated in
full on consolidation.
The NBT Group comprises the following subsidiaries (group ownership as of 31
December 2020):
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

NBT Renewable Energy Ltd, Cyprus (100%)
NBT Development Ltd, Hong Kong (100%)
NBT International Ltd, Hong Kong (100%)
NBT Renewable Energy Singapore Pte Ltd, Singapore (100%)
NBT Pakistan Holding (Pte) Ltd, Singapore (100%)
NBT Windpower Pakistan (Ptv.) Ltd, Pakistan (100%)1)
Zeni Windpower (Ptv.) Ltd, Pakistan (80%)1)
Limak NBT Renewable Energy (Ptv.) Ltd, Pakistan (100%)1)
NBT Windpower II (Ptv.) Ltd, Pakistan (100%)1)
NBT Windpower III (Ptv.) Ltd, Pakistan (100%)1)
NBT ZAB Windpower (Ptv.) Ltd, Pakistan (98%)1)
East Renewable AB, Sweden (100%)
East Renewable Zophia AB, Sweden (100%)
East Renewable Zophia Super Holdco AB, Sweden (100%)
NBT Ukraine LLC, Ukraine (100%)
East Renewable Zophia Investments I AB, Sweden (100%)
East Renewable Zophia I AB, Sweden (100%)
AzovinvestmentProm LLC, Ukraine (99,9%)
East Renewable Zophia Investment II AB, Sweden (100%)
East Renewable Zophia II AB, Sweden (100%)
Azovpromenergo LLC, Ukraine (99,9%)
East Renewable Zophia Investments III AB, Sweden (100%)
East Renewable Zophia III AB, Sweden (100%)
Zophia III LLC, Ukraine (99,9%)

1)

Under liquidation or companies with no activities planned for liquidation

(b) Business combinations
Acquisitions of business are accounted for using the acquisition method. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair value of
the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
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acquired and the equity interests issued by the Group. Identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.
The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquired on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of acquired
identifiable net assets.
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the
contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised
in accordance with IFRS 9 either in profit or loss or as a change to other
comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not re-measured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the measurement period about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date and are recognised as
adjustments to the initial purchase price allocation. The measurement period
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date.
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the
consideration transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling
interest over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If this
consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired, the difference is recognised in profit or loss.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
(c) Transactions with non-controlling interests
Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in
the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity
transactions. The difference between fair value of any consideration paid and
the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary
is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests
are also recorded in equity.
(d) Associates
Associates are entities in which the Group has a significant, but not controlling
interest. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over
those policies.
Investments in associates are recognised according to the equity method. Under
the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially recognised at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and
other comprehensive income of the associate. The initial recognised amount
includes goodwill identified at the time of acquisition.
The Group does not recognise any share of an associate’s losses in its income
statement if this results in the carrying amount of the investment falling below
zero (including unsecured receivables on the entity), unless the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.
The Group’s share of unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and
its associates are eliminated. The same applies to unrealised losses, unless the
transaction requires a write-down of the transferred asset.
When the Group has lost significant influence, any retained investment is
measured at fair value at the date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value
on initial recognition of the retained investment. Any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income with respect to the associate will be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal.
When a Group entity transacts with its associate, profit or losses resulting from
the transactions with the associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate that are not
related to the Group.
(e) Joint ventures
A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the Group and other
parties undertake an economic activity that is subject to joint control (i.e., when
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the strategic, financial and operating policy decisions relating to the activities of
the joint venture require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control).
The Group’s shareholdings in joint ventures are recognised using the equity
method as described above related to interests in associates.
2.3 SEGMENT REPORTING

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with internal
reporting to the Group’s decision-making bodies. A business segment is
defined as assets and operations involving products or services that are
exposed to risks and returns which are different from other business
segments. A geographic segment is defined as products or services within
a specific economic area whose risks and returns are different from
segments in other economic areas.
2.4 FOREGIN CURRENCIES
(a) Functional currency and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are
measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the ‘functional currency’). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in NOK, which is the parent company’s functional
currency and the Group’s presentation currency.
The functional currency of the Syvashenergoprom LLC (ownership 46,5%) has
changed from Ukrainian Hryvnia (UAH) to Euros (EUR). Transactions in EUR
increased significantly at financial close of the project and the relevance of
transactions in UAH decreased. After the analysis of all facts and circumstances
(including the fact that the green tariff in Ukraine is linked to the EUR) it was
concluded that the dominance of EUR was not a temporary situation, and the
functional currency was changed from UAH to EUR. The change in functional
currency was brought about by a changed circumstance in 2019, and the
conclusion is that functional currency according to IAS 21 was EUR from this
point. In the Consolidated Statement 2019 UAH was used and some amounts
reported in the previous year have been restated to correct this error. Detailed
information about these adjustments can be found in note 4 Significant
Accounting Estimates and Assumptions.
(b) Transactions and balance sheet items
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency using
the exchange rate on the date the transaction took place. Any foreign exchange
gains or losses arising in connection with the settlement of such transactions or
the translation of monetary items (assets and liabilities) at the year end
exchange rates are recognised in profit and loss.
Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates in effect at the dates of the initial
transactions. Foreign exchange differences on non-monetary items are included
as part of the gain/loss when calculating fair value in connection with an
assessment of impairment or realisation.
(c) Net investment in Group companies
Inter-company loans and advances to Group companies that are not intended
to be repaid within the near future, or where it is evident that repayment within
a reasonable timeline is not possible, is regarded as part of the new equity
investment in the subsidiary. Any foreign translation gains/losses on such loan
are recognised and treated as part of the equity translation differences for the
subsidiary and recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
(d) Group companies
The results and financial positions of companies with a functional currency other
than NOK are translated to the presentation currency using average monthly
exchange rates with respect to income and expense items, while assets and
liabilities are translated at the rate in effect on the balance sheet date. All
resulting exchange differences are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income.
2.5 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses. The initial cost of an asset comprises its
purchase price or construction cost, any costs directly attributable to bringing
the asset into operation, the initial estimate of a decommissioning obligation, if
any, and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs incurred in the construction
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period. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when the activities to
prepare the asset for its intended use are undertaken and continue to be
capitalised until the date in which development of the relevant asset is
complete. All other borrowing costs are recognised in the profit or loss in the
period in which they incur.
Repairs and maintenance costs are expensed during the financial period in which
they are incurred.
Depreciations of property plant and equipment are calculated on a straight-line
basis over the assets’ expected useful life and adjusted for any impairment
charges. Depreciation of a wind power plant commences when the plant is ready
for management’s intended use, normally at the date of grid connection and
commissioning. The residual value of the plant is taken into consideration when
calculating the annual depreciation.
Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for potential impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount.
The difference between the assets carrying amount and its recoverable amount
is recognised in the income statement as impairment. Property, plant
and equipment that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of
the impairment at each reporting date.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the disposal
proceeds with the carrying amount and are included in operating profit.
Wind power plants under development
Expenses relating to research activities (project opportunities) are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss as they incur. Expenses relating to
development activities (project pipeline and backlog) are capitalised to the
extent that the project is technically and commercially viable and the Group has
sufficient resources to complete the development work.
2.6 LEASES
At the inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.
For contracts that constitute, or contain a lease, the Group separates lease
components if it benefits from the use of each underlying asset either on its own
or together with other resources that are readily available, and the underlying
asset is neither highly dependent on, nor highly interrelated with, the other
underlying assets in the contract. The Group then accounts for each lease
component within the contract as a lease separately from non-lease
components of the contract.
At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a lease liability and
corresponding right-of-use asset for all lease agreements in which it is the
lessee, except for the following exemptions applied:
•
•

Short-term leases (defined as 12 months or less)
Low value assets (defined as NOK 50 000 or less)

For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as other operating
expenses in the statement of profit or loss when they incur.
(a) Lease liabilities
The lease liability is recognised at the commencement date of the lease. The
Group measures the lease liability as the present value of the lease payments
for the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid
at the commencement date. The lease term represents the non-cancellable
period of the lease, together with periods covered by an option either to extend
or to terminate the lease when the Group is reasonably certain to exercise this
option.
The lease payments included in the measurement comprise of:
•
Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less
any lease incentives receivable
•
Variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially
measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date
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Amount expected to be payable by the Group under residual value
guarantees
The exercise price of a purchase option, if the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise that option
Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount
to reflect interest on the lease liability, reducing the carrying amount to reflect
the lease payments made and remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any
reassessment or lease modifications, or to reflect adjustments in lease
payments due to an adjustment in an index or rate.
The Group does not include variable lease payments in the lease liability.
Instead, the Group recognises these variable lease expenses in profit or loss.
The Group presents its lease liabilities as long-term interest-bearing debt and
short-term interest-bearing debt.
(b) Right-of-use-assets
The Group measures the right-of use asset at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of the right-of-use asset comprise:
•
•
•

The amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability
recognised
Any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any incentives received
Any initial direct costs incurred by the Group. An estimate of the
costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and removing the
underlying asset, restoring the site on which it is located or
restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred
to produce inventories.

The Group applies the depreciation requirements in IAS 16 Property, Plant and
Equipment in depreciating the right-of-use asset, except that the right-of-use
asset is depreciated from the commencement date to the earlier of the lease
term and the remaining useful life of the right-of-use asset.
The Group applies IAS 36 Impairment of Assets to determine whether the rightof-use asset is impaired and to account for any impairment loss identified.
2.7 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost.
Intangible assets comprise mainly development rights (payments to business
partners) in connection with the development of wind power projects, related
goodwill and software.
Development rights represent payments to business partner in connection with
the development of a project. The development rights are recognised at the
time the Group receives the right to develop / build a wind farm.
Intangible assets with a defined useful life are amortized on a straight-line basis
over the assets’ expected useful life and adjusted for any impairment charges.
Expected useful life of developments rights follow the same straight-line basis
as the connected wind power plant.
Goodwill with an indefinite useful life is not amortised on a regular basis but are
tested for impairment annually of 31 December or more frequently if there are
circumstances indicating that the carrying amount may be impaired. Impairment
is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each cashgenerating unit (CGU) (or group of CGUs) to which the goodwill relates. When
the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than its carrying amount, an
impairment loss is recognised. Impairment losses relating to the goodwill cannot
be reversed in future periods.
2.8 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of
its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If such indicator exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are
not depreciated but are assessed for impairment annually or whenever there
are indications of impairment.
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The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s net selling price and value in
use. The net selling price is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in
an arm’s length transaction less the costs of disposal while value in use is the
present value of estimated future cash flows expected to arise from the
continuing use of an asset and from its disposal at the end of its useful life.
Recoverable amounts are estimated for individual assets or, if it is not possible,
for the cash-generating unit.

(b) Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and borrowings
or payables, as appropriate. Loans, borrowings and payables are recognised at
fair value net of directly attributable transaction costs.

A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount, however
not to an extent higher than the carrying amount that the asset would have had
if no impairment loss had been recognised in prior years. Such reversals are
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities unless there exists an
unconditional right to defer repayment for more than 12 months after the
balance sheet date.

2.9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one
entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity.
(a) Financial assets
The Group´s financial assets are: non-listed equity instruments, trade
receivables and cash and cash equivalents.
The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the
financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s business
model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component, the Group initially measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs.
The Group classified its financial assets in these categories:
•
•
•

Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of
cumulative gains and losses (FVOCI)
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss (FVOPL)

Financial assets at amortised cost
The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the following
conditions are met:
•
•

The financial asset is held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows and,
The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective
interest (EIR) method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss within financial income/expenses, when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.
The Groups financial assets at amortised cost includes receivables and cash and
cash equivalents.
Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a
group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from
the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:
•
•

The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or
The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the
asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows
in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘passthrough’ arrangement; and either

a)

the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or
the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control
of the asset

b)

Financial liabilities are classified either as measured at amortized cost or as
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Loans, borrowings and payables
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost.
Payables are measured at their nominal amount when the effect of discounting
is not material.
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability
is discharged or cancelled or expires.
(c) Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial
assets. This assessment is conducted through an expected credit loss (ECL)
approach, under which forward-looking information is taking into account.
Under the ECL-approach an allowance for expected credit losses should be
recognized for all debt instruments not held for fair value through profit or loss.
The Group’s credit risk, the risk that a counterpart will not meet its obligation
under a financial instrument or a contract, leading to financial loss, is assessed
as immaterial. Financial assets include receivables and cash.
2.10 BORROWING COST
Specific borrowing costs that are directly attributable to development of a
qualifying asset are capitalized during the period of time that is required to
complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale.
Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
2.11 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and bank deposits with an original
maturity of three months or less.
2.12 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUMS
Share capital and share premium are classified as equity when no liability exists
with respect to the transfer of cash or assets (fully paid in). Costs directly
attributable to the issue of shares are presented as a reduction in equity, net
after tax.
2.13 CONVERSION RIGHTS
NBT has issued convertible loans that give the lenders the right to convert the
loan to shares in the company at a certain share price that might be adjusted in
the future. Further, NBT is given the option to settle conversion requests in cash.
The “fixed-for-fixed” criteria are consequently not met, and the conversion
rights are accounted for as a derivative liability, with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Initial measurement is based on an assessment of
alternative market interest for similar loans with no conversion rights.
Subsequent measurement of the fair value is calculated using observed
transactions of the convertible bond if applicable. If no reliable market
transactions are observed other valuation techniques are applied.
2.14 INCOME TAX
The income tax expense for a period comprises current tax and deferred tax. Tax
is recognised in profit and loss, except when it relates to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In such cases,
tax is recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. The tax
expense is calculated in accordance with the tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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Deferred tax is calculated on all temporary differences between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements using the liability method. If the Group participates in a transaction
for the purchase of an asset or liability that does not qualify as a business
combination, deferred tax is not recognised at the time of the transaction.
Deferred tax is determined using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and which is expected
to be applied when the deferred tax asset is realised, or when the deferred tax
liability is settled.
Deferred tax assets are capitalised to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available, against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.
2.15 PENSIONS
The Group has a defined contribution pension scheme covering all Norwegian
employees. A defined contribution pension scheme is a privately owned and
administered scheme. The Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee
benefit expense when they are due.
Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund
or a reduction in the future payments is available.
2.16 PROVISIONS
The Group recognises provisions when the Group has a present obligation (legal
or constructive) as a result of a past event and it is probable that the Group will
be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as provisions is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period, taken into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When the effect of time is material, and present
value calculation is applied, the discount rate used is a pre-tax rate that reflects
the risks specific to the liability. Any increase in the liability that reflects the
passage of time is recognised as an interest expense.
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2.17 REVENUE RECOGNITION
The Group’s power producing assets derives its revenue from the production
and sale of wind generated electricity based on long-term Power Purchase
Agreements or Feed-in-Tariffs. Revenue is recognised upon delivery of
electricity produced to the local operator of the electricity grid. The
performance obligation is to deliver a series of distinct goods (power) and the
transaction price is the consideration the Group expects to receive. The
performance obligation is satisfied over time which entails that revenue should
be recognised for each unit delivered at the transaction price. The Group applies
a practical expedient under IFRS 15 whereby the revenue from power for most
of the contracts is recognised at the amount of which the entity has a right to
invoice. Revenues from the sale of electricity are recognised at the time the
electricity is supplied based on periodic meter readings. The right to invoice
power arises when power is produced and delivered and the right to invoice the
consideration will normally correspond directly with the value to the customer.
In assessing when the revenue recognition criteria are met the Group bases its
accounting judgment on previous experience from similar transactions, an
assessment of the type of customer and transaction concerned, as well as any
specific circumstances associated with the individual transaction.
Other revenues
Other revenues are recognised in profit and loss as they occur.
Interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. Interest
income is presented as financial income in the income statement.
2.18 PAYMENT OF DIVIDEND
Dividend to the company’s shareholders is classified as a liability from the date
on which the dividend is approved by the annual general meeting.
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NOTE 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS
The Group’s operations are exposed to several risk factors. NBT is exposed to
foreign exchange risk, price risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk and credit risk.
As the main source of income for the Group is sale of electricity from wind power
projects in associated companies and joint ventures, any future income is
exposed to wind risk and other risks related to the operation of wind farms. In
both 2019 and 2020, the Group did not use financial derivatives to hedge its
financial risk. The financial risk management, risk initiatives and processes are
performed by the Group’s management team in cooperation with the Board of
directors. The focus for the financial risk management is to ensure stable cash
flow and sufficient financing for the Group. Risk management within NBT is
intended to support the Group’s value creation and ensure a sound financial
performance.
(a) Foreign exchange risk
The Group focuses on the development, construction and operation of wind
power and other renewable energy resources in emerging markets. The Group
has subsidiaries in Sweden, Ukraine, Cyprus, Singapore, Pakistan, Hong Kong,
and China as well as investments in associate and joint venture in China and
Ukraine and is exposed to exchange rate variations of NOK against the USD, EUR,
SEK, UAH, SGD, PKR, HKD and RMB. Foreign exchange risk occurs because
income, costs, transactions, assets, and liabilities are denominated in the
functional currency of the countries concerned and not in the reporting currency
(NOK). The Group controls the Zophia-wind project in Ukraine and is co-owner
in the Syvash-wind farm project in Ukraine and is also co-owner of two wind
farms in China. As most of the investments to date is carried out in RMB, the
Group is particularly exposed to foreign exchange risk between NOK and RMB.
The wind power plants in China generate income in RMB from sale of electricity.
NBT’s share of income from these wind farms (associated company and joint
venture) is affected by fluctuations in RMB versus NOK. Further NBT is also
exposed to foreign exchange risk between NOK and UAH (Ukrainian hryvnja) for
the Zophia project, and NOK and EUR as the acquisition of both Zophia project
and Syvash project is financed in euros. The foreign exchange risk between NOK
and UAH is small since Zophia project will be capitalised and financed in EUR.
Further is the green tariff rate in Ukraine linked to the EUR.
Functional currency in Syvashenergoprom LLC was changed from UAH to EUR in
2020, with retrospective effect from January 2019. For more details, please refer
to note 4 Significant Judgment and Assumptions.
NBT’s liabilities are predominantly denominated in NOK, EUR, and USD. The
parent company’s bond loans are denominated in NOK and the Swedish
subsidiary East Renewable AB and East Renewable Super Holdco AB has
financed the acquisition of Syvashenergoprom LLC and Zophia project
companies with an EUR bond loan. The Company’s assets, including advances to
suppliers, are primarily denominated in EUR, RMB, UAH and USD.
Currently the Group does not apply currency derivatives to hedge the currency
risk of its operations. As the business matures and the income stream from the
projects increases, the Group will develop a programme for managing currency
risk.

(b) Price risk
The price received for power generated from wind power in China is set by the
Chinese authorities through the renewable energy legislation and varies by
region. As all the power generated, net of curtailment, is sold to the local grid
companies at the determined feed-in-tariff the Group’s projects have no
exposure to energy price risk.
In Ukraine the power generated from the Syvash wind farm are fixed for a period
up to 31 December 2029. The feed-in-tariff is fixed once each group of wind
turbines are installed. The feed-in-tariff regime was revised during 2020 and the
tariff applicable to wind turbines installed in 2019 and earlier was reduced by
7.5%. The feed-in tariff for turbines installed from 2020 and later was reduced
by 2.5%. From 1. January 2030 Company’s wind farms in Ukraine will be exposed
to market risk unless this risk is hedged through long term offtake contracts.
(c) Volume risk
The Group has investments in companies that operate wind farms. As the wind
for any particular day, month or year can vary significantly, the volume of
electricity will vary accordingly. The Company uses the P50 volume estimates for
analysis or presentation purposes. The P50 estimate is the amount of energy
that is likely to be exceeded in 50 percent of any 10-year period. For any given
year, the volume of electricity generated can vary by 20 percent or more. As the
P50 estimate is typically generated from wind measurements over a relatively
short period of time, there is no guarantee that any particular wind farm will
generate the amount of electricity indicated by the P50 estimate. As the
majority of the Group’s future income is likely to be generated from wind farms,
the Company is exposed to volume risk caused by variations in wind conditions
over time and uncertainty in the estimates used when making investment
decisions.
The profitability of the wind farms is also dependent upon the level of technical
availability and the level of grid curtailment that the wind farm experiences. Grid
curtailment has in some regions in China been at very high levels at certain
periods. Baicheng has experienced a high level of curtailment, however, the grid
curtailment problem has improved during the past two years and currently grid
curtailment does not seem to be a major concern.
(d) Interest-rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate due to changes
in market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is mainly
related to project financing of the wind power projects in Ukraine and China.
Both the Syvash wind farm and the two Chinese wind farms are financed based
on floating interest rates plus a margin. The construction of Syvash wind farm is
financed with loans in EUR that follow EURIBOR rates and the Chinese wind
farms with loans in RMB that follows fluctuations in Chinese interbank rates.
The parent company has issued a convertible bond and a senior secured bond
with maturity on 21 November 2021. The loans carry a fixed interest rate of 8.5
percent per annum. During 2020 NBT received financing from Aker, the loan was
agreed as convertible and with a fixed rate of 4.5% per annum, calculated
effective rate is 5%. The loan matures at 31 August 2021.

Significant changes in foreign exchange rates, in particular USD and EUR might
have a material effect on the Group’s net profit and equity. Minor changes in
foreign exchange rates are not however, estimated to have any material effect
on the Group’s net profit or equity.

The financing of the investment in the Syvash wind farm is financed through an
EUR bond loan of EUR 75 million at a fixed interest rate of 13.5% per annum.

Sensitivity analysis of foreign exchange risk of the Group (EUR vs NOK and USD
vs NOK:

The acquisition of the Zophia wind farm project companies is financed through
a EUR bond loan with a current outstanding amount of EUR 20.975 million. The
loan carries no coupon interest but shall be repaid at 130% of par value at
maturity on 21 November 2021. Effective interest is calculated to 23%.

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Currency
USD
EUR

Assets Liabilities
554
(1)
181
(1 405)
735
(1 406)

Net
exposure
553
(1 224)
(671)

Change in
exchange Effect on
rate PBT +/0,5
32,4
0,5
(58,5)
(26,1)

2019
Effect
32,3
(49,3)
(17,0)

As the loans are with fixed interest rates this does not expose the Company to
any interest risk, except for changes in the fair market value of the bonds/loans.
The Group is exposed to the risk that the interest rate will differ from the interest
rate of the bonds when the bond loans mature and NBT needs to refinance.
The Group has not used interest rate derivatives to hedge the interest rate risk
at group level or at project level.
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(e) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterpart will not meet its obligation under a
financial instrument or a contract, leading to financial loss.
East Renewable AB has given a “stand-by-equity” loan of EUR 10 million to the
Syvash wind farm project through a loan arrangement to the joint venture
holding company East Renewable Ukraine AB. The “stand-by-equity” loan is
granted to the Syvash project as an “extra line” of security for the lenders of the
Syvash project in the circumstances there would be cost overruns for the
project. Our estimate is that this loan will be fully repaid. The Group has also
other receivables on the joint venture companies. The credit risk on the joint
venture companies are considered low, no credit losses has been recognized.
The construction of Syvash is nearly finished, and it has not been any indication
of cost overruns that needs to be paid by the “stand-by-equity” loan.
The renewable industry in China has throughout 2019 and 2020 experienced
considerable delays in payment of the subsidy element of the tariff to renewable
energy producers in China. As of year end 2020 our Chinese joint venture
companies have receivable for unpaid subsidies for more than one year. Total
unpaid balance amounts to RMB 147.4 million and RMB 56 million for the Linxi
and Baicheng joint venture respectively. The significant delay is caused by
underfunding of the central subsidy fund. No official statement has been
published on how this situation is to be dealt with. In the joint venture
companies’ financial statement, no provisions have been made related to the
unpaid subsidies and NBT expects the receivables eventually to be fully paid.

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

0-3 months

Due to the delay of the subsidy payments, NBT has an outstanding receivable
for approved dividend on the Linxi joint venture with NOK 20.1 million.
The Company’s bank deposits are held in solid Norwegian and international
banks.
(f) Financial and liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the cash flows from operating or financing activities
do not correspond to the Company’s financial obligations. The Group aims to
have sufficient liquidity to meet its foreseeable obligations, to secure adequate
capacity to develop new wind power projects and to cover unexpected liabilities.
Management has followed up the liquidity situation closely during 2020. The
Company engages in a continuous dialogue with its shareholders, lenders and
potential investors regarding financing. The activities of the Group are capital
intensive and as the Group’s development is still in an early stage, the dividend
from the existing joint ventures does not cover the Group’s operational costs,
development costs and investments in the Group’s project portfolio.
The Group’s interest-bearing loans of NOK 1.874 million had a maturity in March
and May. The maturity has been postponed to August and November 2021,
please refer to note 16 Interest-bearing Debt and Conversion Rights for more
information and information as part of Going Concern in note 4 Significant
accounting estimates and assumptions.
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities as at 31 December 2020
in relevant maturity categories

3-12
months

12-24 months

24-36
months

121 176
122 190
243 366

249 968
249 968

More than
36 months

Total

31.12.2020
Trade and other payables
Deferred payment to the sellers of Zophia
Interest and repayment of interest-bearing loans
Total

48 616
507
49 123

22 228
95 657
1 870 324
1 988 209

13 865
3 412
17 277

86 731
348 661
1 874 243
2 309 635

3.2 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial assets are categorised in the two categories, financial assets at amortised cost and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVOPL), please refer
to note 2.9 for more information.
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Classification of financial assets and liabilities

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Financial instruments
at fair value through
profit and loss

Financial instruments
at
amortised cost

Total

31.12.2020
Assets
Debt instruments
Other long-term receivables and
prepayments
Other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total financial assets

-

117 817
58 576
13 450
189 843

117 817
58 576
13 450
189 843

24 300
-

3 412
1 870 831

3 412
24 300
1 870 831

348 661
372 961

86 731
1 960 974

348 661
86 731
2 333 935

Liabilities
Interest bearing loans and borrowings
Long-term interest-bearing debt
Conversion rights
Short-term interest-bearing debt
Other financial liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Contingent liability business combination
Trade and other short-term payables
Total financial liabilities

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Financial instruments
at fair value through
profit and loss

Financial instruments
at
amortized cost

Total

31.12.2019
Assets
Debt instruments
Other long-term receivables and
prepayments
Other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

-

124 927
74 680
69 226

124 927
74 680
69 226

Total financial assets

-

268 833

268 833

27 850
-

733 322
723 268

733 322
27 850
723 268

308 784
336 634

70 921
1 527 511

308 784
70 921
1 864 145

Liabilities
Interest bearing loans and borrowings
Long-term interest-bearing debt
Conversion rights
Short-term interest-bearing debt
Other financial liabilities
Contingent liability business combination
Trade and other short-term payables
Total financial liabilities

Contingent liability business combination classified as financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are deferred payment to sellers of the Zophia project.
The fair value of deferred payment is measured within the fair value hierarchy level 3. Refer to note 5 Acquisition of Zophia and note 17 Contingent Liability Business
Combination for further information.
3.3 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
For the purpose of the Group’s capital management, capital includes issued
capital, share premium and all other equity reserves attributable to the equity of
the parent. The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to
maximise the shareholder value.

projects. Equity is also from time to time raised from third parties at the project
level, diluting NBT’s holding in the specific projects.

Projects
Development and construction of renewable energy projects are capital
intensive and normally require 25-30 percent equity financing. Senior debt is
raised directly by the project company. Equity for project companies is provided
by NBT via intercompany loans to its respective subsidiaries investing in the

Equity
The Group has been financed through equity, convertible loans and bonds.
Because of the capital-intensive nature of the Group’s business, NBT is
dependent on raising equity or debt to fund development and construction of
renewable energy projects, as the Group’s current capital base is not considered
sufficient.

NBT’s objective is to have sufficient capital available at the holding company level
to fund its share of the equity requirement.
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NOTE 4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
JUDGEMENTS
The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period. However,
uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes
that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability
affected in future periods.
ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the reporting date that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year, are described below. The Group based its assumptions and
estimates on parameters available when the consolidated financial statements
were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future
developments may change due to market changes or circumstances arising
beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions
when they occur.
CORRECTION OF ERROR IN FUNCTIONAL CURRENCY
The functional currency of the Syvashenergoprom LLC (ownership 46,5%), has
changed from Ukrainian Hryvnia (UAH) to Euros (EUR). Transactions in EUR
increased significantly at financial close of the project and the relevance of
transactions in UAH decreased. After the analysis of all facts and circumstances
(including the fact that the green tariff in Ukraine is linked to the EUR) it was
concluded that the dominance of EUR was not a temporary situation, and the
functional currency was changed from UAH to EUR. The change in functional
currency was brought about by a changed circumstance in 2019, and the
conclusion is that functional currency according to IAS 21 was EUR from this
point. In the Consolidated Statement 2019 UAH was used as functional currency
and some amounts reported in the previous year have been restated to correct
this error. The error resulted in an understatement of income from joint
ventures and an overstatement of investment in the venture.
During 2018 NBT developed the Syvash wind farm and was working to obtain
project financing and equity financing for the project. As a part of providing the
equity financing for the Syvash wind farm, East Renewable AB entered an
agreement with the French renewable energy company Total Eren SA (TE) to
inject the equity for Syvash project through ERU. In January 2019 the parties
signed the project financing documents for the wind farm and subsequently the
parties obtained financial closing for the project of which NBT’s lost its
controlling ownership in the wind farm. NBT’s control over the Syvash wind farm
ceased late January 2019.
The circumstance changing the functional currency was financial Close of the
project, and this event is assessed to be coincide with the change in ownership
in January 2019.
The change in functional currency has been corrected by restating each of the
affected financial statement line items for the prior period as follows, the
change in functional currency have no effect on the information in the
statement of financial position at the beginning of 2019:

(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Investments in associates
and joint ventures
Total non-current assets

Translation differences
Accumulated losses
Total equity

31.12.2019

Increase/
(Decrease)

31.12.2019
(Restated)

779 879

(64 085)

715 794

1 321 973

(64 085)

1 257 887

107 554

(12 027)

95 528

(1 025 744)

(52 058)

(1 077 802)

(378 705)

(64 085)

(442 789)

31.12.2019

Increase/
(Decrease)

31.12.2019
(Restated)

(13 792)

(52 058)

(65 850)

Profit/(Loss) before tax

(1 464)

(52 058)

(53 522)

Profit/(Loss) for the period

(5 144)

(52 058)

(57 202)

Exchange differences on
translation of foreign
operations

18 649

(12 027)

6 623

Other comprehensive income
for the year, net of tax

18 649

(12 027)

6 623

Total comprehensive income
for the year, net of tax

13 505

(64 085)

(50 579)

(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Income/(loss) from
associates and joint ventures

Basic and diluted earnings per share for the prior year have also been restated.
The amount for basic and diluted earnings per share was decrease of NOK 1.54
and NOK 1.89 per share respectively.
For detailed information related to associated companies please see restated
information in Note 7 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures.
GOING CONCERN
As at 31 December 2020 the Group has total interest-bearing debt of NOK 1.874
billion. The interest-bearing debt matures at 31 August 2021 and 21 November
2021.
The Group’s continued operations depend on successful refinancing of the debt
and on its ability to fund operations. As such the going concern assumption on
which the financial statement is prepared, hinges entirely on the company’s
ability to refinance and/or raise new equity.
The Group is currently in the process of raising equity EUR 400 mill to fund
Zophia I and Zophia II in Ukraine, its development activities and for general
corporate purposes. The Company is working with its largest shareholders and
its advisors to complete the equity raise in July 2021. Should the equity raise be
unsuccessful in whole or in part, there is a risk that the assets of the Group will
be impaired and that the Group will not be able to meet its ongoing obligations.
The Group is in the process of refinancing its debt obligations. The EUR 75 million
green bond issued by East Renewable AB has been extended to 21 November
2021 and is planned to be refinanced though the issuance of a new corporate
bond. The EUR 25 million bond issued by East Renewable Zophia Super Holdco
AB is planned to be refinanced through funds repaid to the Group at financial
close of Zophia. The two corporate bonds issued by the Company and the NOK
122.3 million loan are planned to be refinanced through issuance of a new bond
or converted to equity when the Group is raising equity for the Zophia project.
Based on this the board has concluded that the going concern principle as
outlined in section 3-3 of the Norwegian Accounting Act and IAS1.25 can be
applied, and the board therefore confirms that the consolidated financial
statement and the financial statement of the parent company have been based
on the going concern assumption.
Should the expected transaction, or a similar transaction, for any reason, fail to
materialize, the conditions for the going concern assumption is materially
jeopardized. In such an event the board would immediately need to seek
alternative ways to re-finance and/or raise new equity from other sources. In an
event that the company is not able to refinance, postpone due dates for its loans
and/or raise enough capital there is a risk that projects cannot be realised and
that the book value of assets will be eroded.
During the first quarter of 2021 Syvashenergoprom LLC signed an amended
power purchase agreement with the Guaranteed Buyer, the Ukrainian off-taker
for electricity generated by renewable energy. The amendment is mandatory for
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all renewable energy producers in Ukraine. Due to the short deadline for signing
imposed by the Guaranteed Buyer, the amendment was signed without consent
of the lenders, which under the Common Terms Agreement (“CTA”) constitutes
a breach of undertakings, which is an event of default if not cured or waived.
Syvashenergoprom LLC has requested EBRD to waive the breach. Such waiver
has not been obtained as of the reporting date, and the company is working with
EBRD to resolve the issue. This situation is not project specific as EBRD has
declined to approve the PPA amendment or provide a waiver across its loan
portfolio in Ukraine. Over multiple interactions with the Company, EBRD has
indicated that it has no intention to take any steps that will prevent
Syvashenergoprom LLC from drawing debt or reaching Commercial Operations
Date (COD). NBT does not expect this event to have any material impact on the
Syvash wind farm.
The green bond loan, senior secured and the senior secured convertible loan
includes cross default provisions, and the default in Syvashenergoprom LLC
triggered disclosures to the bondholders of these loans. The bond holders were
notified on 30 May 2021. The Company has not received any notice from the
bond holders and expect no impact on the repayment of the loans.
IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT OF INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATED COMPANIES
AND JOINT VENTURES
Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount, expressed as the assets fair value. The fair value
calculation is based on a discounted cash flow model. The cash flows are derived
from the budget for the life of the asset. The valuation of wind power projects
is most sensitive to the wind conditions (power generation), curtailment rate
and the discount rate. In previous years there have been indications of a
potential impairment related to the Baicheng wind farm. However, the positive
development in 2019 and 2020 in connection with the relative low book value
of the investment (accounted for according to the equity method), NBT is now
of the opinion that there are no indications of any further impairment of the
investment. Please refer to note 7 Investments in Joint Ventures for further
information of this assessment.
IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT GOODWILL
Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount, expressed as the fair value of the assets. The
fair value calculation is based on a discounted cash flow model. The cash flows
are derived from the budget for the life of the asset.
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Further details are outlined in note 9 Impairment testing of Goodwill.
ASSESSMENT OF FAIR VALUE OF DEFERRED ACQUISITION COST FOR THE
ZOPHIA PROJECT
In September 2019 NBT gained control over the Zophia wind farm project
companies located in the Zaphorizhia region in the south east of Ukraine. The
total acquisition consideration is payment for lease rights (land plots), gridconnection agreements, pre power purchase agreement and all rights to
develop and construct wind farms for a total capacity of 787.5 MW (adjusted in
2021).
The total purchase price depends on the capacity of the projects that are
financed and constructed. The expected purchase price is calculated based on
an assessment of the capacity to be realized in the most likely scenario.
The assumptions are based on management’s best knowledge at the time of
preparation of the consolidated financial statement for 2020.
Further information is outlined in note 5 Acquisition of Project Zophia.
The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurements,
together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2020 are
provided in note17 Contingent Liability Business Combination, together with an
reconciliation of the fair value of the liability at year end.
CONVERSION RIGHTS
For the convertible loans, the conversion rights are separated from its host
financial instrument and recognised as a separate financial instrument in the
consolidated financial statement.
Conversion rights given to bondholders/lenders are recognised in the balance
sheet as a liability upon the issuance of the loan and measured at the fair value
at the time of issuance in accordance with level 3 in the value hierarchy
described in note 3 Financial Risk Management.
Changes in fair value of the conversion rights are recognised in the profit or loss.
Further information of the assumptions in the valuations are described in note
16 Interest-bearing debt and Conversion rights.

NOTE 5 ACQUISITION OF PROJECT ZOPHIA
In September 2019 the Group gained control (99,99% of voting shares) over the
Zophia wind farm project companies located in the Zaphorizhia region in the
southeast of Ukraine (the “Zophia Project”). The total acquisition consideration
is payment for lease rights (land plots), grid-connection agreements, power
purchase agreement and all rights to develop and construct wind farms for a
total capacity of 492.5 MW and additional capacity of 250 MW. The rights/land
plots are divided in three projects companies: Azovinvestprom LLC (AIP) for
Zophia I, Azovpromenergo LLC (APE) for Zophia II and Zophia III LLC for Zophia
III. The total purchase price was allocated to the three project companies based
on installed capacity.
Even though grid-connection and permits for the right to construct the
additional 250 MW was signed by the end of 2019, the estimated purchase price
and allocation calculated in the Financial Statement of 2019 did not estimate
any value of this additional asset. Based on an overall assessment of all facts and
circumstances it is concluded that the value of these additional rights should
have been part of the estimated purchase price of the Zophia project and part
of the cost allocation performed in 2019.
The financial statement of 2019 has been restated because of this error.
According to the purchase agreement the sellers had an option to receive cash
depending on different factors including installed capacity pro rata or they could
choose 15% ownership in the three project companies. The option to secure

15% shares in the project companies automatically included total capacity, while
the cash option was unclear related to the definition of capacity. Based on this,
it was by a mistake only used permitted capacity (492.5 MW), instead of total
capacity of 742.5 MW, when estimating total purchase price.
After several amendments, the agreement has been updated to clarify the
uncertainty regards cash consideration and calculation based on pro rata
capacity. The total capacity described in the updated purchase agreement totals
to 792.5 MW, the deviation of 50MW relates to a change in the additional
capacity from 250 MW to 300 MW. Further, the option for the seller to become
15% owners in the project companies is removed from the updated amended
purchase agreement, this change has no impact on the purchase price
calculation, because the overall assessment was calculated based on an
expectation of settlement in cash.
The error in total purchase price will affect development rights, goodwill,
deferred tax liabilities, fair value of payment to the sellers, fair value
adjustments in profit and loss and translation differences as part of equity.
Details regarding the restatement because of this error is explained in
respectively notes, please refer to note 8 Intangible Assets and 17 Contingent
Liability Business Combination.
As disclosed in the financial statement of 2019 estimated purchase price (cash
consideration) is depended on Financial Close of the projects. The Group is still
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of the opinion that the total capacity of Zophia projects will be financed and
constructed. Financial close for Zophia I and Zophia II is expected in July 2021.
Zophia III is planned to close in two tranches, of which the first tranche of 150
MW is expected to close under the feed-in tariff. The remaining 300 MW
capacity in Zophia III is expected to be finalized later and will not complete
construction to receive the feed-in-tariff. If financial close of any of the Zophia
Project has not occurred on or before 1 July 2021, the seller of that project will
have a right (but no obligation) to purchase back 15% of the shares in the project
companies holding the Zophia Projects for a purchase price of EUR 1 or,
alternatively but in lieu of that right, to request a MEUR 4.5 payment for the
failure to reach a financial close. . NBT is negotiating the agreement with the
sellers of Zophia to change the date of 1 July to 1. September. In the opinion of
Company, the discussion is a formality, and there is a very small risk for the date
not to be agreed to be in line with the expected dates of Financial Close of the
project.
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73% of the unpaid purchase price are due at financial close and 27% at the
commercial operations date for each of the three Zophia projects. The
estimated unpaid purchase price is measured at fair value and is discounted with
a rate of 7,6 percent. The unpaid purchase price is recognized as non-current
contingent liability business combination and current contingent liability
business combination in the consolidated statement of financial position. Stage
payments estimated for payment during 2021 is classified as current liabilities
and stage payments estimated for payment later than 31st December 2021 are
classified as other long-term liabilities. The significant unobservable inputs used
in the fair value measurements, together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis
as at 31 December 2020 are provided in note17Contingent Liability Business
combination, together with a reconciliation of the fair value of the liability at
year end.
Please see the restated allocation for the purchase price below, the total change
is allocated to Zophia III:

Allocation of cost price for the acquisition consideration
Consideration
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Cash consideration paid
Deferred cash consideration at fair value

Total

Increase/ (decrease)

Total (2019 restated)

71 961
219 686

86 411

71 961
306 097

Total acquisition cost

291 647

86 411

378 058

Net cash outflow on acquisition
Cash consideration paid
Cash and cash equivalent balances acquired

71 961
225

-

71 961
225

Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiaries

71 736

-

71 736

6 319

-

6 319

78 055

-

78 055

Loans given to the project companies from NBT prior to acquisition and applied in the
project company
Total cash payment in connection with the acquisition

The entire excess value is attributable to project development rights and classified as intangible assets. The allocation of purchase price is final.
Total

Increase/ (decrease)

Total (2019 restated)

Project developments rights
Property, plant & equipment
Other current receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

293 026
5 282
1 062
225

86 411
-

379 437
5 282
1 062
225

Total assets

299 595
64 323
7 948

86 411
18 968
-

386 006
83 291
7 948

(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisitions (fair value)

Deferred tax
Current liabilities
Total liabilities
Total identifiable net assets at fair value

(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Goodwill arising on acquisition
Total consideration
Fair value of net identifiable assets acquired
Goodwill arising on acquisition

72 271

18 968

91 239

227 324

67 443

294 767

Total

Increase/ (decrease)

Total (2019 restated)

291 647
(227 324)

86 411
(67 443)

378 058
(294 767)

64 323

18 968

83 291

Goodwill relates to deferred tax liabilities for the excess values recognised in the business combination. The offsetting entry to this deferred tax is goodwill. Hence,
goodwill arises as a technical effect of deferred tax (“technical goodwill”).

25 NBT Annual report 2020

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

NOTE 6 SEGMENT INFORMATION
NBT has currently four business segments according to IFRS 8 Operating
segments. The Group’s main business is development of renewable energy
projects, which currently consists of wind power projects and development
projects in Ukraine and China. In addition, the Group has its corporate activities,
the corporate activities include all development activities for projects that are
not formalised into a project company. The operating segment are determined
based on differences in nature and geographic.
The wind power China operating segment includes the ownership in Linxi- and
Baicheng wind farm. These are both wind farms under operations located in
China. Management repots received from China equals to the financial
statement. The financial data presented below equal 100% of the finance
information and the reported numbers are eliminated in the consolidated
statement.
The wind power activities in Ukraine were initiated in 2017. After the acquisition
of the project company, Syvashenergoprom LLC, was formally done in 2018 the

reporting structure was changed, and Ukrainian business was reported as a
segment. In 2019 the acquisition of Zophia-projects, in Ukraine, was included in
the same segment as Syvash. From 2020 these two projects have been
separated to different segments, as they are in different stages of completion.
The Syvash project was under construction in 2020, while the Zophia projects
have been under development. The comparable numbers for 2019 is restated in
the table below. Syvash wind farm became a joint venture in 2019. Reported
and presented number for this project-segment equals to 100% of financial
information of the joint venture. Reported number for the joint venture is
eliminated to get Group consolidated numbers.
The holding company functions in Norway, Cyprus, Singapore and Hong Kong
are included in the corporate segment. Corporate consist of the activities of
corporate and management services, including Group finance. The activities in
Pakistan are in the process of being closed down and in also included in the
corporate segment. The amounts are furthermore immaterial to the Group
accounts.

2020
Wind power,
China
209 560
7 547
(137 091)

Wind power,
Syvash, Ukraine
8 798
51 610
(804)
(154 375)

Wind power,
Zophia, Ukraine
5 446
(18 406)

Corporate
19
48 634
(12 292)
(131 744)

Eliminations
(218 358)
(59 157)
(48 634)
7 650
330 810

Consolidated
19
(110 806)

Operating profit
Income from associates and JVs
Net financial items

80 016
(48 876)

(94 771)
(143 566)

(12 960)
(64 213)

(95 383)
(110 561)

12 311
(13 182)
62 754

(110 787)
(13 182)
(304 462)

Profit/(loss) before tax
Tax expenses

31 140
(7 886)

(238 337)
101 161

(77 173)
2 935

(205 944)
-

61 883
(93 275)

(428 431)
2 935

Net profit/(loss)

23 254

(137 176)

(74 238)

(205 944)

(31 392)

(425 496)

29
31 742
946 533
330 951

112 939
3 262 179
104 703
693 165

2 699
388 186
152 405
38 184
23 794

1 611
355
784 293
96 675

(112 968)
(31 742)
(4 208 712)
(808 409)
742 468
(1 073 511)

2 699
389 797
152 760
118 771
742 468
71 074

1 309 255

4 172 986

605 268

882 934

(5 492 874)

1 477 569

2 209 434
1 543 893

69 878
99 079
576 759

808 399
913 802

(3 787 932)
(975 035)

69 878
99 069
2 234 866

(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Sales revenues
Other revenues
Intercompany Mngt. service Income
Intercompany Mngt. service cost
Operating expenses

Deferred tax assets
Intangible assets
Tangible assets
Non-current assets
Shares in joint ventures
Current assets
Total assets
Deferred tax liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

770 089
175 447
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2019
Wind power,
China
193 026
7 109
(122 126)

Wind power,
Syvash, Ukraine
3 596
79
(98 068)

Wind power,
Zophia, Ukraine
(10 315)

Corporate
76 053
229 796
11 000
(46 606)

Eliminations
(196 514)
(7 188)
(11 000)
217 619

Consolidated
108
76 053
229 796
(59 496)

Operating profit
Income from associates and JVs
Net financial items

78 009
(50 166)

(94 393)
(157 268)

(10 315)
(14 959)

270 243
(64 260)

2 917
(65 850)
50 166

246 461
(65 850)
(236 487)

Result before tax
Tax expenses

27 843
(6 961)

(251 661)
(7 427)

(25 274)
-

205 983
(3 670)

(12 767)
14 378

(55 876)
(3 680)

Net profit/(loss)

20 882

(259 088)

(25 274)

202 313

1 611

(59 556)

25 651
980 803
19 816
298 906

75 059
54 804

480 489
41 079
44 789

460
3 631
70 723
42 986

(25 651)
(980 803)
715 794
(39 741)
(298 511)

480 949
44 710
715 794
125 857
142 974

1 325 176

129 863

566 357

117 800

(628 912)

1 510 284

720 133
15 309

86 488
349 445
134 573

387 012
270 059

(737 872)
(266 711)

86 488
1 456 590
407 555

(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Sales revenues
Other revenues
Gain exit Syvash as subsidiary
Management service fees
Operating expenses excl. impairment

Intangible assets
Tangible assets
Shares in joint ventures
Other non-current assets 1)
Current assets
Total assets
Deferred tax liabilities
Interest bearing liabilities 2)
Other liabilities

737 872
254 325

Geographic segments
The Group’s projects are located in China and Ukraine, and the geographical information is therefore equivalent to the operating segments presented above.
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NOTE 7 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES
Carrying value of investments in associates and joint ventures
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Linxi JV
Baicheng JV
ERU group JV
Total
Recognised profit and loss from investments in associates and joint ventures
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Linxi JV
Baicheng JV
ERU group JV
Total

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

196 647
16 348
529 473
742 468

175 943
18 750
521 101
715 794

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

15 232
(3 187)
(25 227)
(13 182)

13 002
(2 113)
(76 739)
(65 850)

Baicheng wind farm
The Baicheng I wind farm in the Jilin province in China is 100 percent owned by NBT Energy Ltd, Hong Kong. NBT has a 33 percent shareholding in NBT Energy Ltd.
Investments in associates are recognised according to the equity method.
Name

Country of incorporation

Acquired

Equity interest

Hong Kong

2010

33%

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Carrying value at 1 January
Share of result for the year
Foreign currency effects

18 750
(3 187)
785

20 876
(2 113)
(13)

Total carrying value of the investment 31 December

16 348

18 750

NBT Energy Ltd
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Loan to NBT Energy:
The Chinese project company for Baicheng I is owned by NBT Energy, Hong Kong.
NBT has financed NBT Energy through a USD 9.9 million interest free loan and
the joint venture partner has contributed an interest free loan proportionate to
their ownership in NBT Energy. The plan was to convert these loans to equity,
but this was not formalised. The substance of the loan has the characteristics of
an equity investment. Based on this NBT has classified the loan as a part of the
investment in the joint venture company.
Impairment testing:

The investment in the Baicheng windfarm was tested for impairment at the
end of 2020. The valuation is within level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.

When testing for impairment, management used an income approach,
applying a discounted cash flow to equity model. The discounted cashflow is
performed until the year 2033, corresponding to the useful life of the wind
power plant.
The following key assumptions were used for the value-in-use calculations:

•
•
•
•

Merchant power price curve0,61 RMB/kWh
Production volume: 49,5MW
Load factor (utilization rate): 24%
Discount rate: 6,5%

No impairment losses were identified in 2020, as the determined recoverable
amount was above the carrying value.

Summary of financial information for NBT Energy, including Baicheng (100 percent basis):
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

2020

2019

370 096
95 374
465 470
3 868
350 037
111 565
465 470

395 527
74 528
470 055
11 892
355 684
102 479
470 055

Revenues

68 346

65 291

Result for the year

(8 805)

(5 606)

NBT’s share of profit in the joint venture
Depreciation of capitalised development fees
Recognised share of result from Baicheng

(2 905)
(282)
(3 187)

(1 849)
(264)
(2 113)

Non-current assets
Current assets
Total assets
Equity
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Total liabilities and equity
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Linxi wind farm
The Linxi I and Linxi II wind farms are located in Inner Mongolia and have a capacity of 50 MW each. Linxi I was commissioned in February 2011 while Linxi II had 20
turbines commissioned in June 2012 and the remaining 5 commissioned in November 2012. Both wind farms are owned by the same p roject company. The project
company is owned by NBT with 49% and its joint venture partner Datang with 51%.
Name
Linxi

Country of incorporation
China

Acquired
2010

Equity interest
49%

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

175 942
15 232
5 473
196 647

199 018
13 002
(35 986)
(91)
175 943

2020

2019

Non-current assets
Current assets
Total assets
Equity
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Total liabilities and equity

608 208
235 577
843 785
359 851
420 052
63 882
843 785

627 743
224 378
852 121
318 087
382 188
151 846
852 121

Revenues

148 761

134 844

Result for the year

32 059

27 443

NBT’s share of profit in the joint venture
Depreciation of capitalised development fees
Recognised share of result from Linxi

15 709
(477)
15 232

13 448
(446)
13 002

(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Carrying value at 1 January
Share of result for the year
Dividend
Foreign currency effects
Carrying value at 31 December
Impairment testing of the investment in Linxi

The Linxi wind farm operates according to expectations, and there are no indications of impairment.
Summary of financial information for Linxi (100 percent basis)
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

East Renewable Ukraine AB Group (the Syvash wind farm)
East Renewable Ukraine AB (ERU) is the indirect holding company for
Syvashenergoprom LLC, the project company for the Syvash wind farm. The
wind farm is located in the Kherson region, South in Ukraine. NBT acquired the
project company in April 2018. During 2018 NBT developed the wind farm and
was working to obtain project financing and equity financing for the project. In
January 2019 ERU ceased to be a subsidiary of the NBT Group and became a
joint venture that is accounted for according to the equity method. The joint
venture holding company is owned 46.5% by the NBT Group and 53.5% by New
Wind 1 SA that is controlled by the French renewable energy company Total

Name

Eren SA and the Saudi Arabian Al Gihaz Group. Total gain on the sale of 53.5% of
the Syvash wind farm was estimated to NOK 229.796 million, and was
recognized as other income in 2019. The Group has ordinary shares in ERU, while
Total Eren holds preference shares. The preference shares have a downside
protection related to distributable profit. The start date of the downsideprotection is linked to the EPC contract. At year end 2020 the start date was
estimated to November 2020, and calculate dividend entitled to Total Eren
before the Group will receive their part of the profit is EUR 2.132 million (NOK
22.889 million). The loss from the joint venture is adjusted with this amount.

Country of incorporation

Acquired

Equity interest

Sweden/Ukraine

2019

46,5 %

Carrying value at 1 January
Additions
Share of result for the year
Other changes
Foreign currency effects

521 101
(2 338)
(22 889)
33 599

582 921
(76 739)
19 928
(5 009)

Carrying value at 31 December

529 473

521 101

East Renewable Ukraine Group

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Impairment testing of the investment in Syvash
The investment in Syvash wind farm was tested for impairment at the end of 2020. The valuation is within level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.
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When testing for impairment, management used an income approach, applying a discounted cash flow to equity model. The discounted cashflow is performed over
a period of 15 years, corresponding to the warranty, maintenance and service agreement (WMSA) with the turbine supplier. The valuation was performed by
independent valuation experts.
The following key assumptions were used for the value-in-use calculations:

•
•
•
•
•

Total Investment: EUR 376 million
Merchant power price curve: AFRY base case
Production volume: 245,7 MW
Load factor (utilization rate): 41,5%
Discount rate: 12%

No impairment losses were identified in 2020, as the determined recoverable amount was significantly above the carrying value.

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

2020

2019

3 375 133
686 538
4 061 670
1 108 637
2 209 432
743 601
4 061 670

1 395 363
1 293 046
2 688 408
983 362
1 621 510
83 537
2 688 408

-

-

(5 028)

(88 346)

NBT’s share of profit in the joint venture
Adjustments for preference shares
Revenue reported in NBT Group 1)

(2 338)
(22 889)
-

(41 085)
(35 654)

Recognised share of result from ERABG

(25 227)

(76 739)

Non-current assets
Current assets
Total assets
Equity
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Total liabilities and equity
Revenues
Result for the year

1) NBT AS has invoiced a development fee to Syvash, for work related to development and financing for the Syvash wind farm project, amounted to NOK 76,7 million (EUR 8million). The
invoiced amount have been capitalised in the joint venture. NBT’s share of the capitalised value, have reduced the booked value of the investment and the income from JV respectively, with
35.6 million. The value will be depreciated according to useful life of Syvash wind farm.

Agreements with New Wind related to shares in ERU
East Renewable AB has entered an agreement with New Wind that gives this
company a right to convert the preference shares to ordinary shares in ERU in
October 2022. The agreement stipulates that if the conversion right is exercised
all shares must be converted. Furthermore, the agreement stipulates that New
Wind may be entitled to additional shares based on a pre agreed calculation
model for the Syvash project. The effect of the conversion may be that East
Renewable AB’s shareholding of ordinary shares in ERU will be lower than 46.5%
of the total issued ordinary shares subsequent to full conversion of the
preference shares. The potential dilution effect is subject to a number of factors
including an updated energy yield assessment, updated operating costs and
other pre-defined parameters in the calculation model.
New Wind’s option to sell its shares in ERU to East Renewable AB
If New Wind decides not to convert the class B shares to ordinary shares I ERU,
New Wind has a right to sell 99.99% of its holding of the preference shares in
ERU to East Renewable AB. The option exercise date is the later of 31 October

2022 and two years following COD (“Completion of Delivery”) for the Syvash
wind farm as defined in the project financing agreement for the wind farm. The
option price shall equal New Winds average purchase price for the ERU shares
plus any accrued dividend on the shares. The agreement furthermore facilitates
a seller’s credit agreement to be given from New Wind with pre agreed interest
terms and repayment terms. The execution of the option agreement will be
subject to consent from the lenders to the non-course project financing for the
Syvash wind farm.
NBT has made an updated estimate of the implicit option value given to New
Wind at year end 2020. The fair value estimates are made according to IFRS 13
and is based on a number of unobservable inputs (level 3 inputs in the valuation
hierarchy). A Black & Scholes model is applied as the basis for the calculated
value. The value is considered to be immaterial to the financial statement for
the Company. Hence, the option has not been recognized in the financial
statement. The project is in the final stage, and updated estimates calculate the
value of preference share to be higher, compared to the ordinary shares.
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NOTE 8 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Because of an error in the estimate and calculation of purchase cost of the Zophia projects the value of goodwill and Development rights in 2019 has been restated.
For more information, please refer to note 5 Acquisition of Project Zophia. The table below shows the correction of the error affected financial statement line
Goodwill and Development rights.
Intangible assets
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Cost
At 1 January 2019
Additions at cost
Additions through acquisitions
Disposals at cost *
Currency translation effects
At 31 December 2019

Total intangible
assets

92 124
460
357 349
(92 124)
13 716
371 525

Increase Goodwill

Increase Project
development rights

86 411

18 968

3 317
89 728

728
19 696

Total intangible
assets (restated)

92 124
460
462 728
(92 124)
17 761
480 949

In the table below, all numbers are restated.
Intangible assets
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Goodwill

Project
development rights

Cost
At 1 January 2019
Additions at cost
Additions through acquisitions
Disposals at cost *
Currency translation effects
At 31 December 2019
Additions at cost
Additions through acquisitions
Disposals at cost *
Currency translation effects
At 31 December 2020

14 844
83 291
(14 844)
3 197
86 488
(16 610)
69 878

67 626
379 437
(67 626)
14 564
394 001
(75 693)
318 308

Software

460
460
1 223
1 683

Total intangible
assets

92 124
460
462 728
(92 124)
17 761
480 949
1 223
(92 303)
389 869

Amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2019
Amortisation
Impairment
Currency translation effects
At 31 December 2019
Amortisation
Impairment
Currency translation effects

-

-

(72)
-

(72)
-

At 31 December 2020

-

-

(72)

(72)

Net book value
At 31 December 2019
At 31 December 2020

86 488
69 878

394 001
318 308

Economic life
Amortization method

NA
NA

NA
NA

460
1 611

480 949
389 797

3-5 years
Linear

The goodwill and development rights are associated with the acquisition of Zophia project in Ukraine. Development rights is the entire excess value attributable to
the purchased identifiable assets. Goodwill relates to deferred tax liabilities for the excess values recognised in the business combination. The offsetting entry to this
deferred tax is goodwill. Hence, goodwill arises as a technical effect of deferred tax (“technical goodwill”).
*In January the ownership in Syvashhenergoprom LLC changed from 100% to 46,5%. The loss of control was treated as a disposal, and the investment was recognized
according to the equity method. See note 7 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures.
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NOTE 9 IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOOWILL
The Group has the following goodwill arising from the acquisition of Zophia project:
Goodwill
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Total goodwill
The Group has identified the cash generating unit (“CGU”) as the total Zophia
project, this CGU is allocated for impairment testing of goodwill acquired
through business combinations. The goodwill and the related assets are the
first investments in a construction project (three plants Zophia I, Zophia II
and Zophia III), which will require substantial investments and funding in the
next 2-3 years to finance the construction and realize earnings.
Goodwill was tested for impairment at the end of 2020. The valuation is
within level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.
When testing for impairment, management used an income approach,
applying a discounted cash flow to equity model. The discounted cashflow is
performed over a period of 30 years, corresponding to the useful life of the
wind power plant. The valuation was performed by independent valuation
experts.

The following key assumptions were used for the value-in-use
calculations:

•
•
•
•
•

Total investments: 2021; EUR 735 million, 2022: EUR 598.5
million, 2023: EUR 62.2 million
Merchant power price curve: 86.6 to 116.3 EUR/MWh for a period
of 30 years
Production volume: Zophia I: 40.5MW, Zophia II: 297MW and
Zophia III: 450MW
Load factor (utilization rate): Zophia I: 41.62%, Zophia II: 42.90%
and Zophia III: 44.34%
Discount rate: 9%

2020
69 878

2019
86 488

No impairment losses were identified in 2020, as the determined
recoverable amount was significantly above the carrying value.
Sensitivity analysis
The calculation of fair value less cost to sell is based on several discretionary
assessments and assumptions pertaining to future cash flows, where future
power prices, production volumes and the discount rate are critical factors.
Any reasonably possible changes in the key assumptions would not cause the
aggregate carrying amount exceeding the recoverable amount.
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NOTE 10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Wind power plant
under
development

35 269
5 032
35 563
(35 269)
193
40 788
126 799
2 527
(26 528)
143 586

Equipment

Fixtures and
fittings

Total property,
plant and
equipment

12 086
250
67
(8 334)
(2 667)
(381)
1 021
625
743
(764)
1 625

43
486
1
530
86
67
(25)
658

47 398
5 282
36 116
(43 603)
(2 667)
(187)
42 339
127 510
3 337
(27 317)
145 869

Cost
At 1 January 2019
Additions through acquisitions
Additions
Disposals
Disposals at cost due to deconsolidation of subsidiaries
Reclassifications
Currency translation effect
At 31 December 2019
Additions through acquisitions
Additions
Reclassifications
Currency translation effect
At 31 December 2020

Depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2019
Ordinary deprecation for the year
Disposals
Disposals accumulated depreciation due to deconsolidation of subsidiaries
Currency translation effect
At 31 December 2019
Ordinary depreciation for the year
Reclassifications
Currency translation effect

-

1 625
(33)
8 334
911
665
(731)
(437)
487
105

(35)
(37)
(72)
(220)
(6)
18

(10 643)
(70)
8 334
911
665
(803)
(657)
481
123

At 31 December 2020

-

(576)

(280)

(856)

Net book value
At 31 December 2019
At 31 December 2020

Economic life
Depreciation

40 788
143 586

290
1 049

458
378

NA
NA

3-5 years
Straight-line

3-5 years
Straight-line

Development cost related to the Syvash wind farm was deconsolidated in 2019 due to new ownership structure.

41 537
145 013
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NOTE 11 LEASES

Right-of-use assets
The Group has few assets under lease agreements, mainly low value leases. Other than the office facility in Norway, lease of offices, land and vehicles in Ukraine is
assessed to meet the principals in IFRS 16.
The Group's right-of-use assets are categorized and presented in the table below:
Right-of-use-assets
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Acquisition cost 1 January 2019
Adjustments acquisition cost
Addition of right-of-use assets
Disposals
Transfers and reclassifications
Currency exchange differences
Acquisition cost 31 December 2019
Adjustments acquisition cost
Addition of right-of-use assets
Disposals
Transfers and reclassifications
Currency exchange differences
Acquisition cost 31 December 2020

Accumulated depreciation and impairment 1 January 2019
Adjustments depreciation
Depreciation
Impairment losses in the period
Disposals
Transfers and reclassifications
Currency exchange differences
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 31 December 2019

Buildings
3 438
3 808
(3 438)
3 808
101
57
(15)
3 951

(2 674)
(1 399)
3 438
(635)

Plant
-

Other
equipment

Total

-

3 438
3 808
(3 438)
-

-

3 808

97
7 187
(16)
(980)

32
409
(61)

230
7 653
(16)
(1 056)

6 288

380

10 619

-

-

(2 674)
(1 399)
3 438
-

-

(635)

-

Adjustments depreciation
Depreciation
Impairment losses in the period
Disposals
Transfers and reclassifications
Currency exchange differences

(2)
(1 995)
7

(97)
(121)
36

(32)
(46)
13

(131)
(2 162)
56

Accumulated depreciation and impairment 31 December 2020

(2 625)

(182)

(65)

(2 872)

Carrying amount of right-of-use assets
At 31 December 2019

3 173

-

-

3 173

At 31 December 2020

1 326

6 106

315

7 747

1 years
Straight-line

29 years
Straight-line

3 years
Straight-line

Lower of remaining lease term or economic life
Depreciation method
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Lease liabilities
Undiscounted lease liabilities and maturity of cash outflows

Total

Less than 1 year
1-2 years

2 034
1 390

Total undiscounted lease liabilities 31 December 2019

3 424

Less than 1 year
1-2 years
2-3 years
3-4 years
4-5 years
More than 5 years

1 558
181
1 281
1 281
1 281
12 809

Total undiscounted lease liabilities 31 December 2020

18 391

Summary of the lease liabilities
At initial application 01.01.2019
New lease liabilities recognised in the year
Cash payments for the principal portion of the lease liability
Cash payments for the interest portion of the lease liability
Interest expense on lease liabilities
Currency exchange differences
Total lease liabilities at 31 December 2019

Total
859
3 808
(1 448)
(90)
90
3 219

Current lease liabilities
Non-current lease liabilities
Total cash outflows for leases

1 870
1 349
(1 538)

New lease liabilities recognised in the year
Lease adjustments
Cash payments for the principal portion of the lease liability
Cash payments for the interest portion of the lease liability
Interest expense on lease liabilities
Currency exchange differences

7 637
64
(5 542)
(192)
192
(476)

Total lease liabilities at 31 December 2020
Current lease liabilities
Non-current lease liabilities
Total cash outflows for leases

Discount rate is determined based on official exchange rates from National
Bank of Ukraine, at the date the agreements is final and when the land lease
is officially registered.
Land leases includes leases of servitudes and state land. Lease payments of
state land are variable and calculated as a percentage from “normative
monetary appraisal of land”. Normative monetary appraisal of land does not
constitute fair value of land as at reporting date, as Ukraine imposed landsales moratorium. Furthermore, changes in normative monetary appraisal of
land would not represent a change in a market index or rate. In general,
normative monetary appraisal of land is based on specific requirements in
the legislation. The substantial changes are made usually every year either
due to change in Normative value of land or change in annual land lease
payment rate, and those changes can be either increasing the payment or
decreasing. Therefore, management concluded that variable lease payment
based on normative monetary appraisal of land shall be included in the

4 902
1 490
3 412
(5 734)

calculation of leases under IFRS 16. The lease term of the land is defined as
1 year. The reason is that land lease payments are essentially variable and
independent of indices and rates. In addition, there is uncertainty as to
whether these payments are inevitable for a period of more than one year
and should therefore be considered as essentially fixed for at least one year.
The yearly lease payment is calculated as lease asset and liability respectively
as land contracts. The agreement period is 25 years.
The leases do not contain any restrictions on the Group’s dividend policy or
financing. The Group does not have significant residual value guarantees
related to its leases to disclose.
The high difference between total undiscounted liability and liability at 31
December 2020 is the long lifetime of the land lease.
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Summary of other lease expenses recognised in profit or loss

Total

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets
Interest expense on lease liabilities
Variable lease payments expensed in the period
Operating expenses in the period related to short-term leases (including short-term low value assets)
Operating expenses in the period related to low value assets (excluding short-term leases included above)

2 161
192
322
58
-

Total lease expenses included in other operating expenses

2 733

Practical expedients applied
The Group also leases personal computers, IT equipment and machinery
with contract terms of 1 to 3 years. The Group has elected to apply the
practical expedient of low value assets for some of these leases and does not
recognise lease liabilities or right-of-use assets. The leases are instead
expensed when they incur. The Group has also applied the practical
expedient to not recognise lease liabilities and right-of-use assets for shortterm leases, presented in the table above. These costs are included in other
operating expenses.

Variable lease payments
In addition to the lease liabilities above, the Group is committed to pay
variable lease payments for some of their leases. The variable lease
payments are expensed as incurred.
Extension options
The lease of the NBT offices in Oslo expires 31.08.2021, with no option for
renewal. NBT is negotiating with the landlord regards other office facilities
in their availability.

NOTE 12 OTHER NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES

(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Prepaid development to Sanhe Group (partner in China)
Loan to Windvision Serbia BV
Standby equity loan to ERU AB
Other receivables
Total long-term receivables
Loan to Windvision Serbia Holding B.V
In November 2020 NBT sign a share purchase agreement with Windvision
Holding B.V (seller) to by 50% of the shares in Windvision Serbia Holding B.V and
50% of the WindVision historical loans according to an agreed payment
schedule. By year end 2020 NBT has paid EUR 1.25 million, the payment was a
partly payment of historical loans. It has been several amendments to the
agreement, and in compliant with amendments the share transfer and purchase
of the shares was effective in February 2021, but with no voting rights until
closing. The last payment according to the share purchase agreement was paid
late June 2021 and the closing confirmation addendum to the share purchase
agreement will be signed early July 2021.

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

13 088
104 703
26
117 817

26 262
98 638
27
124 927

Stand-by-equity to the Syvash wind farm
NBT has given a “stand-by-equity” loan to the Syvash wind farm project of EUR
10 million through a loan agreement to the joint venture holding company East
Renewable Ukraine AB. The “stand-by-equity” loan is granted to the Syvash
project as an “extra line” of security for the lenders of the Syvash project in the
circumstances there would be cost overruns for the project. Our estimate is that
this loan will be fully repaid during the second quarter of 2021.
Prepaid development fees and loans to Sanhe Group
The NOK 26.735 million receivable on Sanhe Group, NBT’s development partner
in China, relates to prepaid development fees and loans for development of
wind farms in China. The amount will be offset against settlement of future
development fees and future service fees to the partner.
Because of less activity in China the prepayment to Sahne Group has been fully
impaired by end of 2020.
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NOTE 13 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Trade receivables
VAT receivable
Other current receivables
Total current receivables
NBT has incurred advisers’ costs related to the development of the Syvash
windfarm project. According to the development and support agreement
with the project company, Syvashenergoprom LLC, specified external
advisers’ costs can be re-charged to the project company. This includes
among others, fees to technical advisers, legal advisers, market advisers,
insurance advisers as well as other direct project specific costs. As of year
end 2020 NBT has capitalised NOK 16.2 million, the amount can be invoiced
when the Syvash wind farm is constructed and the certain conditions in the
project financing agreement for Syvashenergoprom LLC are fulfilled.

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

1 485
7 457
43 645
52 587

13 453
4 986
41 592
60 031

Current expectation is that all conditions in the project financing agreement
will be fulfilled during the second quarter of 2021. Subsequently the
advisers’ costs can be invoiced to the project company.
NBT has booked a receivable of dividend of NOK 20.1 million.
A dividend of RMB 15.5 million from Linxi Wind Farm was approved, but not
paid during 2019. The amount equal to NOK 20.171 million. We expect
payment of dividend to be received in 2021.

NOTE 14 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Debt service reserve account for bond loan - restricted
Deposit office rental
Total long-term restricted cash and cash equivalents

215
737
952

205
727
932

Deposit withholding tax – restricted
Total short-term restricted cash and cash equivalents

979
979

657
657

Short-term bank deposits
Total short-term cash and cash equivalents - unrestricted

11 519
11 519

67 637
67 637

Total cash and cash equivalents

13 450

69 226

Bank deposits from the Zophia development bond (please refer to Note 3 Financial Risk Management and Note 16 Interest-bearing Debt and Liabilities) can only be
used on the following:
a)
payments to any member of the Group for reimbursement of certain project development expenses, capital expenditures and other costs (consultancy fees,
costs related to due diligence investigations and other expenses) in connection with the Zophia Project; and
b)
general corporate purposes of the Group, including other project development expenses in connection with the Zophia projects
At year end 2020 bank deposit from development bond was NOK 10 million
All banks are deemed to be reliable and creditworthy counterparties.
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NOTE 15 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDERS
At 31 December 2020, the company has issued 34 219 239 shares with a nominal value of NOK 0.10. All shares issued carry equal rights.
The table below shows changes in the share capital and number of shares.

(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Date
31 December 2018
31 December 2019
31 December 2020

Number of shares

Share capital

Share premium

Other paid in equity

33 767 156
34 219 239
34 219 239

3 377
3 422
3 422

467 039
480 556
480 556

54 057
55 507
63 684
2020

Average number of shares
Total average number of shares and options
Number of shares at 31 December
Diluted number of shares at 31 December2)

34 219 239
34 219 239
34 219 239
34 219 239

All shares are fully paid in.
2) In addition, the number of shares may be further diluted by conversion of convertible loans, please refer to note 16 Interest-bearing debt and Conversion Right

At 31 December 2020 NBT AS had 145 shareholders.
20 largest shareholders
Shares issued at 31.12.2020
#
Shareholder
1
Arctic Securities AS1)
2
Lani Invest AS
3
Aker Capital AS
4
Joar Gudmund Viken
5
Al Shamrani, Ayed Mosa A
6
SMA Mineral B.V
7
Green Tech International ANS
8
Veda A/S
9
Borgestad ASA
10
Meteva AS
11
Siviløkonom Bent Bugge AS
12
Wing Sang Luk
13
Pink Panda Holding AS
14
Daimyo AS
15
Duval Invest AS
16
Jon Burum
17
Frogner Boligeiendom Holding AS
18
Monika Skar
19
Frogner Boligeiendom AS
20
Brown Brothers Harriman & Co
Total 20 largest shareholders
Total other shareholders
Total number of shares

Number of shares held
8 842 397
3 482 583
2 849 827
2 429 780
2 085 041
1 604 415
1 400 000
1 274 000
1 021 345
1 000 000
830 000
821 000
766 306
611 550
510 000
432 100
285 502
272 730
245 000
223 000
30 986 576
3 232 663
34 219 239

Ownership
25,84%
10,18%
8,33%
7,10%
6,09%
4,69%
4,09%
3,72%
2,98%
2,92%
2,43%
2,40%
2,24%
1,79%
1,49%
1,26%
0,83%
0,80%
0,72%
0,65%
90,55%
9,45%
100,00%

1) Shares held by Arctic Securities AS sold on forward contracts.
SHARES HELD BY DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2020:
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Svein Sivertsen
Ulf Juvél, including SMA Mineral B.V
Sverre Stavseth
Joar Viken
Thorstein Jenssen
Total

Position

Number of shares

Chairman
Director
Director
CEO
CFO

5 500
1 605 372
16 642
2 429 780
4 057 294

1) SMA Mineral B.V is controlled by a related party of Mr. Juvél.
2) Including Sverre Invest AS.

Management is part of the share option plan, please refer to Note 21 Share Option Plan.

Total paid in
equity
524 473
539 485
547 662
2019
33 842 710
33 842 710
34 219 239
34 219 239
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NOTE 16 INTEREST-BEARING DEBT AND CONVERSION RIGHTS
Interest-bearing loans and conversion rights
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Non-current
interest-bearing
liabilities

Current interestbearing liabilities

31.12.2020
Convertible bond loan
Borrowing costs convertible bond loan
Amortization of borrowing cost convertible bond loan
Accrued interest

-

282 290
(71 787)
71 787
31 125

Carrying value convertible bond loan

-

313 415

Senior secured bond loan
Borrowing costs senior secured bond loan
Amortization of borrowing cost senior secured bond loan
Accrued interest

-

559 717
(27 668)
26 924
69 224

Carrying value senior secured bond loan

-

628 197

Green bond loans
Borrowing cost bond loans
Amortization of borrowing cost bond loans
Accrued interest

-

785 273
(28 699)
22 836
12 533

Carrying value bond loans

-

791 942

New convertible loans
Borrowing cost bond loans
Amortization of borrowing cost bond loans
Accrued interest

-

122 300
(3 500)
354
241

Carrying value bond loans

-

119 395

-

1 852 950

Net bond loans
Lease liabilities (Note 10)

3 412

1 490

-

16 391

3 412

1 870 831

Other interest-bearing liabilities
Total carrying value of interest-bearing liabilities

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Non-current
interest-bearing
liabilities

Current interestbearing liabilities

31.12.2019
Convertible bond loan
Borrowing costs convertible bond loan
Amortization of borrowing cost convertible bond loan
Accrued interest

-

282 290
(71 787)
54 539
10 356

Carrying value convertible bond loan

-

275 398

Senior secured bond loan
Borrowing costs senior secured bond loan
Amortization of borrowing cost senior secured bond loan
Accrued interest

-

440 168
(21 574)
8 569
4 549

-

431 712

Carrying value senior secured bond loan
Green bond loans
Borrowing cost bond loans
Amortization of borrowing cost bond loans
Accrued interest

739 785
(27 037)
7 418
11 807

-

Carrying value bond loans

731 973

-

Net bond loans

731 973

707 110

Lease liabilities (Note 10)
Other interest-bearing liabilities
Total carrying value of interest-bearing liabilities

1 349

1 870

-

14 288

733 322

723 268
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Reconciliation of interest-bearing debt
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

27 850
3 500
(7 050)
24 300

37 940
1 070
(1 450)
(9 710)
27 850

Total interest-bearing debt at the start of the year
New loans with cash effect
New loans without cash effect1)
Down-payments loans
Capitalised loan cost (no cash effect)
Capitalised loan cost (cash effect)
Amortisation of loan cost (no cash effect)
Conversion of loans to equity
Change in lease liabilities (note 11)
Accrued interest (no cash effect)
Effects of changes in foreign currency rate
Currency translation effects

1 456 590
238 853
(3 916)
(3 500)
(5 185)
51 410
1 683
87 167
287
50 852

647 232
1 419 366
28 841
(710 463)
(1 070)
68 413
(13 563)
3 219
17 139
(1 539)

Total interest-bearing debt at year end

1 874 243

1 457 575

Convertible rights
Opening balance of convertible rights
Fair value of convertible rights issued during the year
Fair value of convertible rights at date of conversion loan
Fair value adjustment recognition in the profit and loss statement for the year
Carrying value of convertible rights

1) Interest capitalised as new loans

The 2015 – 2020 Senior secured bond loan
On 30 June 2015, the company issued a new 5-year senior secured bond loan.
The main terms of the loan are as follows:

•
•
•
•

5-year duration with maturity 30 September 2020
Fixed interest rate of 8.5 percent per annum
Quarterly interest payments and interest payments for the first three
years were settled by issuing additional bonds (“PIK settlement”).
From second half 2018 interest payments are payable.
The bond loan is secured with pledges over the company’s assets as
listed below

There are no financial covenants for the bond loan.
Borrowing costs are recognised in the income over the term of the loan and
offset in the balance sheet against the nominal value of the loan.
In February 2020 NBT made a tap issue on the senior secured bond loan of NOK
40 million.

•

The company has an option to settle conversions as a cash settlement

There are no financial covenants for the convertible bond loan.
Borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement over the term of the
loan and offset in the balance sheet against the nominal value of the convertible
bond. Total borrowing costs at year end 2020 amounts to NOK 71.8 million,
including a calculated fair value of the conversion rights of NOK 53.3 million. The
value of the conversion rights is calculated based on the cash flow from the loan
discounted with an assumed interest rate of a loan with similar terms and
conditions with no conversion rights. The difference between the face value of
the loan and calculated discounted value of the loan with the applied market
rate is estimated as the value of the conversion rights. At the time the bond was
issued in 2015 the fair value of the conversion rights was calculated to 44.6
million assuming an alternative effective interest (exclusive other loan costs) of
14 percent. As the interest payments for the loan is made by issuing additional
bonds (Payment in Kind), the new bonds can also be converted to shares at the
same terms as the original loan. These conversion rights have been valued with
the same alternative interest of 14 percent.

After maturity date on 30 September 2020 there has been singed amendment
agreements with the bondholders to change the final maturity date.
Last amendment extended the maturity date to 21 November2021.
The change in maturity is treated as a modification of the loan agreement
according to IFRS 9.

After maturity date on 14 September 2020 there has been singed amendment
agreements with the bondholders to change the final maturity date and interest
payment date.
Last amendment extended the maturity date to 21 November 2021. The change
in maturity is treated as a modification of the loan agreement according to IFRS
9.

The 2015 – 2020 convertible bond loan

Convertible Loan Facility

On 14 September 2015, NBT AS issued an unsecured subordinated convertible
bond loan. The main terms of the loan are as follows:

On 1 July 2020 NBT received a mandatory convertible loan of NOK 122.3 million
with no interest and maturity date 30 November 2020. On 14 December 2020
NBT signed an amendment to this agreement, that changes the loan from
mandatory conversion to a right to convert the loan into shares. The agreement
was initially classified as equity, the new agreement has significant changes and
after an overall assessment of all the facts the agreement was derecognized and
reclassified as a loan. The change had no effect on profit or loss.

•
•
•
•
•

5-year duration with maturity 14 September 2020
Fixed interest rate of 8.5 percent per annum with annual
capitalisation
Interest to be settled by issuing additional bonds (“PIK settlement”)
The convertible bond loan is unsecured and subordinated to the 2015
– 2020 senior secured bond loan
Convertible to shares in NBT AS at an exercise price of NOK 30 per
share. The exercise price will, adjusted in case of an IPO event, be set
to the lowest of NOK 30 per share and the IPO price less a discount of
10 percent.

The main terms of amended agreement of the loan are as follows:

•
•
•

Maturity 31 May 2021
Fixed interest rate of 4.5 percent per annum
Interest to be settled by issuing additional bonds (“PIK settlement”)
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The convertible bond loan is unsecured

•

Convertible to shares in NBT AS at an exercise price of NOK 70 per
share. The exercise price will, adjusted in case of an IPO event, be set
to the lowest of NOK 70 per share and the IPO price.

•

The company has an option to settle conversions as a cash settlement

There are no financial covenants for the convertible bond loan.
Borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement over the term of the
loan and offset in the balance sheet against the nominal value of the convertible
bond. Total borrowing costs at year end 2020 amounts to NOK 3.5 million and is
the calculated fair value of the conversion rights. The value of the conversion
rights is calculated based on the cash flow from the loan discounted with an
assumed interest rate of a loan with similar terms and conditions with no
conversion rights and a black Scholes model. After an analysis of all facts and
circumstances it was estimated a value of the convertible rights to 3.5 million
assuming an alternative effective interest of 10 percent. As the interest
payments for the loan is made by issuing additional bonds (Payment in Kind),
the new bonds can also be converted to shares at the same terms as the original
loan.
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Furthermore, the parent company has issued an unconditional
guarantee to the bondholders,
Pre-fund interest for the green bond for one year.

East Renewable Energy AB had an obligation to list the green bond on a
regulated stock exchange prior to 21st May 2020. The bond was listed on Oslo
Stock Exchange on 5 August 2020. In the period from 21st May 2020 until the
first listing date, the interest on the bond loan was increased to 16.5% per
annum. There are no financial covenants in the bond agreement.
On 18th of May 2021 the bond holders of the green bond loan approved to
extend the maturity date from 21 May 2021 to 21 November 2021. As part of
the amended agreement the interest payment originally falling 21st May 2021
was delayed until five days after financial Close of Zophia projects. Further, the
redemption price has increased to 105%. The change in maturity is treated as a
modification of the loan agreement according to IFRS 9.
EUR 20.975 million Senior Secured bond loan
On 14 October 2019 East Renewable Zophia Super Holdco AB issued a series of
Bonds in the maximum of EUR 25 million. Total tap issued during 2019 and 2020
is 20.975 million.

In June 2021 the maturity date was amended to 31 August 2021. Further, the
exercise price was changed to the lower of a future share subscription price less
17,5% or NOK 70 per share.

After last signed amendments the bond loan matures on 21 November 2021.
The modification of the loan has no effect on the nominal value of the loan.

EUR 75 million bond loan
On 21st May 2019, NBT’s subsidiary East Renewable Energy AB, made a green
bond issue of EUR 75 million. The bond issue was made to 99% of par and hence
the net proceeds amounted to EUR 74.25 million. The net proceeds from the
bond loan were applied as follows:

The carries no coupon interest, the bond loan shall be repaid at 130% of par
value. Calculated effective interest rate is 23%. The bond holders have pledge in
the issuers shares in its subsidiaries and the shares in the issuer. Furthermore,
NBT AS has issued an unconditional guarantee to the bondholders. There are no
financial covenants in the bond agreement.

•
•
•
•

repay the EUR 60 million inclusive of interest that was not prepaid of
EUR 0.9 million,
pre-fund interest payments on a restricted debt service account of
EUR 10.1 million,
fees to the financial advisor EUR 2 million and
general corporate purposes EUR 0.25 million.

The main terms of the bond loan are as follows:

•
•
•

Fixed interest rate of 13.5 percent per annum with semi-annually
interest payments,
Maturity date 21st May 2021,
The bondholders have pledge in the issuers shares in East Renewable
Ukraine AB and the parent company has pledge the shares in the
issuer,

Other interest-bearing liabilities, short-term
NBT have a total of NOK 16.4 million in short term liquidity loans. The loans have
carried interest in the range of 10 to 15 percent per annum. The loans are
payable on 30 June 2021. The Company has initiated a process to extend the
maturity to 21 November and expect this to be finalised before payment is due.
Value of convertible rights at year end. A Black-Scholes model calculation has
been applied in calculating the fair value of the convertible rights at both
yearend 2020.
In the calculations a market value of the NBT share of NOK 32 and volatility of
40 percent are assumed. The valuation method assumes there is a traded
market for the NBT share. As this is not the case, a liquidity discount of 30
percent has been applied to the valuation.
The value of the convertible rights is as short term debt as the maturity of the
loan is in 2021.

Assets pledged as security for the 2015 – 2020 senior secured bond loan

Book value

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

31.12.2020

NBT AS' receivable on NBT Renewable Energy Ltd., Cyprus
NBT AS' shares in NBT Renewable Energy Ltd., Cyprus 1)
NBT AS' shares in NBT Renewable Energy (Singapore) Pte Ltd., Singapore 2)
NBT Renewable Energy Ltd, Cyprus' shares in NBT Energy Ltd. 3)
NBT Renewable Energy Ltd, Cyprus' receivable on NBT Energy Ltd. 3)

555 435
46 477
-

1) Book value in NBT AS. Investment in NBT Renewable Energy Ltd. was written down to nil in 2011.
2) Book value in NBT AS. Investments in NBT Renewable Energy (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. has been written down to nil in 2015
3) NBT Renewable Energy Ltd owns 33% of the shares in NBT Energy Ltd and has also provided an interest free loan to NBT Energy Ltd with a nominal value of USD 9.9 million. In the
consolidated accounts both the share investment and the interest free loan is classified as investment in the NBT Energy Ltd joint venture. Carrying value of the combined investment in the
consolidated accounts as at year end 2020 is applied in this overview
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NOTE 17 CONTINGENT LIABILITY BUSINESS COMBINATION
In September 2019 NBT gained control over the Zophia wind farm project. The
total purchase price for the Zophia wind farm project companies is payable in
tranches. Please reference to Note 5 Acquisition of Zophia for further
description.
The estimated unpaid purchase price is measured at fair value at each balance
sheet date. The fair value is categorized within level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.

higher than booked value, but expected income regime for the 300 MW is
uncertain.

The fair value of financial instruments is based on quoted prices as at the
balance sheet date in an active market, if such market exists. If an active market
does not exist, fair value is established by using valuation techniques that are
expected to provide a reliable estimate of the fair value. Financial instruments
measured at fair value are classified according to the valuation method:
•
Level 1: Valuation based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities.
•
Level 2: Valuation based on inputs other than quoted prices
included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived form
prices).
•
Level 3: Valuation based on inputs for the assets or liability that are
unobservable market data. If one or more of the significant inputs
are not based on observable market data, the instruments is
included in level 3.

As of 31 December 2020 the development of the wind park is close to financial
close and engineering, procurement and construction (EPC) contract has been
signed with China Electric Power Equipment and Technology (CET). The payment
dates are by end of 2020 updated, to be in line with the construction scheduled
agreed with CET.

Changes in fair value are presented in profit or loss in the line-item Unrealized
fair value adjustments.
The assessment of the total purchase price of the Zophia project is based on the
expectation of all three projects will be financed and constructed. 73% of unpaid
purchase price is due at financial close and 27% is due at the commercial
operation date. The assessment of the purchase price is dependent on the
likelihood of a financial close for the projects.
The sellers can waive “no financial close” if financial close has not occurred
before 1 July 2021 and will be entitled to a one-off consideration of MEUR 4.5,
but will then waive the right of any other purchase considerations, or the ability
to acquire 15% of all shares for a purchase price of EUR 1.

Significant unobservable inputs to calculate the fair value of the most likely
purchase consideration is time of the payments (financial close and
commissioning date) and discount rate.

Based on management assessment the change of date for financial Close and
commissioning cannot deviate significantly from the agreed plan and will not
have any material effects on the consolidated financial statements. Expected
date of financial close for Zophia I and II is July 2021. Expected commercial
operation dates for each project is in 2022 for Zophia I and 2023 for Zophia II.
The estimated purchase price is discounted with a discount rate of 7,6 percent.
The rate has been calculated using a WACC-model. Input to the model is based
on knowledge from similar project, and the percentage of financing between
equity and debt, is based on expectations from shareholders. Cost of equity and
debt is assessed using expected margins at financial close. There are no material
changes to the input to the WACC-model at year end 2020.
Further, a change in the discount rate will only affect the timing of the cost in
profit or loss. Based on the timeline for payment of the deferred consideration,
this is assessed as not material for the consolidated financial statements.
As at the acquisition date, the fair value of the deferred consideration to the
sellers of Zophia project was estimated to be NOK 306.097 million. The estimate
has been restated because of an error in the estimate and calculation of the total
purchase price in 2019, for detail please be referred to note 5 Acquisition of
Project Zophia. The table below shows the effect on liabilities to the sellers.

(Amounts in NOK 1000)
It is highly likely that financial close for the total capacity of project Zophia I and
Zophia II will be in July 2021. At financial close the seller will be entitled to MEUR
1.5 for Zophia I and MEUR 15.6 for Zophia II. Based on this, it is not likely for the
seller to waive “no financial close”. At 31 December the Group expects financial
close for part of Zophia III (150 MW) to be finalized in third quarter of 2021.
Financing of the remaining 300 MW in Zophia III are not going to be financed in
2021 and the construction will not be completed to receive the feed-in-tariff.
The Group want to emphasise that the 300 MW are still under development to
reach a financial close and to be constructed. Land agreement, grid-connection
agreement and other related development work is estimated to have a value

Liability arising on business combination
Fair value changes recognised in profit or
loss
Currency translation differences
As at year end

Increase/
2019
2019 (Decrease) restated
219 686
86 411 306 097
5 615
(3 802)
221 499

2 354

7 969

(1 480)
87 285

(5 282)
308 784

As at 31 December 2020, fair value of the deferred purchase payment is as following:
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

2020

2019

As at 1 January
Liability arising on business combination
Unrealised fair value changes recognised in profit or loss
Currency translation differences

308 784
21 345
18 532

306 097
7 969
(5 282)

As at year end

348 661

308 784

Carrying amount contingent liability business combination:
(Amounts in EUR 1000)
Non-current liabilities at fair value
Current liabilities at fair value

2020

2019

95 657

147 334

253 004

161 450
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NOTE 18 OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Public taxes and charges payable
Provision for liabilities to former business partner
Other current liabilities

4 428
13 879
28 360

3 024
14 268
40 520

Total other current liabilities

46 667

57 811

The obligation to one former business partner is related to a convertible bond agreement entered into on 13 March 2012 with Malakoff International Limited. The
drawdown was USD 1.625 million. Malakoff has not required any payment or enforced a claim regards the amount outstanding, and the amount has not been paid.
As of year end 2020 the outstanding amount is calculated to NOK 13.879 million.

NOTE 19 TAXES

The Group’s operations have not generated any profit and the companies have no taxable income and have generated tax losses carried forward. The tax payable NOK
182 thousand relates to changes in tax statement in Ukraine in 2019. Please see the below table:
(Amounts in EUR 1000)

Components of the income tax expense:
Change in provision of tax payable last year
Change in deferred tax
Tax expense/ (income)

Significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets
Provisions and other differences
Tax loss carried forward
Not recognised tax assets
Offsetting of tax balances 1
Total deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities
Development rights
Provisions and other differences
Fixed assets
Receivables
Allowance for no tax-deductible item
Offsetting of tax balances 1
Total deferred tax liabilities
1)

2020

2019

182
(3 117)
(2 935)

(66)
(134 615)
64 657
72 750

-

(92 194)
59 431
32 772

2 699

69 878
27
56 775
15 948
(72 750)
69 878

-

86 488
1 040
9
15 341
16 383
(32 772)
86 488

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset to the extent that deferred taxes relate to the same fiscal authority and there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets against current tax liabilities.

The losses carried forward in Ukraine in the three Zophia project companies are recognised in full, due to sufficient temporary differences exciding Deferred tax
assets.
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(Amounts in EUR 1000)

2020

2019

Details of loss carried forward
Loss carried
Deferred tax asset Loss carried
Deferred tax asset
forward
forward
(508 734)
(111 921)
(377 997)
(83 159)
(31 835)
(3 979)
(32 698)
(4 087)
(60 479)
(12 942)
(22 500)
(4 815)
(32 067)
(5 772)
(736)
(133)

Norway
Cyprus
Sweden
Ukraine
Total deferred tax assets

(633 115)

(134 615)

(433 931)

(92 194)

2020

2019

All tax losses in the Group can be carried forward indefinitely.

NOTE 20 PERSONNEL EXPENSES
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Wages and salaries including holiday pay
National insurance contributions
Pension costs
Other staff expenses
Total

27 200
2 290
1 180
916
31 586

Employee numbers1)

Parent company

14 323
1 442
726
536
17 027
Group

Employees at 31 December 2020
Full time equivalents/man years
Average for the year

12
10,6
10,6

21
18,1
18,1

Employees at 31 December 2019
Full time equivalents/man years
Average for the year

9
6,2
6,2

17
16,0
16,0

Other
remuneration

Pension cost

Total
remuneration

13
15
5
33

190
132
322

2 893
3 432
1 540
1 713
9 578

Other
remuneration

Pension cost

Total
remuneration

192
14
206

193
193

2 510
2 414
1 811
6 735

1) Excluding Management for Hire.

Remuneration - key management personnel
2020
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Salary

Joar Viken, CEO1)
Thorstein Jenssen, CFO 2)
Ketil Sundal CFO3)
Erling Thiis CFO4)
Total

2 690
3 417
1 540
1 576
9 223

Bonus
-

2019
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Salary

Joar Viken, CEO1)
Thorstein Jenssen, SVP Corp. Finance, 2)
Ketil Sundal CFO3)
Total

2 125
2 400
1 811
6 336

1)
2)
3)
4)

Bonus
-

Joar Viken stepped down as CEO from 1. May 2021 and is engaged as an advisor to the Company. He has a notice period of 6 months and is entitled to severance pay up to 24
months if the employment is terminated by the company.
Thorstein Jenssen is engaged through a company controlled by Mr. Jenssen. The table shows the invoiced amount for the period. He has been the CFO in the Group since
November 2020.
Ketil Sundal is an independent consultant that has been engaged as CFO in both 2019 and partly in 2020. The table shows the invoiced amount for the period.
Erling Thiis was employed as the Group CFO for the period April – November 2020.
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Board of Directors:
The shareholders’ meeting in June 2018 approved a remuneration for the
Board period 2018/2019 of NOK 250 000 for the chair and NOK 150 000 for the
other Board members. The shareholders approved quarterly payments. The
shareholder’s meeting in June 2020 approved the same remuneration for the
Board period 2020/2021.
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Pensions:
NBT AS operates a defined contribution scheme via DnB Livsforsikring in
accordance with the Norwegian Act on Mandatory Occupational Pension
Schemes.

Remuneration to auditor:
Expensed fees to the Group’s auditors (excluding VAT):
Parent company

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Parent
company

Group
2020

Auditing, Deloitte
Auditing, others
Other services, Deloitte
Other services, others
Total

(1 055)
(25)
(1 080)

Group
2019

(2 324)
(103)
(25)
(2 452)

(813)
(54)
(867)

(1 010)
(89)
(54)
(97)
(1 250)

Deloitte is also appointed as auditor in the subsidiaries in Cyprus and for the Swedish subsidiaries.

NOTE 21 SHARE OPTION PLAN
Option programme
NBT has a share option programme covering certain employees and hired
personnel. As at 2020 20 persons were included in the option programme, 5
people are employed in NBT Renewable Energy Ltd (NBT RE), 5 people are inhouse consultants at NBT AS and 10 people are employed at NBT AS.
The share option programme is divided into two parts, where one part of the
options are vested immediately and the other part is vested over a period of
two years. The options may be exercised within three years from the date of
the agreement, if the shares in NBT AS are not listed on a regulated market
within the Exercise Period, the intention of the Parties is to extend the Exercise
Period until such listing.
The fair value of the options is set on the grant date and expensed over the
vesting period.
Cost related to consultants are treated as consultants fee and calculated cost
for employees are expensed as personnel expenses.
NOK 4.939 million and NOK 3.686 million have been expensed in 2020 as
personnel expenses and other operating expenses respectively. The fair value
of options granted in 2020 was on average NOK 5,6 per option. The recognised
share option programme liability is NOK 8.177 as of 2020, this is recognized as
other paid in equity.

The outstanding options are subject to the following conditions:

Expiry date
02.06.2023

Average strike price
33

Number of share
options
2 385 000
2 385 000

The fair value of the options has been calculated using Black & Scholes
option-pricing model.
The average fair value of the options granted in 2020 is NOK 5,6.
Share price on the grant date
The share price on grant date is set based on external valuation and
historical transactions. The stock price is estimated since the shares is not
listed.
The strike price per option
The strike price is a fix price agreed in the option agreement.
Life of the option
Lifetime of the option is estimated to be 1 year after vesting. This is argued
to be a fair assumption based on the agreement.

Overview of outstanding options:
Options granted

Vested

2 385 000

Non vested

1 465 000

920 000

Outstanding option to management:
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Joar Viken
Thorstein Jenssen
Total

Position Number of options
CEO
CFO

455 000
455 000
910 000

Volatility
Volatility is calculated based on historical volatility pf similar listed entities,
and it is assumed that historic volatility is an indication of future volatility.
The expected volatility is therefore stipulated to be the same as the historic
volatility, which equals a volatility of 39,5% (1 year), 33,89% (2 years) and
30,97% (3 years).
Dividend
The estimated dividend per share is NOK 0 per annum.
Risk-free interest rate
The risk-free interest rate is set equal to the interest rate on government
bonds during the term of the option, i.e., 0,04% for 2020 (1 year) and 0,19%
for 2020 (3 year). The 2-year rate is calculated with use of a linear
interpolation between quoted 1- and 3-years rate.

45 NBT Annual report 2020

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

NOTE 22 PROFESSIONAL FEES
Overview of Consultants, advisors and legal fees:
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

2020

2019

Hired personnel

27 482

11 813

Consultants and advisors

28 630

9 491

Legal fees
Total

4 342

3 442

60 454

24 746

The Group activity has been higher in 2020 and there has been an increased activity related to new projects and opportunities. These activities have been supported
by advisors, consultants and lawyers.

NOTE 23 FINANCIAL INCOME AND FINANCIAL EXPENSES
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

2020

2019

Interest income

1 521

35

Total financial income

1 521

35

Interest on debts and borrowings
Other interest expenses
Other financial expenses
Write down financial assets
Total financial expenses

(183 766)

(172 825)

(42 622)

(68 413)

(25 119)
(251 507)

(241 238)

Foreign exchange gains

11 345

13 820

Foreign exchange losses

(51 526)

(10 845)

Net foreign exchange gain/(loss)

(40 181)

2 975

Fair value adjustment of convertible rights

7 050

9 710

Fair value adjustment of contingent liability business combination

(21 345)

(7 969)

Net fair value adjustments

(14 295)

1 741

Net financial items

(304 462)

(236 487)

Other financial expenses are amortized borrowing cost of loans described in note 16 Interest-bearing debt and conversion rights. Borrowing cost directly attributable
to development of Zophia project is capitalized.
Write down financial assets is related to prepaid development fees to Sanhe Group, for more information please refer to note 12 Other Non-current Receivables.
The fair value adjustment relates to change in the fair value assessment of the conversion rights and contingent liability business combination, for more information
please refer to note 16 Interest-bearing debt and conversion rights and note 17 Contingent Liability Business Combination.
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NOTE 24 EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing profit or loss for the year by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding through the
year. Diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing profit or loss for the year by the weighted average number of diluted shares through the year.
As a result of error in the Financial Statement of 2019 previous period have been restated to correct the error, please see d etailed information in note 4
Significant Accounting Estimates and Assumptions and note 5 Acquisition of Zophia Project.
Effect on the Financial statement line disclosed below, are as follow:

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

2020

2019

Increase/
(decrease)
Error Functional
currency

Profit/(loss) for the year

(425 496)

(5 144)

(52 058)

(2 354)

(59 556)

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

(494 075)

13 505

(64 084)

2 443

(48 136)

34 219 239

33 842 710

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per
share

Increase/
(decrease)
Error Purchase
cost Zophia

2019 restated

33 842 710

Effect of dilution:
Share options
Weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for the
effect of dilution

34 219 239

33 842 710

33 842 710

Earnings per share - loss for the year (NOK):
Basic
Diluted

(12,43)
(12,43)

(0,15)
(0,15)

(1,76)
(1,76)

(14,44)
(14,44)

0,40
0,40

(1,42)
(1,42)

Earnings per share - total comprehensive income (NOK):
Basic
Diluted

The effect of dilution is assumed to be zero, as the Group has negative earnings.
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NOTE 25 RELATED PARTIES – TRANSACTIONS
Remuneration to senior executives is listed in note 20, including remuneration for hired senior executives.
TRANSACTIONS WITH SHAREHOLDER
Luk Wing Sang
The Group’s development partner in China, Sanhe Group, is entitled to a
development fee for building permits for wind farms in China. Development fee
is linked to the total investment cost of the relevant project and denominated
in RMB. Luk Wing Sang, the majority shareholder in Sanhe Group, is a
shareholder in NBT AS.
As of year end 2020 NBT has prepaid development fees for future wind farm
project in China for a total amount of USD 2.57 million, corresponding to NOK
22.7 million. During the period from 2015 to 2020 the prepaid development fees
have been reduced by setting off the monthly service fee with an amount of USD
0.43 million in 2019, and USD 0.42 million in 2020. At present the most likely
outcome is that NBT will not build any further wind farms in China within the
next years and hence the service fee needs to be set off against the development
fee. The service agreement dated 26.11.2010 expired at 26.11.2020. The current
assessment is that NBT will not be able to buy services for the prepaid amount
in the near future. As a consequence, the entirety of the prepayment have been
written off as loss as of 31 December 2020.
Artic Securities AS
Arctic Securities AS has provided brokerage and advisory services to NBT AS in
2019 and 2020 in connection with raising financing for all bond loans raised in
the Swedish subsidiaries. In total Arctic has received EUR 0.11 million and EUR
6.7 million as advisory fees and EUR 0.14 million and EUR 0.4 million for out-of
pocket expenses in 2020 and 2019, respectively. Fees for the provided services
were provided under success fees structures that is customary for these types
of services.

Loans from shareholders
Lani Invest AS provided a short-term loan with payment date 31 December 2019.
A new loan agreement was signed, starting from 1 st January 2020, the new loan
equalled the nominal value plus interest up to this date, NOK 11.2 million.
Agreed interest on the loan was 12%. The loan maturity date was 30 June 2020.
After this it has been amendments extending maturity date to 30 June 2021. The
Company has initiated a process to extend the maturity to 21 November and
expect this to be finalised before payment is due.
NBT received a convertible loan of NOK 122.3 million from Aker 1 July 2020. For
more information please be referred to note 16 Bond Loan and Other Interestbearing liabilities.

TRANSACTIONS WITH OTHER RELATED PARTIES
Loans from other parties
In July 2019 board member Ulf Juvel provided a loan of EUR 0.3 million that was
applied for development costs related to the Zophia project. The due date was
1 March 2020, and the loan carried an interest of 15 per cent and a commitment
fee of 5 per cent. At the maturity date a new loan agreement was signed, the
new loan equalled the nominal value plus interest and commitment fee up to
the maturity date, EUR 0,342 million. The loan including interest was paid at late
November 2020.
At 2 December 2020 a new loan from Ulf Juvel was received, EUR 0.368 million.
The loan carries an interest of 10%, maturity date was 1 March 2021, later
amended to 30 June 2021. The Company has initiated a process to extend the
maturity to 21 November and expect this to be finalised before payment is due.

Development Support Agreement with Syvashenergoprom LLC
During 2017 and 2018 NBT assisted Syvashenergoprom LLC in the development
of the 245.8 MW Syvash windfarm. The agreement was finally formalized in
January 2019 in connection with the signing of the project financing for the
Syvash project as the project financing lenders required the development
support agreement to be approved by them prior to signing.

NBT has assisted the project company with all major development work related
to the development of the Syvash project, including financing, obtaining EPC
contract, obtaining all required governmental approvals, ensure all required
environmental and social studies are prepared. This included contracting and
engaging advisers that were required to complete obtain all approvals, a signed
EPC contract and financing of the project.
The development support agreement consists of several elements for
remuneration to NBT, and includes:

•
•
•

Advisers’ costs incurred by NBT to be
Syvashenergoprom within certain limitations.

reimbursed by

A fixed fee of EUR 8 million to NBT, equal to sales revenue in NOK
76.161 million.
Additional development fees to NBT up to a maximum of EUR 8.5
million.

The major amounts of the advisers’ costs were re-charged to Syvashenergoprom
during the first quarter of 2019 and has been paid by the project company. An
amount corresponding to about NOK 16 million will be payable following the
completion of the construction as this is defined in the financing agreements.
The fixed fee was invoiced from NBT in the second quarter in 2019 and has been
paid by the project company.
Additional development fees may be invoiced following completion of the
construction as defined in the financing agreements and the final fee depend up
on a series of future events including updated financial forecast for the project.
Impact Technology Systems AS
One member of NBT management is appointed as board member of Impact
Technology Systems AS (“ITS”).
ITS was established in 2011 and acquired on 31 December 2011 NBT’s research
and development activities related to a technology for increased oil recovery.
NBT agreed to provide a seller’s credit to ITS for the sales consideration of the
technology. Due to the liquidity situation for ITS, NBT agreed throughout a series
of amendment and restatement agreements to transfer the original sales
consideration to a senior secured loan. As a part of the restructuring NBT also
provided an unsecured loan to ITS in 2017. ITS was established in 2011 and
acquired on 31 December 2011 NBT’s research and development activities
related to a technology for increased oil recovery. NBT agreed to provide a
seller’s credit to ITS for the sales consideration of the technology. Due to the
liquidity situation for ITS, NBT agreed throughout a series of amendment and
restatement agreements to transfer the original sales consideration to a senior
secured loan. As a part of the restructuring NBT also provided an unsecured loan
to ITS in 2017. In July 2020 the unsecured loan, nominal value of 1.6 million, and
part of the senior secured loan, nominal value of 5 million was converted to
shares in ITS. At December 2020 NBT AS holds 24,95% of the shares in ITS. As of
year end 2020 the nominal value of NBT’s share of the senior secured loan
amounts to about NOK 5.6 million. The loan carry 6.5% interest. NBT has made
a full impairment for the loans and no interest is recognised. Further the nominal
value of the shares has also been impaired in full.
Loans to associates
NBT Renewable Energy Ltd in Cyprus has given an interest free loan to NBT
Energy Ltd in Hong Kong (the holding company for the Baicheng joint venture)
of about USD 9.9 million. Originally the loan was intended to be converted to
equity, however, as the loan is pledged as security for the senior secured bond
loan, such conversion would require consent from the bondholders. In the
consolidated financial statement, the loan is classified and presented as part of
the investment in the Baicheng joint venture. For further reference see note 7
Investment In Associates and Joint Ventures.
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NOTE 26 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, ASSETS AND COMMITMENTS
Baicheng joint venture company debt to turbine vendor Suzlon
The Baicheng joint venture company has withheld a payment of RMB 37 million
invoiced from the turbine vendor Suzlon due to delays and non-performance by
Suzlon during the construction phase. The parties have been in negotiations to
settle the dispute. After Suzlon terminated certain provisions under the
warranty, maintenance and service agreement, the project company has
terminated the settlement negotiations. The project company has claimed
compensation from Suzlon that exceeds the amount withheld. The amount
withheld is still recognised as a liability in the financial statement of the joint
venture company.
Alleged claim from former business associate
A former business associate of NBT has claimed compensation under a
consulting agreement entered into in 2017 between it and NBT. Under the terms
of that agreement, the former business associate would, in certain
circumstances, be entitled to a bonus equal to 2 % of any equity stake directly
or indirectly subscribed for by NBT in projects developed by it as a result of the
work carried out by the business associate under the consulting agreement. The
consulting agreement was terminated in December 2017. Via its legal advisors
NBT has rejected the alleged claim. Unless a settled, any disputes in respect of
the claim shall be finally resolved by arbitration under Norwegian law. No
provision has been calculated in the Financial Statement.

Alleged claim from financial advisor in relation with acquisition of
Azovinvestprom (AIP)
Under a letter of claim, dated 13 January 2020, Milgravis, a former advisor to
the previous owners under a contract with AIP has demanded settlement for
advisory services related to the sale of shares in the company. The claim is for
10% of the shares in AIP, alternatively a sum determined after expert valuation
equivalent to 10% of the shares in AIP. AIP recognizes that if the claim is valid, it
is for a maximum of 10% of the consideration paid to the previous owners. The
Company has agreed with the previous owners that such amount will be set off
against any payments made to the sellers under the SPA. The dispute resolution
is arbitration under English law. No provisions or change in the purchase price
for the Zophia projects has been booked in the financial statement.
Previous sellers’ option to acquire 15% of the shares in the Zophia projects if
NO financial close
In the opinion of the management there is a high probability that all three Zophia
projects will be financed and constructed. If financial close of any of the Zophia
Project has not occurred on or before 1 July 2021, the seller of that project will
have a right (but no obligation) to purchase back 15% of the shares in the project
companies holding the Zophia Projects for a purchase price of EUR 1 or,
alternatively but in lieu of that right, to request a MEUR 4.5 payment for the
failure to reach a financial close.
Success Fees – Zophia
Integrites Attorneys at law LLC (Ukraine) and Simmons & Simmons LLP (Great
Britain) are the Group advisors for development of the Zophia projects. Advisor
cost for accrued hours is booked as capitalized development cost or in profit or
loss based on hourly rate agreed. In addition to the hourly fee both parties have
an success fee if the project reach financial close. The success fee is not accrued
since the Company has no unconditional liability at 31.12.2020.
Further, The Group are currently raising bonds and equity to finance the Zophia
Projects. The arranger for the financing has a fee agreement based on a
successful closing. No provision has been made in the Financial Statement for
these contingent fees as there has been no event triggering such success fee in
2020.

NOTE 27 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Tap issue of senior secured bond loan of NOK 60 million
NBT AS made a tap issue of NOK 60 million on the senior secured bond loan in
March 2021.
Tap issue of senior secured bond loan of EUR 0,5 million
East Renewable Super Holdco AB made a tap issue of EUR 0,5 million in February
2021.
Extension of maturity on Bond loans
In late June the bond holders of the bond loans in NBT AS and East Renewable
Zophia AB approved to extend the maturity to 21 November 2021.
Extension of maturity of Green Bond EUR 75 million
On 18th of May 2021 the bond holders of the green bond loan approved to
extend the maturity date from 21 May 2021 to 21 November 2021. The interest
payment date was delayed until 5 business days after the next equity raise in
NBT AS. NBT AS has through May carried out a pre-sound for the senior debt on
for the Zophia, wind farm with investor indications evidencing significant
investor appetite, which gives an expectation to raise the senior financing
subject to, inter alia, market conditions. It is the strategy of the Company to
refinance the green bond when the Parent raises equity to finance the Zophia
wind farm. This is intended raised by July 2021.

Extension on maturity of convertible loan facility from Aker
In June 2021 Aker and NBT agreed to extend maturity of the NOK 122.3 million
loan to 31 August 2021. The conversion price has been amended to the lower of
a future share subscription price less 17.5% or NOK 70 per share.
Cross-default
During the first quarter 2021 Syvashenergoprom LLC signed an amended power
purchase agreement with the Guaranteed Buyer, the Ukrainian offtaker for
electricity generated by renewable energy. The amendment is mandatory for all
renewable energy producers in Ukraine. Due to the short deadline for signing
imposed by the Guaranteed Buyer, the amendment was signed without consent
of the lenders, which under the Common Terms Agreement (the “CTA”)
constitutes a breach of undertakings, which is an event of default if not cured or
waived. Syvashenergoprom LLC has requested EBRD to waive the breach. Such
waiver has not been obtained as of the reporting date, and the company is
working with EBRD to resolve the issue. This situation is not project specific as
EBRD has declined to approve the PPA amendment or provide a waiver across
its loan portfolio in Ukraine. Over multiple interactions with the Company, EBRD
has indicated that it has no intention to take any steps that will prevent the
project from drawing debt or reaching Commercial Operations Date (COD). NBT
does not expect this event to have any material impact on the Project.
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The Green Bond loan, senior secured and the senior secured convertible loan
includes cross default provisions, and the default in Syvash triggered disclosers
to the bondholders of these loans. The bond holders were notified 30 th of May
2021.
New loan facility from The Resource Group TRG AS
In May and June 2021 TRG issued two loans of EUR 6.8 million and EUR 11.2
million to the Company. The loans carry an interest of 8.5 per cent payable on
the maturity date 31 August 2021. The loans are convertible into shares in the
Company at a future share subscription share price less 17.5% or NOK 70 per
share. Both loans are secured by a first priority pledge over all the shares in WR
Start Up 342 AS (under the name change to NBT Serbia AS). NBT AS has entered
into an agreement to transfer all rights in the development project in Serbia to
WR Start Up 342 AS.
Financing
NBT has engaged JP Morgan as lead arranger for the debt financing of the Zophia
projects. The debt will consist of a senior bond, to be listed at ISM in London.
Financial close is expected in July 2021. NBT Company is currently in the process
of raising equity to fund its Zophia project in Ukraine, its development activities
and for general corporate purposes.
Termination of EPC Agreement
Construction of the Syvash wind farm has experiences delays due to issues with
the main contractor. In March 2021 Syvashenergoprom LLC terminated the EPC
contract and stepped into the subcontract with Nordex, the turbine supplier.
The termination was approved and supported by the 8 lenders to the project.
Simultaneously with the termination of the EPC contract the company called the
EUR 57 million on-demand performance security issued by the contractor as
security for their performance under the contract. The company will offset any
additional cost for completing the project against the performance security
amount.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Azovenergomash - Ukraine
The Group signed an agreement in December 2020 to purchase the shares in the
company Azovenergomash Private Enterprise in Ukraine, to buy property rights
for the development of Zophia Projects. Payment for the company and
consequently the share transfer was amended 15 April 2021, with payment date
by 1 July 2021.
Serbia
In the fourth quarter of 2020, NBT signed an agreement to acquire 50% of the
shares in Windvision Serbia BV, a subsidiary of Windvision BV that has a portfolio
of approximately 800 MW of wind and solar projects in Serbia. The partners will
co-develop the projects up to financial close at which point NBT will buy our
partner’s share at a pre-determined price and own 100% of the projects during
construction and operations. As part of the transaction, NBT acquired 50% of a
shareholder loan from Windvision with a face value of EUR 6.1 million. The loan
will be repaid to NBT and Windvision upon financial close by each project pro
rata to its historical development cost. According to the shareholders
agreement, the parties will fund approved development cost by 50% each.
Under the terms of the agreements NBT is obliged to fund certain development
cost related to 2020, but as the obligation to fund only materialized at closing,
these costs have not been accrued in the accounts for 2020. The last payment
according to the share purchase agreement was paid late June 2021 and the
closing confirmation addendum to the share purchase agreement will be signed
early July 2021.
Greece
In the fourth quarter of 2020, NBT signed a framework agreement with RES
Invest SA, a Greek developer, to co-develop wind projects in Greece. The
partners will co-develop the projects up to financial close, at which point NBT
will have the right to acquire a minimum of 85% of the share capital of each
project at a pre-determined price. The first 250 MW of projects under the
framework agreement was signed in the fourth quarter and closed in the first
quarter 2021. According to the shareholders agreement, the parties will fund
approved development cost 60% by NBT and 40% by RES. Under the terms of
the agreements NBT is obliged to fund certain development cost related to
2020, but as the obligation to fund only materialized at closing, these costs have
not been accrued in the accounts for 2020.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE PARENT COMPANY
INCOME STATEMENT – PARENT COMPANY
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Income from management services
Other income
Total operating revenues
Personnel expenses
Depreciation
Intercompany management service cost
Other operating expenses
Total operating expenses

Note

2020

2019

35 473
‐
35 473

12 100
76 053
88 153

(22 949)
(176)
(10 666)
(47 948)
(81 739)

(10 717)
(28)
(15 585)
(22 415)
(48 745)

(46 266)

39 408

17, 18
17
17

1 521
(76 389)
(21 547)
(96 415)
(142 681)

17 639
(75 664)
9 459
(48 566)
(9 158)

12

‐
(142 681)

‐
(9 158)

(142 681)
(142 681)

(9 158)
(9 158)

13
14, 15
3
16, 18
14, 15, 16

Operating result
Financial income
Financial expenses
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss)
Net financial items
Result before tax
Tax expense
Net result

Allocation of net result for the year:
Uncovered losses
Total allocation of net result for the year
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AT 31 DECEMBER – PARENT COMPANY
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Note

ASSETS
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investments in subsidiaries
Receivables on Group companies
Other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted
Total non-current assets

3
3
4
5, 17
6
8

Trade debtors
Other current receivables and prepaid expenses
Receivables on Group companies
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Total assets
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Share capital
Other equity
Uncovered losses
Total equity
Liabilities from Group companies
Total non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing short-term debt
Trade payables
Other liabilities from Group companies
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Total liabilities
Total liabilities and equity

2020

2019

1 611
355
116 451
555 435
13 088
952
687 892

460
458
43 672
570 319
932
615 841

1 484
23 273
45 628
979
1 089
72 453
760 345

3 099
17 599
11 227
657
1 911
34 493
650 334

9
9, 15

3 422
290 148
-395 939
-102 369

3 422
278 471
-253 258
28 635

5, 17

-

19 925
19 925

811 066
34 182
10 318
7 148
862 714
862 714
760 345

588 936
8 000
1 382
3 456
601 774
621 699
650 334

7
5, 17
8
8

10
5, 7
11
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS – PARENT COMPANY
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Note

Operating activities
Profit/(loss) before tax
Adjustments to reconcile profit/(loss) before tax to net cash flows:
Depreciations
Impairment changes
Unrealized gain / loss on exchange
Interest expenses/income
Other changes
Share option plan
Working capital adjustments:
Change in interest-free assets, trade receivables,
other receivable and prepayments
Change in interest-free liabilities, trade and other payables,
and refund liabilities

3
16
16

Interest received
Interest paid
Net cash flow used in operating activities
Investing activities
Payments for property, plant and equipment
Payments for intangibles
Payments for acquisitions and equity investments
New long-term receivable
New long-term receivable intercompany
Total payments
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of subsidiaries and other equity investments
Instalment short-term receivable, interest bearing
Total proceeds
Net cash flows used in investing activities

Financing activities
Instalments short term debt
Instalments long-term debt, intercompany
Instalments short-term debt, intercompany
New short-term debt
New long-term debt, intercompany
Net cash flows from financing activities
Net cash-flow
Net foreign exchange difference
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

3
3
4
6
5
3
4

10
5
5
10
5

2020

2019

(142 681)

(9 158)

176
1 061
19 785
73 477
9 028
8 177

28
816
(9 459)
57 817
27 192
-

(29 151)

(1 614)

29 823

(20 087)

21
(8 629)
(38 913)

21
(25 533)
20 008

(1 223)
(71 467)
(13 322)
(14 361)
(100 373)
300
300
(100 073)

(486)
(460)
(43 674)
(79 400)
(124 020)
15
49
88 808
88 872
(35 148)

(3 916)
(19 925)
162 220
138 379

(20 949)
(8 637)
26 852
19 925
17 191

(607)
107
2 568
2 068

2 051
723
2 774
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY – PARENT COMPANY
Uncovered
Other paid
losses/
in equity retained earnings

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Share
capital

Share
premium

Equity at 1 January 2019
Share issue, conversions of loans
Conversion rights
Net result for the year
Equity at 31 December 2019

3 377
45
3 422

128 600
13 517
142 117

135 286
1 070
136 356

(244 102)
(9 158)
(253 258)

23 161
13 562
1 070
(9 158)
28 635

Equity at 1 January 2020
Share issue, conversions of loans
Conversion rights
Share option program
Net result for the year
Equity at 31 December 2020

3 422
3 422

142 117
142 117

136 354
3 500
8 177
148 031

(253 258)
(142 681)
(395 939)

28 633
3 500
8 177
(142 681)
(102 369)

Total equity
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – PARENT COMPANY
NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF KEY ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
NBT AS’ annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the
Norwegian Accounting Act and generally accepted accounting practice in
Norway (NGAAP).

benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an
asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is
available.

OPERATING REVENUES
Revenues from sale services are recognised at the fair value of the consideration
less VAT, estimated returns and discounts.

Tax, deferred tax and deferred tax asset
The income tax expense for a period comprises current tax and deferred tax.
The current tax is calculated on the basis of the year’s taxable income. Deferred
tax is calculated on all temporary differences between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements using the
liability method. Deferred tax assets are capitalised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

Sales are taken to income when goods/services have been delivered to the
customer and there are no unsatisfied commitments which may influence the
customer’s acceptance of the product.
Revenue from services is recognised by reference to the labour hours delivered
and direct expenses are incurred.
CLASSIFICATIONS
Assets intended for permanent ownership or use are classified as non-current
assets. Assets that are associated with the goods circulation, receivables that
shall be paid within a year and assets that are not intended for permanent
ownership or use by the company are classified as current assets. Liabilities with
maturity more than one year after the balance sheet date are recorded as noncurrent liabilities. Other liabilities are classified as current.

Loans
Loans are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs. Convertible
loans with subscription rights comprise an equity component and a debt
component based on the terms of the agreement and are recognised in the
balance sheet at fair value at initial recognition. When the loan is issued the fair
value of the conversion rights and debt component is calculated using the
market rate for non-convertible loans. The fair value of the debt component is
presented as a convertible loan, while the value of the conversion rights is
presented as equity. The value of the conversion rights is recognised in profit
and loss as an interest expense over the term of the loan.

VALUATION POLICIES
Foreign currency
The functional currency and presentation currency of the Company is
Norwegian kroner (NOK). Transactions in foreign currency are translated at the
rate applicable on the transaction date. Monetary items in a foreign currency
are translated into NOK using the exchange rate applicable on the balance sheet
date. Non-monetary items that are measured at their historical cost expressed
in a foreign currency are translated into NOK using the exchange rate applicable
on the transaction date. Non-monetary items that are measured at their fair
value expressed in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate
applicable on the balance sheet date.

Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables and other receivables are recorded at nominal value less
provisions for bad debt. Provisions for bad debt are made on the basis of
individual assessments of the relevant receivables. An unspecified provision is
also made to cover losses on other trade receivables.
Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures
Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are recognised at
acquisition cost adjusted for any impairment. Each investment is assessed
individually. Received dividends and other profit distributions from the
companies are recognised as financial income. Realised gains or losses and any
impairment due to a permanent decrease in value are included in the income
statement under financial items.
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recognised at their acquisition cost, less
accumulated depreciation. The acquisition cost includes costs directly
associated with the acquisition of the asset. Property, plant and equipment are
depreciated over its useful life using the straight-line method. Depreciation
commence from the date the asset is employed.
Pensions and pension obligations
The company has a defined contribution pension scheme for all employees. A
defined contribution pension scheme is a privately owned and administered
scheme. The company has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee

Conversion rights
Conversion rights are measured at fair value at date of issue, and the fair value
is based on observed market transactions. The fair value is recognised in the
income statement as an interest expense and in the balance sheet as an increase
in equity.
Provisions
The Company recognises provisions when the Company has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Company
will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of
the amount of the obligation.
The amount recognised as provisions is the best estimate of the consideration
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taken into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When
the effect of time is material, and present value calculation is applied, the
discount rate used is a pre-tax rate that reflects the risks specific to the liability.
Any increase in the liability that reflects the passage of time is recognised as an
interest expense.
Share capital and share premiums
Shares capital and share premium is classified as equity when there are no
obligations for transferring cash or assets (fully paid).
Costs directly attributable to the issue of shares are presented as a reduction in
equity, net after tax.
PRESENTATION OF COST REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENTS
Agreements where the consideration is reimbursement of costs or a major
remuneration in the agreement is reimbursement of external costs are classified
and presented as a cost reduction and reducing the respective cost category in
the profit and loss statement for the company.
PRINCIPLES FOR CASH FLOW STATEMENT
The cash flow statement has been prepared in accordance with the indirect
method. This means that the company’s income for the year is used as a basis
for the analysis in order to be able to present cash flows separately for operating
activities, investment activities and financing activities respectively.
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NOTE 2 GOING CONCERN

Total interest-bearing debt at 31 December was NOK 811 million. The interestbearing debt matures in August and November 2021.
The company’s continued operations depend on successful refinancing of the
debt and on its ability to fund operations. As such the going concern assumption
on which the financial statements are prepared, hinges entirely on the
company’s ability to refinance and/or raise new equity.
The Company is in the process of refinancing its debt obligations. The two
corporate bonds issued by the Company and the NOK 122.3 million loan are
planned to be refinanced through issuance of a new bond or converted to equity
when the Group is raising equity for the Zophia project. The equity process does
also include equity for developments activities and general corporate purposes
for the next 12 months. The company is working with its largest shareholders
and its advisors to complete the equity raise in July 2021.
Based on this the board has concluded that the going concern principle as
outlined in section 3-3 of the Norwegian Accounting Act can be applied, and the
board therefore confirms that the consolidated financial statement and the
financial statement of the parent company have been based on the going
concern assumption.
Should the expected transaction, or a similar transaction, for any reason, fail to
materialize, the conditions for the going concern assumption is materially
jeopardized. In such an event the board would immediately need to seek
alternative ways to re-finance and/or raise new equity from other sources. In an
event that the company is not able to refinance, postpone due dates for its loans

and/or raise enough capital there is a risk that projects cannot be realised and
that the book value of assets will be eroded.
During the first quarter of 2021 Syvashenergoprom LLC signed an amended
power purchase agreement with the Guaranteed Buyer, the Ukrainian offtaker
for electricity generated by renewable energy. The amendment is mandatory for
all renewable energy producers in Ukraine. Due to the short deadline for signing
imposed by the Guaranteed Buyer, the amendment was signed without consent
of the lenders, which under the Common Terms Agreement (“CTA”) constitutes
a breach of undertakings, which is an event of default if not cured or waived.
Syvashenergoprom LLC has requested EBRD to waive the breach. Such waiver
has not been obtained as of the reporting date, and the company is working with
EBRD to resolve the issue. This situation is not project specific as EBRD has
declined to approve the PPA amendment or provide a waiver across its loan
portfolio in Ukraine. Over multiple interactions with the Company, EBRD has
indicated that it has no intention to take any steps that will prevent
Syvashenergoprom LLC from drawing debt or reaching Commercial Operations
Date (COD). NBT does not expect this event to have any material impact on the
Syvash wind farm.
The green bond loan, senior secured and the senior secured convertible loan
includes cross default provisions, and the default in Syvashenergoprom LLC
triggered disclosures to the bondholders of these loans. The bond holders were
notified on 30 May 2021. The Company has not received any notice from the
bond holders and expect no impact on the repayment of the loans.

NOTE 3 INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Intangible assets
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Software

Total

Carrying value:
Purchase cost pr. 01.01.2020
Additions

460
1 223

460
1 223

Purchase cost pr. 31.12.2020
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.
Net book value pr. 31.12.2020

1 683
(72)
1 611

1 683
(72)
1 611

Estimated useful life
Depreciation plan

Property, plant and equipment
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Carrying value:
Purchase cost pr. 01.01.2020
Additions
Purchase cost pr. 31.12.2020
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.
Net book value pr. 31.12.2020
Estimated useful life
Depreciation plan

3-5 years
Straight line

Fixtures and fittings

Total

486
486
-131
355

486
486
-131
355

3-5 years
Straight line
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NOTE 4 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND OTHER SHARES
Investments of subsidiaries:
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
East Renewable Zophia AB
East Renewable AB
NBT Renewable Energy Ltd.
NBT Renewable Energy Singapore (Pte), Ltd.
Investments in subsidiaries

Incorporated/
acquired

Registered
office

Shareholding

Voting rights

2019
2018
2008
2011

Sweden
Sweden
Cyprus
Singapore

100%
100%
100%
100%

100%
100%
100%
100%

acquired
2020

Registered
office
Norway

Shareholding
24,92%

Voting rights
24,92%

Cost
33 892
81 247
41 776
72 333

Carrying value Carrying value
31.12.2020
31.12.2019
33 893
81 247
1 311
116 451

168
43 504
43 672

Investments in other shares:
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Impact Technology Systems AS
Investments in other shares

Cost
6 355

Carrying value Carrying value
31.12.2020
31.12.2019
-

In July 2020 NBT converted a unsecured loan, nominal value of NOK 1.6 million, and part of a senior secured loan, nominal val ue of 5 million to shares in Impact
Technology Systems AS (“ITS”). In November NBT 3 million shares for NOK 300 thousand, equal to the conversion price. At December 2020 NBT AS holds 24,95% of
the shares in ITS. As of year end 2020 the nominal value of the shares amounts to about NOK 6.3 million. NBT has made a full impairment of the shares.

NOTE 5 INTERCOMPANY RECEIVABLES AND LIABILITIES WITH GROUP COMPANIES
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

NBT Renewable Energy Ltd, Cyprus
NBT Renewable Energy Singapore (Pte) Ltd, Singapore
NBT International Ltd, Hong Kong

600 250
27 677
-

615 134
28 154
1 497

Allowance for impairment loss

(72 492)

(74 466)

Total non-current receivables on Group companies

555 435

570 319

Receivables to subsidiaries
In connection with the preparation of the financial statement for 2020 NBT has
made an assessment of the recoverability of the loan given to NBT Renewable
Energy Ltd as there are indications of impairment. The valuation is based on
expected cash flow from the joint ventures, Baicheng and Linxi until 2036 (the
project expected useful lifetime). NBT made four scenarios of repayment of the
loan as follow:

•
•
•

Cash flow based on estimated expectations of the operation in the
joint ventures, yearly divided payment from Linxi from the year 2021
Cash flow based on a more conservative estimate of net profit from
operation in the joint ventures, yearly dividend payment from Linxi
from the year 2021
Cash flow based on a worst-case scenario of no growth in net profit
from 2021 onwards in the operation in the joint ventures, yearly
payments od dividends from Linxi from the year 2021

The analysis performed showed that expected dividend only would cover
interest on the loan. Taken this fact, the operation in the company NBT
Renewable Ltd and indications of impairment into consideration, it was
concluded that it is not possible to charge interest on the loan.
It has been made an amendment to the original loan agreement to remove the
interest on the loan from the year 2020.
All different scenarios above, with no interest on the loan, shows that the loan
can be paid down in 2036, when the projects can be sold or reinvested.
Based on the uncertainty in the analysis it is concluded that it will not be enough
supporting documentation to reverse the impairment of NOK 45 million, but it

was concluded that it is not indications to impair the booked value of the
receivable at year end 2020.
NBT AS invoices management services to its subsidiaries on an arms-length
basis. The management services charge covers the cost of the services provided
by the parent company to its subsidiaries, with the addition of a mark-up of 5
percent. These services comprise accounting, controlling, consultancy work,
legal advice, legal fees, information services, etc. In addition, NBT AS has made
some payments on behalf of some of its subsidiaries. Most of the subsidiaries
do not have sufficient cash flow to pay the management fees and operating
expenses. Hence, NBT AS funds these subsidiaries by granting additional loans.
By the end of each year an assessment of the recoverability of the receivables
are made and an impairment of the receivables and loans are made if required.
All receivables on NBT Renewable Energy Singapore (Pte) Ltd, all the Pakistani
companies and NBT International Ltd was fully impaired by the end of 2016.
NBT has been working to dispose the Szabist project in Pakistan and in the
meanwhile continued to provide management services and funding to NBT
Renewable Energy Singapore (Pte) Ltd as the holding company for the Pakistani
operations. In June 2019 an assessment of the probability to dispose the Szabist
project was performed together with an assessment of the expected
recoverability for the project. Following this assessment it was concluded to
close down the activities in Pakistan. The formal liquidation process is still
ongoing at year end 2020 and is expected to take time. NBT needs to provide
funding to close the companies properly and all loans given to NBT Renewable
Energy Singapore (Pte) Ltd have been fully impaired from the year end 2018 and
onwards.
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None of the receivables on loans given to other subsidiaries carries any interest.
The company regards the receivables as long term, as repayments are not likely
to take place within a 12-month period.

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

East Renewable AB, Sweden
East Renewable Zophia AB, Sweden
East Renewable Zophia Super Holdco AB, Sweden
Azovinvestprom LLC, Ukraine
AzovPromEnergo LLC, Ukraine
Zophia III LLC, Ukraine

6 041
114
2 094
14 973
22 406

3 723
47
7 457
-

Total current receivables from Group companies

45 628

11 227

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

(Amounts in NOK 1000)
East Renewable AB, Sweden

-

19 925

Total non-current liabilities from Group companies

-

19 925

NBT AS had a seller’s credit from East Renewable AB of EUR 2.02 million that arose in connection with the separation of the Zophia wind park from East Renewable
AB. The seller’s credit totals EUR 2.02 million and was paid by the year end 2020.
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
NBT Development Limited, Hong Kong
East Renewable Zophia Super Holdco AB, Sweden
Total current liabilities to Group companies

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

1 296
9 022

1 382
-

10 318

1 382

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

NOTE 6 OTHER NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES

(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Loan to Windvision Serbia BV
Total long-term receivables

13 088
13 088

-

Loan to Windvision Serbia Holding B.V
In November 2020 NBT sign a share purchase agreement with Windvision Holding B.V (seller) to by 50% of the shares in Windvisi on Serbia Holding B.V and 50% of
the WindVision historical loans according to an agreed payment schedule. By year end 2020 NBT has paid EUR 1.25 million, the payment was a partly payment of
historical loans. The shares were purchased and transferred to NBT AS in February, but with no voting rights before closing. The last payment according to the share
purchase agreement was paid late June 2021 and the closing confirmation addendum to the share purchase agreement will be signed early July 2021.
Until closing the payment is defined as a prepayment. All payments to close the deal has been paid by end June, and based on this the payment in 2020 is booked as
a loan to WindVision Serbia B.V, and not a short-term prepayment.
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NOTE 7 OTHER CURRENT RECEIVABLES AND PREPAID EXPENSES
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

VAT Settlement
Prepayments to suppliers
Cost re-imbursement for incurred advisers’ costs for the Syvash project
Other current receivables

1 831
614
16 181
4 647

1 107
309
15 390
793

Total

23 273

17 599

NBT has incurred advisers’ costs related to the development of the Syvash windfarm project. According to the development and support agreement with the project
company, Syvashenergoprom LLC, specified external advisers’ costs can be re-charged to the project company. This includes among others, fees to technical advisers,
legal advisers, market advisers, insurance advisers as well as other direct project specific costs. As at year end 2020 NBT has capitalised NOK 16.2 million, the amount
can be invoiced when the Syvash wind farm is constructed and the certain conditions in the project financing agreement for Syvashenergoprom LLC are fulfilled.
Current expectation is that all conditions in the project financing agreement will be fulfilled during the second quarter of 2021. Subsequently the advisers’ costs can
be invoiced to the project company.

NOTE 8 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Debt service accounts for bond loan - restricted
Deposit account office rental - restricted

215
737

203
729

Total non- current restricted cash

952

932

Tax deduction account - restricted

979

657

Total current restricted cash

979

657

Total restricted cash and cash equivalents

1 931

1 589

Current accounts

1 089

1 911

Total unrestricted cash and cash equivalents

1 089

1 911

Total cash and cash equivalents

3 020

3 500
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NOTE 9 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDERS
On 31 December 2020, the company had issued 34 219 239 shares with a nominal value of NOK 0.10. All shares issued carry equal rights.
The table below shows changes in the share capital and number of shares.
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Date
1 January 2019
14 September 2019
16 November 2019
31 December 2019
14 December 2020
31 December 2020
31 December 2020

Type of change Number of shares
Total
Conversion rights1)
Share issue
Total
Conversion rights1)
Share option plan
Total

33 767 156
452 083
34 219 239
34 219 239

Share capital
3 377
45
3 422
3 422

Share premium
128 600
13 517
142 117
142 117

Other paid
in equity

Total paid
in equity

135 285
1 070
136 354
3 500
8 177
148 030

267 262
1 070
13 562
281 893
3 500
8 177
293 569

1) See note 10 Bond loan and other interest-bearing liabilities for description of the conversion rights and the valuation of the conversion rights at the time of issuance.

2020
Average number of shares
Total average number of shares and options
Number of shares at 31 December
Diluted number of shares at 31 December2)

34 219 239
34 219 239
34 219 239
34 219 239

All shares are fully paid in.
2) In addition, the number of shares may be further diluted by conversion of convertible loans, please refer to note 10 Bond loan and other interest-bearing liabilities

2019
33 842 710
33 842 710
34 219 239
34 219 239
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At 31 December 2020 NBT AS had 145 shareholders.

20 largest shareholders
Shares issued at 31.12.2020
#
Shareholder
1
Arctic Securities AS1)
2
Lani Invest AS
3
Aker Capital AS
4
Joar Gudmund Viken
5
Al Shamrani, Ayed Mosa A
6
SMA Mineral B.V
7
Green Tech International ANS
8
Veda A/S
9
Borgestad ASA
10
Meteva AS
11
Siviløkonom Bent Bugge AS
12
Wing Sang Luk
13
Pink Panda Holding AS
14
Daimyo AS
15
Duval Invest AS
16
Jon Burum
17
Frogner Boligeiendom Holding AS
18
Monika Skar
19
Frogner Boligeiendom AS
20
Brown Brothers Harriman & Co
Total 20 largest shareholders
Total other shareholders
Total number of shares

Number of shares held
8 842 397
3 482 583
2 849 827
2 429 780
2 085 041
1 604 415
1 400 000
1 274 000
1 021 345
1 000 000
830 000
821 000
766 306
611 550
510 000
432 100
285 502
272 730
245 000
223 000
30 986 576
3 232 663
34 219 239

Ownership
25,84%
10,18%
8,33%
7,10%
6,09%
4,69%
4,09%
3,72%
2,98%
2,92%
2,43%
2,40%
2,24%
1,79%
1,49%
1,26%
0,83%
0,80%
0,72%
0,65%
90,55%
9,45%
100,00%

1) Shares held by Arctic Securities AS sold on forward contracts.

SHARES HELD BY DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2020:
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Position
Number of shares
Svein Sivertsen
Ulf Juvél, including SMA Mineral B.V
Sverre Stavseth
Joar Viken
Total

Chairman
Director
Director
CEO

5 500
1 605 372
16 642
2 429 780
4 057 294

1) SMA Mineral B.V is controlled by a related party of Mr. Juvél.
2) Including Sverre Invest AS.

Management is part of the share option plan, please refer to Note 15 Share Option Plan.
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NOTE 10 BOND LOAN AND OTHER INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES
INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Convertible bond loan
Borrowing cost convertible bond loan
Amortisation of borrowing cost convertible bond loan
Accrued interest

282 290
(71 787)
71 787
31 125

282 290
(71 787)
54 539
10 356

Carrying value convertible bond loan

313 415

275 398

Senior secured bond loan
Borrowing cost senior secured bond loan
Amortisation of borrowing cost senior secured bond loan
Accrued interest

340 102
(10 413)
10 413
21 762

300 102
(6 413)
5 561
-

Carrying value senior secured bond loan

361 864

299 250

Convertible loans
Borrowing cost convertible loans
Amortisation of borrowing cost convertible loans
Accrued interest

122 300
(3 500)
354
241

-

Carrying value convertible loans

119 395

-

Other interest-bearing short-term debt

16 391

14 288

TOTAL INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES

811 066

588 936

Total interest-bearing debt at the start of the year
New loans with cash effect
New loans without cash effect1)
Down-payments loans
Capitalised loan cost (cash effect)
Capitalised loan cost (no cash effect)
Amortisation of loan cost (no cash effect)
Conversion of loan to equity (no cash effect)
Accrued interest (no cash effect)
Effects of changes in foreign currency rate

588 936
166 220
(3 916)
(4 000)
(3 500)
22 454
44 584
287

547 749
26 852
23 212
(20 949)
(1 070)
22 861
(13 563)
3 843
-

Total interest-bearing debt at year end

811 066

588 936

Reconciliation of interest-bearing debt

1) Interest capitalised as new loans

THE 2015 – 2020 SENIOR SECURED BOND LOAN
On 30 June 2015, the company issued a new 5-year senior secured bond loan.
The main terms of the loan are as follows:

•
•
•
•

5-year duration with maturity 30 September 2020
Fixed interest rate of 8.5 percent per annum
Quarterly interest payments and interest payments for the first three
years were settled by issuing additional bonds (“PIK settlement”).
From second half 2018 interest payments are payable.
The bond loan is secured with pledges over the company’s assets as
listed below

After maturity date on 30 September 2020 there has been singed amendment
agreements with the bondholders to change the final maturity date.
Last amendment extended the maturity date to 21 November 2021.

THE 2015 – 2020 CONVERTIBLE LOAN
On 14 September 2015, NBT AS issued an unsecured subordinated convertible
bond loan. The main terms of the loan are as follows:

•
•
•
•

There are no financial covenants for the bond loan.
Borrowing costs are recognised in the income over the term of the loan and
offset in the balance sheet against the nominal value of the loan.
In February 2020 NBT made a tap issue on the senior secured bond loan of NOK
40 million.

•

•

5-year duration with maturity 14 September 2020
Fixed interest rate of 8.5 percent per annum with annual capitalisation
Interest to be settled by issuing additional bonds (“PIK settlement”)
The convertible bond loan is unsecured and subordinated to the 2015
– 2020 senior secured bond loan
Convertible to shares in NBT AS at an exercise price of NOK 30 per
share. The exercise price will, adjusted in case of an IPO event, be set
to the lowest of NOK 30 per share and the IPO price less a discount of
10 percent.
The company has an option to settle conversions as a cash settlement

There are no financial covenants for the convertible bond loan.
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Borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement over the term of the
loan and offset in the balance sheet against the nominal value of the convertible
bond. Total borrowing costs at year end 2020 amounts to NOK 71.8 million,
including a calculated fair value of the conversion rights of NOK 53.3 million. The
value of the conversion rights is calculated based on the cash flow from the loan
discounted with an assumed interest rate of a loan with similar terms and
conditions with no conversion rights. The difference between the face value of
the loan and calculated discounted value of the loan with the applied market rate
is regarded as the value of the conversion rights. At the time the bond was issued
in 2015 the fair value of the conversion rights was calculated to 44.6 million
assuming an alternative effective interest (exclusive other loan costs) of 14
percent. In the financial statement for the parent company the value of the
conversion rights is presented as “other paid in capital” (refer to note 9) and
capitalised as loan costs. As the interest payments for the loan is made by issuing
additional bonds (Payment in Kind), the new bonds can also be converted to
shares at the same terms as the original loan. These conversion rights have been
valued with the same alternative interest of 14 percent. The value of the
conversion’s rights issued until 2020 has a totalled value of 10,7 million, and is
also presented as “other paid in capital” and amortised over the remaining loan
period.
After maturity date at 14 September 2020 there has been singed amendment
agreements with the bondholders to change the final maturity date and interest
payment date.
Last amendment extended the maturity date to 21 November 2021.
CONVERTIBLE LOAN FACILITY - AKER
On 1 July 2020 NBT received a mandatory convertible loan with no interest and
maturity date 30 November 2020. On 14 December 2020 NBT signed an
amendment to this agreement, that changes the loan form mandatory
conversion to a right to convert the loan into shares. The main terms of amended
agreement of the loan are as follows:

•
•
•

Maturity 31 May 2021
Fixed interest rate of 4.5 percent per annum
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•
•
•

The convertible bond loan is unsecured
Convertible to shares in NBT AS at an exercise price of NOK 70 per
share. The exercise price will, adjusted in case of an IPO event, be set
to the lowest of NOK 70 per share and the IPO price.
The company has an option to settle conversions as a cash settlement

There are no financial covenants for the convertible bond loan.
Borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement over the term of the
loan and offset in the balance sheet against the nominal value of the convertible
bond. Total borrowing costs at year end 2020 amounts to NOK 3.5 million and is
the calculated fair value of the conversion rights. The value of the conversion
rights is calculated based on the cash flow from the loan discounted with an
assumed interest rate of a loan with similar terms and conditions with no
conversion rights and a black Scholes model. After a analysis of all facts and
circumstances it was estimated a value of the convertible rights to 3.5 million
assuming an alternative effective interest of 10 percent. In the financial
statement for the parent company the value of the conversion rights is presented
as “other paid in capital” (refer to note 9) and capitalised as loan costs. As the
interest payments for the loan is made by issuing additional bonds (Payment in
Kind), the new bonds can also be converted to shares at the same terms as the
original loan.
In June 2021 the maturity date was amended to 31 August 2021. Further, the
exercise price was changed to the lower of a future share subscription price less
17,5% or NOK 70 per share.
SHORT TERM INTEREST-BEARING DEBT
During 2019 NBT raised a total of NOK 13.4 million in short term liquidity loans.
The loans have carried interest in the range of 10 to 15 percent per annum. One
of these loans was paid back, but given as a new loan to NBT and transferred in
return to NBT. The loans are prolonged for repayment at 30 June 2021. The
Company has initiated a process to extend the maturity to 21 November and
expect this to be finalised before payment is due.

Interest to be settled by issuing additional bonds (“PIK settlement”)

Assets pledged as security for the 2015 – 2020 senior secured bond loan

Book value

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

31.12.2020

NBT AS' receivable on NBT Renewable Energy Ltd., Cyprus
NBT AS' shares in NBT Renewable Energy Ltd., Cyprus 1)
NBT AS' shares in NBT Renewable Energy (Singapore) Pte Ltd., Singapore 2)
NBT Renewable Energy Ltd, Cyprus' shares in NBT Energy Ltd. 3)
NBT Renewable Energy Ltd, Cyprus' receivable on NBT Energy Ltd. 3)
1)
2)
3)

555 435
46 477
-

Book value in NBT AS. Investment in NBT Renewable Energy Ltd. was written down to nil in 2011.
Book value in NBT AS. Investment in NBT Renewable Energy (Singapore) Pte Ltd. was written down to nil in 2015.
NBT Renewable Energy Ltd owns 33% of the shares in NBT Energy Ltd and has also provided an interest free loan to NBT Energy Ltd with a nominal value of USD 9.9 million. In the consolidated
accounts both the share investment and the interest free loan is classified as investment in the NBT Energy Ltd joint venture. Carrying value of the combined investment in the consolidated accounts is
provided in the table above.

NOTE 11 OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Public taxes and charges payable
Other current liabilities

2 248
4 900

1 067
2 389

Total other current liabilities

7 148

3 456
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NOTE 12 TAXES
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Taxable income:
Profit before tax
Change in temporary differences not included as deferred tax asset/liabilities
Permanent differences
Basis for tax expense
Change in temporary differences
Change tax losses carried forward
Taxable income

2020

2019

(142 681)
(1 974)
18 880
(125 775)
20 037
105 738
-

(9 158)
(4 522)
41 845
28 165
(35 566)
7 401
-

Tax expense:
Current tax expense
Change in deferred tax assets/liabilities
Tax expense
Specification of temporary differences
Provisions and other differences
Fixed assets
Receivables
Allowance for no tax-deductible item
Net temporary differences
Tax loss carried forward
Basis for tax assets (-) /liabilities (+)
Deferred tax (+)/Deferred tax assets (-)
Not recognised tax assets
Deferred tax (+)/Deferred tax assets (-) in the financial statement
Tax rate

-

(300)
(123)
56 775
72 492
128 844
(508 734)
(379 890)
(83 576)
83 576
0
22%

-

4 725
(42)
69 732
74 466
148 881
(377 997)
(229 116)
(50 406)
50 406
0
22%

The deferred tax asset of NOK 50.5 million is not recognised in the balance sheet since it is not probable that the company will be able to offset any taxable profit in the
near future.

NOTE 13 REVENUES
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

2020

2019

Management service income from Group companies
Other services/revenues

35 473
-

12 100
76 053

Total revenues

35 473

88 153

2020
Management service income from Group companies increased due to high activity related to Zophia projects.
NBT has assisted the Zophia project companies with all major development work related to the development of the Zophia project, including financing, obtaining
EPC contract, obtaining all required governmental approvals, ensure all required environmental and social studies are prepared. This included contracting and
engaging advisers that were required to obtain all approvals, a signed EPC contract and financing of the project
2019
Other income is development service fee invoiced for work related to development and raising financing for the Syvash wind farm project.

65 NBT Annual report 2020

Financial statements – parent company

NOTE 14 PERSONNEL EXPENSES
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

2020

Wages and salaries including holiday pay
National insurance contributions
Pension costs
Other staff expenses
Total

18 864
2 243
1 180
662
22 949

2019
8 047
1 438
726
506
10 717

Employee numbers1)

2020

2019

Employees at 31 December
Full time equivalents/man years
Average for the year

12
10,9
10,9

9
6,2
6,2

Pension cost

Total
remuneration

1)

Excluding Management for Hire

2020
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Salary

Joar Viken, CEO1)
Thorstein Jenssen, CFO 2)
Ketil Sundal CFO3)
Erling Thiis CFO4)
Total NBT AS

2 690
3 417
1 540
1 576
7 647

Bonus
-

Other
remuneration
13
15
5
28

190
132
190

2 893
3 432
1 540
1 713
7 865

2019
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Salary

Joar Viken, CEO1)
Thorstein Jenssen, SVP Corp. Finance, 2)
Ketil Sundal CFO3)
Total NBT AS

2 125
2 400
1 811
6 336

1)
2)
3)
4)

Bonus
-

Other
remuneration
192
14
206

Pension cost
193
193

Total
remuneration
2 510
2 414
1 811
6 735

Joar Viken stepped down as CEO 1. May 2021 and is engaged as an advisor to the Company. He has a notice period of 6 months and is entitled to severance pay up to 24 months
if the employment is terminated by the company.
Thorstein Jenssen is engaged through a company controlled by Mr. Jenssen. The table shows the invoiced amount for the period. He has been the CFO in the Group since
November 2020.
Ketil Sundal is an independent consultant that has been engaged as CFO in both 2019 and partly in 2020. The table shows the invoiced amount for the period.
Erling Thiis was employed as the Group CFO for the period April – November 2020.

Board of Directors
The shareholders’ meeting in June 2018 approved a remuneration for the Board period 2018/2019 of NOK 250,000 for the chair and NOK 150,000 for the other
Board members. The shareholders approved quarterly payments. The shareholder’s meeting in June 2020 approved the same remuneration for the Board period
2020/2021.
Pensions
NBT AS has a defined contribution scheme through DnB Livsforsikring in accordance with the Norwegian Act on Mandatory Occupational Pension.
Remuneration to auditor
Expensed fees to the company's auditor (excluding VAT):
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

2020

2019

Auditing, Deloitte
Other services, Deloitte
Total

1 055
25
1 080

813
54
867
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NOTE 15 SHARE OPTION PLAN
OPTION PROGRAMME
NBT has a share option programme covering certain employees and hired
personnel. As at 2020 20 persons were included in the option programme, 5
people are employed in NBT Renewable Energy Ltd (NBT RE), 5 people are inhouse consultants at NBT AS and 10 people are employed at NBT AS.
The share option programme is divided into two parts, where one part of the
options are vested immediately and the other part is vested over a period of two
years. The options may be exercised within three years from the date of the
agreement, if the shares in NBT AS are not listed on a regulated market within
the Exercise Period, the intention of the Parties is to extend the Exercise Period
until such listing.
The fair value of the options is set on the grant date and expensed over the
vesting period.
Cost related to consultants are treated as consultants fee and calculated cost for
employees are expensed as personnel expenses. Cost for the employees in NBT
Renewable Energy Ltd (NBT RE) has been booked as equity investment in the
subsidiary, as the cost is expensed in NBT RE. The share program has been
granted from NBT AS, and at the time of transfer of shares to the employees it
will be NBT AS that has to cover the cost of issuing new shares or purchase
shares in the market. It is no requirement of reimbursement of the cost from
NBT RE. Total expenses booked as investment in NBT RE is NOK 1.3 million.
NOK 3.628 million and NOK 3.686 million have been expensed in 2020 as
personnel expenses and other operating expenses respectively. The fair value of
options granted in 2020 was on average NOK 5,6 per option. The recognised
share option programme liability is NOK 8.177 as of 2020, this is recognized as
other paid in equity.
OVERVIEW OF OUTSTANDING OPTIONS:
Options granted
2 385 000

Joar Viken
Thorstein Jenssen
Total

Expiry date

Average strike price

02.06.2023

33

Number of share
options
2 385 000
2 385 000

The fair value of the options has been calculated using Black & Scholes optionpricing model.
The average fair value of the options granted in 2020 is NOK 5,6.

Share price on the grant date
The share price on grant date is set based on external valuation and historical
transactions. The stock price is estimated, since the shares is not listed.

The strike price per option
The strike price is a fix price agreed in the option agreement.

Life of the option
Lifetime of the option is estimated to be 1 year after vesting. This is argued to
be a fair assumption based on the agreement.

Volatility
Volatility is calculated based on historical volatility pf similar listed entities, and
it is assumed that historic volatility is an indication of future volatility. The
expected volatility is therefore stipulated to be the same as the historic
volatility, which equals a volatility of 39,5% (1 year), 33,89% (2 years) and
30,97% (3 years).

Dividend

Vested
1 465 000

Non vested
920 000

OUTSTANDING OPTION TO MANAGEMENT:
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

THE OUTSTANDING OPTIONS ARE SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS:

Position Number of options
CEO
CFO

455 000
455 000
910 000

The estimated dividend per share is NOK 0 per annum.

Risk-free interest rate
The risk-free interest rate is set equal to the interest rate on government bonds
during the term of the option, i.e., 0,04% for 2020 (1 year) and 0,19% for 2020
(3 year). The 2-year rate is calculated with use of a linear interpolation between
quoted 1- and 3-years rate.
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NOTE 16 PROFESSIONAL FEES
Overview of Consultants, advisors and legal fees:
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Hired personnel
Consultants and advisors
Legal fees
Total

2020

2019

38 148

11 813

7 743
4 257

1 156
650

50 148

13 619

The Company activity has been higher in 2020 and there has been an increased activity related to new projects and opportunities. These activities have been
supported by advisors, consultants and lawyers.

NOTE 17 FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Interest income
Interest income, Group companies
Total financial income

2020

2019

1 521
1 521

6
17 633
17 639

Interest expenses
Other financial items
Write down on financial investments
Total financial cost

74 998
42
1 349
76 389

75 456
208
75 664

Net change in foreign currency

21 547

(9 459)

Net change in foreign currency

96 415

48 566

Specification of write downs:
Write down intercompany loans
Write down loans to others (reverse)
Write down investments in subsidiaries
Write down investments in other shares

2020
23
(5 010)
6 335

2019
208
-

In July 2020 NBT AS converted part of a loan given to Impact Technology Systems AS into shares in the company. The loan was written off at the time of conversion
to shares, and the write down was reversed. After an impairment test it was conclude to write down the share value.
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NOTE 18 RELATED PARTIES – TRANSACTIONS
Intra-group loans and receivables
Some of the Group’s subsidiaries are financed from the parent company, NBT
AS, either by intra-Group loans or equity. Intra-Group loans are governed by
relevant loan agreements. NBT AS has granted NBT Renewable Energy, Cyprus,
a loan as of 31 December 2020 of USD 70.3 million (NOK 600.2 million) was
drawn under the facility. It has been made an amendment to the original loan
agreement to remove the interest on the loan from the year 2020.

(Amounts in NOK 1000)
NBT Renewable Energy Ltd, Cyprus
NBT Renewable Energy Singapore Pte.
Total management service fees

NBT AS has also granted NBT Renewable Energy Singapore Pte Ltd a USD loan
facility. The facility is a non interest-bearing loan draft facility where the
outstanding amount from time to time will be converted to equity. As of 31
December 2020, a total of USD 3.2 million (NOK 27.7) was drawn under the
facility.
In connection with the development of the Zophia projects certain advisers have
an agreement with NBT AS. These advisers are invoicing NBT, that subsequently
re-charges these costs to East Renewable Zophia Super Holdco AB.
NBT has since 2016 had a short-term advance from NBT Development Limited.
The advance is non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.
Further reference to note 5 for further description of the loans given to the
subsidiaries.

Management services provided from NBT AS
NBT AS invoices management services to its subsidiaries on an arms-length
basis. The table below lists the total management service charges invoiced in
2020 and 2019. The management services charges cover the cost of the services
provided by NBT AS to its subsidiaries, with the addition of a mark-up of 5
percent. These services comprise accounting, controlling, consultancy, legal
advice, legal fees, information services, etc.
In 2019 NBT invoiced management service fee to its subsidiary East Renewable
Super Holdco AB related to the acquisition and development of the Zophia
project. Following an agreement between NBT and Azovinvestprom LLC,
Azovpromenergo LLC and Zophia LLC (project companies for the Zophia project)
where project acquisition and development cost would be charged directly to
the project company, NBT and East Renewable Super Holdco AB agreed to credit
the invoiced management service fee for 2019.
Reference is made to note 5 for further description of the loan balances.
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

2020

NBT Renewable Energy Ltd, Cyprus
East Renewable AB, Sweden
East Renewable Zophia Super Holdco AB, Sweden
NBT Development Ltd, Hong Kong
NBT Renewable Energy Singapore Pte.
Azovinvestprom LLC, Ukraine
Azovpromenergo LLC, Ukraine
Zophia III LLC, Ukraine
Total management service fees

200
800
2 094
14 793
22 406
40 293

Credited to East Renewable Super Holdco AB,
Sweden for invoiced amount in 2019

(5 000)

Management services fees

35 293

2020

2019

10 666

13 170

-

2 415

10 666

15 585

Loans from related parties
Lani Invest AS provided a short-term loan with payment date 31 December 2019.
A new loan agreement was signed, starting from 1th January 2020, the new loan
equalled the nominal value plus interest up to this date, NOK 11.2 million.
Agreed interest on the loan was 12%. The loan maturity date was 30tj June 2020.
After this it has been amendments extending maturity date to 30 June 2021. The
Company has initiated a process to extend the maturity to 21 November and
expect this to be finalised before payment is due.
In July 2019 board member Ulf Juvel provided a loan of EUR 0.3 million that was
applied for development costs related to the Zophia project. The due date was
1 March 2020 and the loan carried an interest of 15 per cent and a commitment
fee of 5 per cent. At the maturity date a new loan agreement was signed, the
new loan equalled the nominal value plus interest and commitment fee up to
the maturity date, EUR 0,342 million. The loan including interest was paid at late
November 2020.
At 2 December 2020 a new loan from Ulf Juvel was received, EUR 0.368 million.
The loan carries an interest of 10%, maturity date was 1 March 2021, later
amended to 30 June 2021. The Company has initiated a process to extend the
maturity to 21 November and expect this to be finalised before payment is due.
NBT received a convertible loan of NOK 122.3 million from Aker 1 July 2020. For
more information please be referred to note 10 Bond Loan and Other Interestbearing liabilities.
Development Support Agreement with Syvashenergoprom LLC
During 2017 and 2018 NBT assisted Syvashenergoprom LLC in the development
of the 245.8 MW Syvash windfarm. The agreement was finally formalized in
January 2019 in connection with the signing of the project financing for the
Syvash project as the project financing lenders required the development
support agreement to be approved by them prior to signing.

2019
500
6 000
5 000
200
400
12 100
12 100

Management services provided by subsidiaries to NBT AS
Personnel from NBT Renewable Energy Ltd and NBT Renewable Energy
Singapore Pte Ltd have during 2019 and 2020 provided services in connection
with the development of the Syvash and Zophia wind farm project.
Additionally, personnel from NBT Renewable Energy Ltd have provided other
services to NBT AS. Management service agreements between NBT AS and the
subsidiaries have been formalized in February 2020 with effect from 2019. The
below table summarizes the management service fees charged to NBT AS for
the services provided. Payments for the services have been done by offsetting
the amount to the inter-company loans that NBT AS has given to the
subsidiaries.

NBT has assisted the project company with all major development work related
to the development of the Syvash project, including financing, obtaining EPC
contract, obtaining all required governmental approvals, ensure all required
environmental and social studies are prepared. This included contracting and
engaging advisers that were required to complete obtain all approvals, a signed
EPC contract and financing of the project.
The development support agreement consists of several elements for
remuneration to NBT, and includes:

•
•
•

Advisers’ costs incurred by NBT to be reimbursed
Syvashenergoprom within certain limitations.

by

A fixed fee of EUR 8 million to NBT.
Additional development fees to NBT up to a maximum of EUR 8.5
million.

The major amounts of the advisers’ costs were re-charged to Syvashenergoprom
during the first quarter of 2019 and has been paid by the project company. An
amount corresponding to about NOK 16 million will be payable following the
completion of the construction as this is defined in the financing agreements.
The fixed fee was invoiced from NBT in the second quarter and has been paid by
the project company.
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Additional development fees may be invoiced following completion of the of the
construction as define in the financing agreements and the final fee depend up
on a series of future events including updated financial forecast for the project.

Development Support Agreement with Zophia Project companies
Development Support Agreement with Zophia Project companies
During 2019 and 2020 NBT assisted the three Zophia Project companies in the
development of the 792.5 MW Zophia windfarm. The agreement was finally
formalized in March 2021 in connection with the signing of the project financing
for the Zophia Project as the project financing lenders required the development
support agreement to be approved by them prior to signing.
NBT has assisted the project company with all major development work related
to the development of the Zophia Project, including financing, obtaining EPC
contract, obtaining all required governmental approvals, ensuring all required
environmental and social studies are prepared. This included contracting and
engaging advisers that were required to complete obtain all approvals, a signed
EPC contract and financing of the project.
The development support agreement consists of several elements for
remuneration to NBT, and includes:
Advisers’ costs incurred by NBT and its affiliates to be reimbursed by Zophia
Project companies within certain limitations.
A fixed fee of EUR 4.8 million to NBT covering the management cost in NBT.
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NOK 39.293 million covering management fee for the year 2019 and 2020 has
been accrued, the total management fee in relation to this agreement will be
invoiced at financial Close.
Impact Technology Systems AS
One member of NBT management is appointed as board member of Impact
Technology Systems AS (“ITS”).
ITS was established in 2011 and acquired on 31 December 2011 NBT’s research
and development activities related to a technology for increased oil recovery.
NBT agreed to provide a seller’s credit to ITS for the sales consideration of the
technology. Due to the liquidity situation for ITS, NBT agreed throughout a series
of amendment and restatement agreements to transfer the original sales
consideration to a senior secured loan. As a part of the restructuring NBT also
provided an unsecured loan to ITS in 2017. ITS was established in 2011 and
acquired on 31 December 2011 NBT’s research and development activities
related to a technology for increased oil recovery. NBT agreed to provide a
seller’s credit to ITS for the sales consideration of the technology. Due to the
liquidity situation for ITS, NBT agreed throughout a series of amendment and
restatement agreements to transfer the original sales consideration to a senior
secured loan. As a part of the restructuring NBT also provided an unsecured loan
to ITS in 2017. In July 2020 the unsecured loan, nominal value of 1.6 million, and
part of the senior secured loan, nominal value of 5 million was converted to
shares in ITS. At December 2020 NBT AS holds 24,95% of the shares in ITS. As of
year end 2020 the nominal value of NBT’s share of the senior secured loan
amounts to about NOK 5.6 million. The loan carry 6.5% interest. NBT has made
a full impairment for the loans and no interest is recognised. Further the nominal
value of the shares has also been impaired in full.
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NOTE 19 OBLIGATIONS
Guarantees
NBT AS has issued unconditional guarantees to the bond holders to the following subsidiaries:
EUR 75 million bond loan issued by East Renewable AB with maturity on 21 November 2021.
EUR 25 million bond loan of which issued by East Renewable Super Holdco AB with maturity on 21 November 2021.
The unconditional guarantee includes payment of interest, delayed interest and other costs in connection with collection of the outstanding bonds. Following a nonpayment from the subsidiary the trustee may immediately claim payment from the guarantor.
NBT AS har further undertaken a guarantee to the sellers of the Ukrainian project companies for the Zophia wind power project in connection with the acquisition
for the Zophia project. In the event that one of the Swedish NBT holding companies do not pay the remaining outstanding stage payments according to the sales and
purchase agreement the sellers may submit a claim for immediate payment of the due amount to NBT AS. The remaining stage payments falls due at financial closing
for the respective project and following completion of the construction. The remaining stage payments subject to a number of factors including installed capacity for
the wind farms and other events that are mutually exclusive. In the consolidated financial statement for the group an estimate of the fair value of the remaining
stage payments amounts about NOK 222 million.

NOTE 20 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
For information about contingent liabilities, refer to Note 26 Contingent liabilities, assets and commitments in the consolidated statement of the Group.

NOTE 21 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
For information about subsequent events, refer to Note 27 Subsequent events in the consolidated statement of the Group.
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DEFINTION OF PROJECT MILESTONES

Power purchase agreement (PPA)

PPA is a contract between two parties, one which generates electricity (the
seller) and one which is looking to purchase electricity (the buyer). The PPA
defines all of the commercial terms for the sale of electricity between the two
parties, including when the project will begin commercial operation, schedule
for delivery of electricity, penalties for under delivery, payment terms, and
termination. A PPA is the principal agreement that defines the revenue and
credit quality of a generating project and is thus a key instrument of project
finance.

Financial close (FC):

The date on which all conditions precedent for drawdown of debt funding has
been achieved and equity funding has been subscribed for, including execution
of all project agreements.

Start of Production (SOP):

The first date the wind power plant generates revenues through sale of power
under the off-take agreement. Production volumes and/or the price of the
power may be lower than when commercial operation date (COD) is reached.
This milestone is regulated by the off-take agreement with power off-taker. This
milestone may be reached prior to COD if the construction of power plant is
completed earlier than anticipated in the off-take agreement.

Mechanical Completion:

A certificate is issued stating the wind turbine has been erected following the
relevant technical specifications and it is ready to start trial operations.

Commercial Operation Date (COD):

A scheduled date when certain formal key milestones have been reached,
typically including grid compliance approval of metering systems and technical
approval of plant by independent engineers. Production volumes have reached
normalised levels sold at the agreed off-taker agreement price. This milestone
is regulated by the off-taker agreement with the power off-taker.

Take Over Date (TOD)

The date on which the EPC contractor hands over the power plant to the power
plant company. COD must have been reached, in addition to delivery of training
and all technical documentation before TOD takes place.
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To the General Meeting of NBT AS
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

•

•

The financial statements of the parent company NBT AS (the Company), which comprise the balance sheet as at
31 December 2020, the income statement and cash flow statement for the year then ended, and notes to the
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and
The consolidated financial statements of NBT AS and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2020, the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in
equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion:
•
•

•

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the law and regulations.
The accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at
31 December 2020, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices generally accepted in Norway.
The accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2020, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices generally
accepted in Norway, including International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Company and the Group as required by laws and regulations, and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern
We draw attention to the Board of Directors’ report and notes to the financial statements, which indicates that the
Company does not currently have secured the required financing to meet its financial obligations and capital needs.
These events or conditions, along with other matters as set forth in the Board of Directors’ report and in notes to the
financial statements, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. The recorded asset value, particularly in relation to investments, intangible
assets and property, plant and equipment, are based on continuing operations and realization of further projects,
and no Impairment have been made for expected losses that likely will occur in a situation with forced sale of assets
rather than realization through continuing use. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Deloitte refers to one or more of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited (“DTTL”), its global network of member firms, and their related entities
(collectively, the “Deloitte organization”). DTTL (also referred to as “Deloitte Global”) and each of its member firms and related entities are legally
separate and independent entities, which cannot obligate or bind each other in respect of third parties. DTTL and each DTTL member firm and
related entity is liable only for its own acts and omissions, and not those of each other. DTTL does not provide services to clients. Please see
www.deloitte.no to learn more.
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of NBT AS, which comprise:
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Other information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises information in the annual
report, except the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director for the Financial Statements
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director (Management) are responsible for the preparation in accordance
with law and regulations, including a true and fair view of the financial statements of the Company in accordance
with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices generally accepted in Norway, and for
the preparation and true and fair view of the consolidated financial statements of the Group in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s and the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern. The financial
statements of the Company use the going concern basis of accounting insofar as it is not likely that the enterprise
will cease operations. The consolidated financial statements of the Group use the going concern basis of accounting
unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but
to do so.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices generally accepted in Norway, including ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices generally accepted in
Norway, including ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the
audit. We also:
•

•

•
•

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
We design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company's or the Group's internal control.
evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.
conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
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If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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•

•

significant doubt on the Company and the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Company and the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves a true and fair view.
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Opinion on the Board of Directors’ report
Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, it is our opinion that the information presented in
the Board of Directors’ report concerning the financial statements, the going concern assumption and the proposed
allocation of the result is consistent with the financial statements and complies with the law and regulations.
Opinion on Registration and Documentation
Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, and control procedures we have considered
necessary in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 3000, Assurance
Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information, it is our opinion that management has
fulfilled its duty to produce a proper and clearly set out registration and documentation of the Company’s
accounting information in accordance with the law and bookkeeping standards and practices generally accepted in
Norway.

Oslo, 29 June 2021
Deloitte AS

Espen Johansen
State Authorised Public Accountant (Norway)
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
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"Med min signatur bekrefter jeg alle datoer og innholdet i dette dokument."

Espen Johansen
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